The Drug Toxicity Crisis

An environmental scan to inform the Greater Sudbury Summit on Toxic Drugs

Public Health Sudbury & Districts November 2023



Authors

Michael King, Public Health Sudbury & Districts Chanelle Larocque, Public Health Sudbury & Districts John Macdonald, Public Health Sudbury & Districts Darshaka Malaviarachchi, Public Health Sudbury & Districts Nastassia McNair, Public Health Sudbury & Districts Sherry Price, Public Health Sudbury & Districts Jacqueline Edwards, Public Health Sudbury & Districts

Contributors

The authors would like to recognize the contributions and provision of reference material by many partners in the development of this report including: Stephanie Commisso, Tracey Zurich, and staff from the Shared Library Services Partnership; Karla Ghartey, Professor, Nursing & Emergency Services at Cambrian College of Applied Arts and Technology; Dr. Pamela Leece and Public Health Ontario colleagues; Public Health Sudbury & Districts' Mental Health and Substance Use Team, Health Equity Team, Population Health Assessment and Surveillance Team, and select Health Promotion Division colleagues; and Roxanne Zuck of Monarch Recovery Services. Thank you also to Greater Sudbury Paramedic Services for providing custom local data and to Public Health Ontario and the Office of the Chief Coroner of Ontario for providing data sources used in the report.

Acknowledgements

The authors would like to thank Stacey Gilbeau, Sandra Lacle, Renée St Onge, and Dr. Penny Sutcliffe for their valuable feedback on this report. Thank you also to Laura Young and Jamie Lamothe for their careful review of this report, to Chantal Larochelle for its formatting, and to Lorne MacEachern for the design and formatting of Appendix A.

Contact for More Information

Knowledge and Strategic Services Public Health Sudbury & Districts 1300 Paris Street Sudbury, ON P3E 3A3 Telephone: 705.522.9200, ext. 350 Email: resourcecentre@phsd.ca

This report is available online at www.phsd.ca.

Citation

Public Health Sudbury & Districts. (2023). [The Drug Toxicity Crisis: An Environmental Scan to inform the Greater Sudbury Summit on Toxic Drugs]. Sudbury, ON: Author.

Copyright

This resource may be reproduced, for educational purposes, on the condition that full credit is given to the Public Health Sudbury & Districts. This resource may not be reproduced or used for revenue generation purposes.

© Public Health Sudbury & Districts, 2023

Contents

Introduction	1
Drug use and toxicity in Sudbury and districts	3
Data on mortality caused by drug toxicity	4
Data on emergency medical services calls for suspected opioid-	
related poisonings	19
Drug use proxy data	28
Harm reduction supplies	29
Naloxone distribution and training	30
2019 Snapshot from those with lived experience	30
Supervised consumption services and drug testing	31
Data gaps and limitations	31
Factors contributing to drug use	33
Demographic factors	34
Race and ethnicity	34
Age	35
Gender	36
Employment	36
Mental health status	37
History of incarceration	38
Societal factors	38
Housing	38
Poverty	39
Lack of wraparound services in northern and rural communities	40
Systemic factors	41
Government laws and policies	41
Criminalization	43
Stigma and discrimination	44
Factors contributing to drug toxicity	46

Contaminated drug supply	46
Polysubstance use	47
Inhalation	47
Best practices to reduce harms and risks	49
Systemic change and collective action	49
Upstream prevention and protective factors	49
Peer-led engagement	50
Multi-sectoral committees	50
Community response efforts	51
Decriminalization	51
Collective Action	52
Substance use care: Treatment	53
Opioid agonist therapy	53
Opioid Agonist Therapy (OAT) medication treatments	53
Opioid agonist therapy to address needs of people who use drugs	55
Opioid agonist therapy for northern and rural communities	56
Mental health supports	57
Substance use care: Harm reduction	60
Safer supply models	60
Prescriber-based models of safer supply	61
Risks and challenges	61
Considerations for practice	62
Supervised consumption sites	63
Outcomes of supervised consumption sites	63
Inhalation practices	64
Drug checking services	66
Naloxone administration and distribution	67
Outreach services	70
Non-clinical supports and wraparound services	70
Services specific to Indigenous populations	71
Services specific to construction workers and other trades	72
Example: The Tailgate Toolkit Project	72

Services specific to people experiencing poverty and homelessness	74
Services specific to youth	75
Services specific to women	77
Services specific to people with a history of incarceration	78
Local services and supports	80
Treatment services	80
Opioid agonist therapy (OAT)	80
Residential treatment programs	80
Indigenous treatment services	82
Substance use services	83
Harm reduction services	83
Supervised consumption services	83
Drug checking	84
Supply distribution	84
Distribution of naloxone	84
Other related services	85
Outreach and wraparound services	86
Community mobilization	86
Community outreach	86
Mobile crisis response	86
Prevention services	87
Healthy communities approach	87
Parenting programs	88
Healthy Babies Healthy Children	89
Mental health literacy and education	89
Growing demand and gaps in services	90
Harm reduction supplies	90
Supervised consumption sites	91
Naloxone kits and training	91
Residential treatment programs	91
Housing supports	92
Equitable access to health services	92

Anti-stigma initiatives	93
Wraparound services	93
Conclusion	94
Appendix A	95
References	96

Introduction

Since 2016, Canadians have been confronted with an increasingly unpredictable and toxic drug supply, resulting in 38 514 apparent opioid toxicity deaths between January 2016 and March 2023 (Government of Canada, 2023a). During this same time period, there were a total of 37 697 opioid-related and 16 231 stimulant-related poisoning hospitalizations in Canada (excluding Quebec) (Government of Canada, 2023a). This complex whole-of-society challenge continues to result in preventable deaths, injuries, an unprecedented demand on emergency services, and increased utilization of health services.

Ontario has lost a large number of its citizens to drug toxicity and drug-related harms, with more than 2 800 Ontarians dying from opioid-related causes in 2021 alone (Public Health Ontario, 2023a). Northern Ontario has been disproportionately impacted: from 2020 to 2022, per capita its opioid toxicity death rate was 2.6 times that of the province, while the rate in Greater Sudbury was 3.0 times the provincial rate (Public Health Sudbury & Districts, 2023; Office of the Chief Coroner, 2023).

In response to this evolving issue, various approaches to address the drug toxicity crisis have been enacted throughout Sudbury and districts. Since 2015, partners in Greater Sudbury have collaborated on the multi-sector Community Drug Strategy. The Community Drug Strategy for the City of Greater Sudbury is built upon, and represents community leaders from, the following four guiding foundational pillars: health promotion, harm reduction, treatment, and enforcement and justice. There are also numerous community drug strategies in Sudbury and districts, including Manitoulin Island, Lacloche, Sudbury East and multiple First Nation communities. Additionally, on August 28, 2022, Greater Sudbury's first supervised consumption site (SCS), Minoogawbi/La Place/The Spot (The Spot) opened, providing a safe, empathetic, stigma-free environment for people who use drugs. Despite collaboration and varied approaches, the drug toxicity crisis continues to result in the tragic loss of lives.

To address the local escalating drug toxicity crisis, the Executive Committee of the Community Drug Strategy (CDS) for the City of Greater Sudbury endorsed the recommendation from the CDS Steering Committee to hold a local leadership summit before the end of 2023 (Public Health Sudbury & Districts, 2023a). In June 2023, the Greater Sudbury City Council, the Greater Sudbury Police Services Board, and the Board of Health for Public Health Sudbury & Districts passed motions to endorse the recommendation from the CDS Executive Committee to hold a local leadership summit (City of Greater Sudbury, 2023a; Greater Sudbury Police Service Board, 2023; Public Health Sudbury & Districts, 2023a). Further, the Board of Health for Public Health Sudbury & Districts unanimously approved the motion directing the Medical Officer of Health to *ensure Public Health engagement in organizing a local leadership summit on the escalating drug toxicity crisis* (Public Health Sudbury & Districts, 2023a).

This *Environmental Scan* examines the available data on local drug use and toxicity in Sudbury and districts; literature on demographic, societal, and systemic factors that contribute to drug use and toxicity; emerging evidence on best practices to prevent and reduce harms; and existing local community services and supports. This environmental scan is one tool to help inform conversation among local leaders, people with living and lived experience, and other participants of the planned drug toxicity summit. While reviewing this report, it is equally important to acknowledge that data and evidence in this topic area are still emerging and that grey literature and perspectives from people with living and lived experiences are a timely and essential component to further guide conversation and understanding of the current context.

Drug use and toxicity in Sudbury and districts



The local burden of drug use, toxicity, and the ill-health arising from it can be measured using several different indicators. Public Health Sudbury & Districts (hereinafter known as Public Health) and our partners have access to data on suspected drug-related deaths, hospital admissions, emergency department visits, emergency medical services (EMS) calls for suspected poisonings due to drug

toxicity and overdose, supervised consumption services, and self-reported health survey data on substance use. Each of these data sources has some advantages but also some limitations (see *Data gaps and limitations* on page 31, below).

Data from most sources confirm that there has been a large increase in the local burden of ill health due to drug use and toxicity since 2017 (see Figure 1).



Figure 1. Annual opioid-related emergency medical services (EMS) calls, emergency department (ED) visits, hospital admissions and deaths, Sudbury, and districts, 2005–2022

Data source: Ontario Agency for Health Protection and Promotion (2023a) and City of Greater Sudbury Emergency Medical Services (2023)

For brevity, this report will focus on information gleaned from two sources: data on confirmed opioid-related mortality provided by the Office of the Chief Coroner and data on calls attended by the City of Greater Sudbury Emergency Medical Services (EMS) for suspected poisoning due to opioids.

Data on mortality caused by drug toxicity

These results include deaths for which a coroner investigation has confirmed a direct cause of death as being acute intoxication or toxicity due to an opioid, excluding deaths from chronic substance use, medical assistance in dying, injury and homicide. Counts in recent years should be considered preliminary and are subject to change.

Figure 2. Number of confirmed opioid-related deaths by year, Sudbury and districts, 2005–2022



Data source: Ontario Agency for Health Protection and Promotion (2023a) and Office of the Chief Coroner of Ontario (2023)

Interpretation:

• The number of opioid-related deaths has increased dramatically in recent years, from 17 deaths in 2016 to 112 deaths in 2022. This represents an increase of 559% over 6 years.





Data source: Ontario Agency for Health Protection and Promotion (2023a) and Office of the Chief Coroner of Ontario (2023)

Interpretation:

• In recent years (2020–2022), the number of opioid-related deaths has been highest in the first quarter (i.e. January–March) and last quarter (i.e., October –December) of the year. This is a significant change from previous years when counts were generally higher in the middle of the year.





Data sources: Ontario Agency for Health Protection and Promotion (2023a) and Office of the Chief Coroner of Ontario (2023)

- The recent increase in opioid-related mortality rates has been seen across Ontario, but has disproportionately affected Northern Ontario. In the 2020–2022 time period, the rates in Sudbury and districts and Northern Ontario were both around five times as high as they were in the 2014–2016 time period, while the rate in Ontario overall was about three times as high.
- As a result, opioid-related rates in Northern Ontario, including Greater Sudbury, are by far the highest of any region in the province—i.e. 3.0 and 2.6 times higher than the Ontario rate, respectively.



Figure 5. Top 10 leading causes of death by geographic region, 2021

- Accidental drug overdoses were the fifth leading cause of death in Sudbury and districts in 2021, representing 4.2% of all deaths among local residents that year. This proportion is almost twice as high as the provincial proportion, which was 2.3%.
- Twice as many residents of Sudbury and districts died from accidental overdoses in 2021 than from COVID-19.

Data source: Ontario Ministry of Health (2023)





Data Source: Ontario Agency for Health Protection and Promotion (2023b)

Interpretation

- From 2020–2022, the highest proportion of local opioid-related deaths were among the 25 to 44 age group, accounting for 60% of deaths (i.e. males and females combined), followed by the 45 to 64 age group at 29.6%.
- Males accounted for a large majority of deaths in all age groups. For example, males aged 25 to 44 accounted for 45.6% of all opioid-related deaths in Sudbury and districts, compared to 14.4% for females of the same age.

Of note

Data on both the racial identity and employment status of the decedent were examined. In both instances, data were missing or unknown for a large proportion (i.e. 35–40%) of the deaths, significantly increasing the risk of bias in the results. Therefore, these analyses have not been reported.



Figure 7. Top 10 leading causes of death by geographic region, ages 0-49, 2021

Data source: Ontario Ministry of Health (2023)

- Accidental drug overdoses were, by far, the leading cause of death among residents younger than 50 years old in Sudbury and districts in 2021. Almost 4 out of every 10 local residents (i.e. 38.7%) aged 0 to 49 years who died that year died from an accidental overdose. This proportion is significantly higher than the provincial proportion, which was 22.8%.
- Accidental overdoses accounted for 3 402 *potential years of life lost (PYLL)* among local residents in 2021, which is a measure of premature mortality. This represented 21.8 % of all *potential years of life lost* by residents of Sudbury and districts in 2021.

Figure 8. Percentage (%) of accidental opioid-related deaths by type of opioid directly contributing to death, Sudbury and districts, Northern Ontario and Ontario, 2020–2022



Note: More than one substance can contribute to the same death. Therefore, numbers are not intended to sum to 100%. Carfentanil is a fentanyl analogue but has also been selected for separate consideration here. Data Source: Ontario Agency for Health Protection and Promotion (2023b)

Interpretation

• Fentanyl accounted for a large majority of opioid-related deaths in all regions from 2020–2022. In Sudbury and districts, it directly contributed to 91.6% of deaths, with methadone being the second largest contributor at 11.1%.

Figure 9. Percentage (%) of accidental opioid-related deaths by origin of opioid directly contributing to death, Sudbury and districts, Northern Ontario and Ontario, 2020–2022



Data Source: Ontario Agency for Health Protection and Promotion (2023b)

Interpretation

• From 2020–2022, in all regions, the opioids directly contributing to deaths were of a non-pharmaceutical origin. In Sudbury and districts, opioids with non-pharmaceutical origins accounted for 83.9% of deaths.

Of note

In contrast to pharmaceutical opioids (such as those regulated and manufactured to treat pain), non-pharmaceutical opioids (such as heroin, fentanyl, and novel opioids) are often non-regulated illicitly manufactured substances (Ontario Drug Policy Research Network, 2022a; Velagapudi & Sethi, 2023). Changes in prescribing patterns locally reducing the availability of pharmaceutical opioids (reduction in opioid prescriptions in Sudbury and districts from 150 individuals per 1 000 population in 2016 to 105 per 1 000 population in 2022) may be a contributing factor for the significant use of non-pharmaceutical drugs locally (Ontario Drug Policy Research Network, 2023b).

Figure 10. Percentage (%) of accidental opioid-related deaths by types of non-opioids directly contributing to death, Sudbury and districts, Northern Ontario and Ontario, 2020–2022



Note: More than one substance can contribute to the same death. Therefore, numbers are not intended to sum to 100%. Data Source: Ontario Agency for Health Protection and Promotion (2023b)

Interpretation

- A majority of opioid-related deaths were directly caused by the use of other substances in addition to the opioids.
- Between 2020 and 2022, 53% of opioid-related deaths in Sudbury and districts also involved cocaine, while methamphetamine was involved in 39.3% of the deaths. These proportions are slightly higher than those seen in Northern Ontario and Ontario overall.

Of note

Intentionally mixing different types of stimulants (such as cocaine) and depressants (such as heroin), either in combination within the same drug category or across drug categories, poses significant health risks including a three-fold higher mortality rate (Crummy et al., 2020).

Unintentional polysubstance consumption does occur and is more often the case for polysubstance use. Individuals may consume a substance that has been either intentionally cut or mixed with another substance (such as consuming cocaine cut with Fentanyl), or unintentionally contaminated by another substance due to poor handling/storage practices (cannabis cross contaminated with other substances), which can have severe toxic complications, including death (CDC, 2022a).





Data Source: Ontario Agency for Health Protection and Promotion (2023b)

- Between 2020 and 2022, in all regions, a large majority of individuals having an opioidrelated death lived in a private dwelling at the time of their death. In Sudbury and districts, this proportion was 73.5%.
- Individuals who were homeless¹ accounted for the next highest proportions of deaths, 15.1% in Sudbury and districts.

¹ Homelessness is the situation of an individual without stable, permanent, appropriate housing, or the immediate prospect, means and ability of acquiring it; includes no fixed address (Gaetz et al., 2012).





Data Source: Ontario Agency for Health Protection and Promotion (2023b)

Interpretation

• A majority (58.4%) of individuals dying an opioid-related death in Sudbury and districts between 2020 and 2022 were at home at the time of their death. This is consistent with what is seen across all regions.

Figure 13. Percentage (%) of accidental opioid-related deaths by the location of the incident, Sudbury and districts, Northern Ontario and Ontario, 2020–2022



Data source: Ontario Agency for Health Protection and Promotion (2023b)

Interpretation

• In all regions between 2020 and 2022, a large majority of opioid-related deaths were due to poisoning incidents that occurred in a private residence. In Sudbury and districts, 76.8% were in a private residence at the time of the incident.

Figure 14. Percentage (%) of accidental opioid-related deaths by whether or not there was evidence of injection and/or inhalation drug use found at the scene, Sudbury and districts, Northern Ontario and Ontario, 2020–2022



Data source: Ontario Agency for Health Protection and Promotion (2023b)

Interpretation

- In Sudbury and districts from 2020–2022, a majority (63.5%) of opioid-related deaths had evidence of the inhalation of drugs found at the scene, while 29.2% had evidence only of injection drug use. Including in these proportions are the one-fifth (20.5%) of deaths that had evidence of both types of drug use.
- The proportion of deaths with evidence of inhalation drug use only was slightly higher in Sudbury (43%) and Northern Ontario (41.1%) than in Ontario overall, as was the proportion showing evidence of both injection and inhalation (20.5% and 20.4%, respectively).

Of note

The proportion of deaths with evidence of inhalation is on the rise across the province. Since 2018, the proportion of toxic drug-related deaths in Ontario with only signs of inhalation increased by 116% (from 18% to 39%) of deaths). The corresponding increase in Greater Sudbury was slightly lower, but still significant at 85% (from 26% to 48%) (Huery, 2023; results not shown).





Data source: Ontario Agency for Health Protection and Promotion (2023b)

- In a majority of opioid-related deaths between 2020 and 2022, there was no reported use of naloxone. In Sudbury and districts, 28.5% of deaths had a reported use of naloxone, while 57.4% did not. These proportions are consistent with trends seen elsewhere in Ontario.
- Note that these data are missing for a significant proportion of deaths, 14.1% in Sudbury and districts.





Note: Multiple individuals can administer naloxone to the same individual. Numbers are therefore not intended to sum to 100%. Data source: Ontario Agency for Health Protection and Promotion (2023b)

- In a majority (65.9%) of instances where an opioid-related death in Sudbury and districts had a reported use of naloxone in 2020–2022, a bystander was the one who administered the naloxone. This proportion is higher than in other regions.
- Police, fire, and Emergency Medical Services administered naloxone in 37.6% of such deaths in Sudbury and districts, which is lower than in other regions.

Data on emergency medical services calls for suspected opioid-related poisonings

These results are based on data provided to Public Health by City of Greater Sudbury Emergency Medical Services (EMS) and are based on incidents attended by EMS for which a patient is suspected of having used opioids based on witness accounts, evidence found at the scene, or because naloxone was administered. Note that it is a count of the incidents attended, not patients to whom care was administered. Data for 2023 should be considered preliminary and are subject to change.

Figure 17. Number of suspected opioid incidents attended by City of Greater Sudbury Emergency Medical Services (EMS) by year, 2019–2023 (projected)



Note: The projection for 2023 assumes that the average daily rate of incidents reported up to and including October 24 will continue for the remainder of the year. Data Source: City of Greater Sudbury Emergency Medical Services (2023)

Interpretation

• The number of EMS calls for suspected opioid incidents increased by 91% from 2019 (468 calls) to 2021 (896 calls). It has since decreased and is projected to be 672 calls in 2023.

Figure 18. Distribution of opioid related calls for service by City of Greater Sudbury Emergency Medical Services (EMS) from January 1, 2019, to September 24, 2023, summarized to 2021 dissemination area boundaries



Interpretation

- The dissemination areas near the downtown core receive more opioid related calls for service than other dissemination areas in Greater Sudbury. A total of 908 calls were received in the core and 120 calls were received in the dissemination area to the west of the core between January 1, 2019, and September 24, 2023.
- Opioid related calls for service occurred across the urban core, also known as the former city of Sudbury, as shown in the inset map. Outside of the urban core, dissemination areas in Coniston, Lively, Chelmsford and Capreol each reported more than nine opioid-related calls for service between January 1, 2019, and September 24, 2023.

Figure 19. Number of suspected opioid incidents attended by City of Greater Sudbury Emergency Medical Services (EMS) by annual quarter, 2019–2023



Data Source: City of Greater Sudbury Emergency Medical Services (2023)

Interpretation

• It is difficult to discern a pattern in the number of EMS calls for suspected opioid-related incidents by quarter. Different quarters of the year had higher counts in different years.





- The highest proportion of EMS calls for suspected opioid incidents from 2021 to 2023 (year to date) was among those in the 25–44 age group (64.5% for males and females combined). Males aged 25–44 years accounted for 48.4% of opioid-related EMS calls overall.
- Overall, the patient was male in 70.8% of all EMS calls for suspected opioid incidents in 2021–2023 (year to date).





Interpretation

• The proportion of calls for suspected opioid-related incidents in which the patient was transported to hospital by EMS has declined over the years from 84.0% in 2019 to 69.1% in 2023.

Figure 22. Percentage (%) of suspected opioid incidents attended by City of Greater Sudbury Emergency Medical Services (EMS) by whether or not the patient was transported to hospital, by age group, 2021–2023 (year to date)



Data Source: City of Greater Sudbury Emergency Medical Services (2023)

- From 2019–2023 (year to date), the proportion of EMS calls for suspected opioid-related incidents in which the patient was transported to hospital by EMS was highest for calls involving patients in the 0–14 age group (85.7%), and lowest for those involving patients in the 25–44 age group (70.4%). There is no discernible trend.
- Note that the proportion shown for the 0–14 age group is based on very small counts and should be interpreted with caution.





Interpretation

• The proportion of incidents attended by EMS that were life threatening fluctuated from year to year, with a low of 23.3% in 2021 to a high of 36.8% in 2019. There is no discernible trend.

Figure 24. Percentage (%) of suspected opioid incidents attended by City of Greater Sudbury Emergency Medical Services (EMS) by whether or not the patient's life was threatened, by age group, 2021–2023 (year to date)



- The proportion of EMS calls for suspected opioid-related incidents from 2021–2023 that involved a life-threatening situation increased with the age of the patient, with 40.5% of patients aged 65 years and over experiencing a threat to life compared to 23.0% of 15 to 24 year olds.
- Note that the proportion shown for the 0–14 age group is based on very small counts and should be interpreted with caution.

Figure 25. Percentage (%) of suspected opioid incidents attended by City of Greater Sudbury Emergency Medical Services (EMS) by Canadian Triage and Acuity Scale (CTAS) category, by year, 2019–2023 (year to date)



- Based on the Canadian Triage and Acuity Scale (CTAS), most EMS calls for suspected opioid-related incidents between 2019 and 2023 (year to date) fell into either the emergent or urgent categories, with a range of 61.2% to 74.6% for the two categories combined.
- The proportion of calls that required resuscitation of the patient ranged from a low of 16.9% in 2021 to a high of 29.8% in 2019.

Figure 26. Percentage (%) of suspected opioid incidents attended by City of Greater Sudbury Emergency Medical Services (EMS) by Canadian Triage and Acuity Scale (CTAS) category, by year, 2021–2023 (year to date)



Data Source: City of Greater Sudbury Emergency Medical Services (2023)

Interpretation

- Based on the Canadian Triage and Acuity Scale (CTAS), from 2021–2023 (year to date) the proportion of EMS calls for suspected opioid-related incidents falling into either the resuscitation or emergent categories increased with age from 46.9% in the 15–24 age group to 75.7% in the 65 years and older group (both categories combined).
- Note that the proportion shown for the 0–14 age group is based on very small counts and should be interpreted with caution.

Drug use proxy data

As previously noted, direct measures of local drug use are difficult to obtain and even more difficult to infer onto a general population. Proxy data may, however, provide some important insights for consideration. While estimates of illicit drug use cannot be calculated based on the demand or use of harm reduction services—such as access to safe supplies (including needles, sterile water, pipes, and naloxone distribution) or accessing Greater Sudbury's supervised consumption site—this data does demonstrate an increasing demand and need for accessing safe supplies and harm reduction services.

Harm reduction supplies

Public Health Sudbury & Districts has continuously learned from people who use drugs in our community, and we have adapted the types of harm reduction supplies available to better meet their requirements. Initial harm reduction supplies circa 2010 consisted of packages of sterile syringes for injecting drugs; however, current harm reduction kits now exist for different types of drugs and different methods of consumption such as injection kits, snorting kits, as well as inhalation supplies.





* Data on foils and bowl pipes are not available for 2019. Counts for 2022 and 2023 are preliminary and are subject to change. Source: Public Health Sudbury & Districts, 2023.

- The distribution of needles has steadily decreased in recent years, from approximately 1.5 million in 2019 to 765 025 in 2022.
- During this period, there has been a dramatic increase in the demand for foil, with 661 296 foil kits distributed thus far in 2023—surpassing the number of syringes distributed.
Naloxone distribution and training

Naloxone is a fast-acting medication used to temporarily reverse the effects of opioids by blocking opioid receptors, and thus the effects of opioids within your body (Health Canada, 2023b). Since 2018, Public Health Sudbury & Districts staff and their partners have trained over 16 098 individuals from 33 community organizations to administer naloxone (CGS, 2023b). Each year there has been an increase in demand for naloxone products. In 2019, Public Health distributed a total of 6 958 naloxone kits and refills to community agencies, while Réseau ACCESS Network and pharmacies distributed a further 3 052 and 6 438 kits and refills, respectively (CGS, 2023b). By 2022, Public Health was distributing a total of 13 345 naloxone doses annually, with Réseau ACCESS Network distributing 8 212 doses that year and pharmacies distributing 6 286 doses (CGS, 2023b).

The data featured below provides a point in time snapshot of local drug use in 2019. While this snapshot provides perspective from local individuals with lived experience, it is important to recognize that the data is a few years old and local context has changed. At the time of collection, injection use was a common method of consumption. In recent years, drug use via inhalation has become more widespread and is currently considered the most popular method for using substances in Canada (Parent et al., 2021; Bragazzi et al., 2021).

2019 Snapshot from those with lived experience

In 2019, Public Health Sudbury & Districts interviewed 190 people who use drugs for the 2020 report, *Supervised consumption services study: Understanding the need, assessing the potential* (NAFS – Needs and Feasibility Study) (Public Health Sudbury & Districts, 2020). The data below represents point-in-time feedback from persons with lived experience to provide historical local context.

- The majority (91.6%) of participants lived in Greater Sudbury, with ~60% were male, and the mean age was 40 (with a range from 17–66 years).
- The average age when survey respondents began using drugs was 22 years (with a range between 9 and 40 years).
- Two-thirds (66.8%) reported that they used injection drugs on a daily (43.2%) or weekly (23.7%) basis, while the remainder of respondents indicated that they used injection drugs on a monthly or less frequent basis (24.2%).

- People who use drugs indicated a polysubstance drug use, with cocaine being the most common co-drug of choice, followed by 'hydros' (e.g. hydromorphone, MS Contin, Dilaudid), crack, heroin, fentanyl, morphine, amphetamines, crystal meth, and speedballs as other drugs of choice.
- The majority of people who use drugs (85.2%) indicated that they had taken a drug they believed was cut with another substance.
- Accidental overdose was reported as a common experience among people who use drugs, with more than half (53.7%) reporting an overdose in their lifetime. Of these, 58.8% had experienced one or more overdoses in the last six months.
- The majority (84.3%) of the people who use drugs, who had experienced an overdose, were with other people at the time; however, just over 15% of respondents were alone when they experienced an overdose.
- More than half (54.9%) of the people who use drugs who experienced an overdose reported that an ambulance was called to provide medical attention, and, of these, 76.8% were taken to the hospital.

Supervised consumption services and drug testing

On September 28, 2022, Greater Sudbury's first supervised consumption services² location, The Spot, was opened and is operated by Réseau ACCESS Network. As of August 31, 2023, 470 unique clients have used The Spot, representing 1 181 total visits, and 1 605 total consumptions (Réseau, 2023). Additionally, Réseau provides onsite drug checking services at The Spot, which can help reduce the harms related to the tainted drug supply.

Data gaps and limitations

While data are available on many topics related to drug toxicity—including the number of suspected drug-related deaths, hospital admissions, emergency department visits, EMS calls for suspected poisonings due to drug toxicity and overdose, supervised consumption services, and self-reported health survey data on substance use—these data all have limitations and data gaps continue to exist.

Data on suspected drug-related toxicity deaths are likely to capture all such events in Ontario but will not include information on non-fatal events. As well, it can take many months to determine

² Supervised consumption services (SCSs) are locations where people who use drugs can use pre-obtained drugs in a safe, empathetic place, free of stigma and discrimination, under the supervision of trained health professionals (Réseau Access Network, 2023).

the specific drug(s) causing death, meaning the data availability can be delayed. And, while the coroner's investigation may capture other important information, such as the location of death or the decedent's living circumstances, other potentially important explanatory factors like the decedent's race or occupation are often missing from the dataset.

Data on hospital admissions or visits to local emergency departments are much timelier and capture many non-fatal events. They do, however, miss data on individuals who do not seek medical treatment at the hospital or who die before transport to hospital. Further, these data are primarily administrative data and based upon medical charts, which again do not capture factors such as race and occupation.

Health surveys can be a better means of estimating the prevalence of substance use in our communities and are better able to capture sociodemographic and other information that is important to understanding drivers of the substance use and toxicity crisis. These data, however, can suffer from numerous biases due to a lack of representation of people who use drugs in typical survey samples, and the self-reported nature of the data. Timeliness of the data can be an issue. Drug use-related data that are currently available from Statistics Canada's Canadian Community Health Survey are years out of date.

Additionally, there is little reported information available from local drug checking services as well as data specifying inhalation as a means of use.

More reporting and timely updates from local and provincial sources would help to address gaps in the available data and thus contribute to a more accurate understanding of current trends and behaviours.

Factors contributing to drug use

In July and August 2023, Public Health conducted a literature review to identify current evidence, causes, and gaps in knowledge related to increasing morbidity and mortality due to the consumption of illicit drugs and the toxic drug supply. This review utilized the EBSCO platform by searching academic and scientific databases including MEDLINE, PubMed, Embase, CINAHL, BMC and PsycINFO. Keywords reflected terms and subject headings related to contributing factors, outcomes and existing interventions associated with the toxic drug supply, opioid crisis, acute drug toxicity, substance-related poisonings, *illicit drug use*, and overdose fatalities. In addition, a complementary and broad search strategy was then conducted to retrieve information from grey literature at the local, provincial, and national levels, which included a search of relevant websites, reports, papers, policy briefs, news articles and statistical sources from public health agencies and non-public health organizations to ensure harm reduction programs, outreach and treatment best practices were accurately represented. The articles were then screened and identified based on inclusion criteria with a focus on marginalized populations. Supplementary resources were also provided by community partners and local topic experts as deemed relevant to the review including systemic factors, social determinants of addiction, cultural norms, and attitudes. All resources were critically appraised to determine relevance and applicability.

The following highlights the most important overarching and unique factors associated with drug use that are relevant to our geographic region. Overall, these factors either fall within individual demographic or societal and structural considerations. For instance, the increase of fatalities is recognized among those aged 25–44 years old; however, other age groups may be disproportionately impacted as a result of the COVID-19 pandemic. Additionally, toxicity deaths occur mainly in men with findings implying deaths appear in lower income neighbourhoods (Ontario Drug Policy Research Network & Public Health Ontario, 2023). The effects of the unregulated, toxic drug supply in Ontario are also disproportionately impacting northern and rural communities along with various subpopulations such as Indigenous Peoples, construction and other trade workers, youth, people with a history of incarceration, women, and people experiencing poverty and homelessness (COO & Ontario Drug Policy Research Network, 2021; Wendt et al., 2021; Gomes et al., 2022a; McNeil et al., 2021; Friesen et al., 2022; Thumath et al., 2023; Butler et al., 2023, van Draanen et al., 2022; Health Canada, 2023f; PHAC, 2023).

Further, the development of this *Environmental Scan* applied the theoretical lens of a socialecological model (SEM) to understand and contextualize the impacts of the social determinants of health within the complex interplay between the individual, interpersonal (family, friends, social networks), the local community, and broader society. It is important to understand how influencers and factors at each of these levels—whether violence and trauma experienced at an individual level, to restrictive and punitive laws or policies that target various minority populations—impact drug consumption.

Demographic factors

Race and ethnicity

Throughout Ontario, racialized populations (BIPOC) face disproportionately high rates of poisonings associated with the volatile drug supply (Friesen et al., 2021; COO & Ontario Drug Policy Research Network, 2021; Sansone et al., 2022; Sapoznikow, 2022). Locally, within the Public Health Sudbury & Districts service area (inclusive of 13 First Nations communities), 13.9% of the population identifies as Indigenous; a rate that is almost five times as high as the provincial rate of 2.9% (Statistics Canada, 2023).

Indigenous Peoples are at an increased risk of experiencing acute drug toxicity deaths due to the structural impacts of intergenerational trauma, colonization, poverty, child apprehension, and systemic racism experienced today (Health Canada, 2023e; Ontario Drug Policy Research Network & Public Health Ontario, 2023; COO & Ontario Drug Policy Research Network, 2021; Friesen et al., 2021; Lavalley et al., 2018; Lavalley et al., 2020; Wendt et al., 2021; Maar et al., 2022; Thumath et al., 2021; Sansone et al., 2022). Data demonstrates that, in Ontario, the rate of opioid-related mortality is four times higher for Indigenous People compared to the general population (Chiefs of Ontario & Ontario Drug Policy Research Network, 2021).

Additionally, Indigenous Peoples experience significant barriers to accessing culturally safe treatment and health care options, such as lengthy wait times for treatment, a lack of post treatment supports, and the influence of Christian-based models within treatment facilities (Lavalley et al., 2020). Further, the recent impacts of the COVID-19 global pandemic, along with the re-traumatization related to the uncovering of unmarked graves of children from Indian Residential Schools, requires immediate attention to collaboratively find culturally safe solutions and trauma-informed care to address substance use amongst Indigenous populations (Maar et al., 2022).

Greater Sudbury is also experiencing a change in local demographics, with growth in newcomer populations, including Black People and People of Colour. According to the most recent Statistics Canada census, People of Colour make up a larger proportion of the total population in Greater Sudbury (e.g. 3.8% in 2016 to 6.6% in 2021) (Statistics Canada, 2023). Similar increases during this time period were also reported for individuals from South Asian and Black ethnicities. (Statistics Canada, 2023). Research shows that like Canada's Indigenous communities, racialized communities (particularly from the United States) face similar drug toxicity mortality rates and substance use related experiences (Sapoznikow, 2022).

The unique demographic considerations of racialized populations including Black, Indigenous, and People of Colour must be further examined when reviewing factors associated with drug use and toxicity. Despite unjust treatments and experiences, many individuals and communities possess assets that can and should be built upon.

Age

In Ontario, data shows an increase of fatalities among those aged 25–44 years old (Ontario Drug Policy Research Network & Public Health Ontario, 2023). Between 2020 and 2022, the 25–44 age group had the highest proportion of opioid-related deaths in Sudbury and districts, accounting for 60% of deaths, followed by the 45–64 age group at 29.6% (OAHPP, 2023b).

While those aged 25–44 years have consistently been the largest proportion of the population affected by the toxic drug poisoning crisis, during the pandemic non-prescription opioids exacerbated drug toxicity events and emergency department visits among youth in Ontario. Youth (aged 15–24) experienced higher trends in drug toxicity deaths related to fentanyl, fentanyl analogues, and unregulated benzodiazepines, along with polysubstance use with stimulants (47.9%) such as cocaine and methamphetamine (Iacono et al., 2023). Some of the reasons why youth experienced higher rates of drug toxicity and emergency department visits include minimal awareness of substance use, mental health hardships and impulsivity which may increase their risks of harm (Iacono et al., 2023; Russell et al., 2019). Between 2020 and 2022, close to 1 in 10 youths (8.7%) aged 15–24 lost their lives due to an accidental opioid-related death in the Sudbury and districts area (OAHPP, 2023b). From 2021 to 2023 (year to date), 10.2% of youth aged 15–24 experienced a suspected opioid-related incident that required attendance by the City of Greater Sudbury's Emergency Medical Services (EMS) (CGS, 2023).

As such, Iacono and colleagues (2023) state how youth who experience poisonings have higher rates of mental health diagnoses (88.8%) and 1 in 8 youth experience homelessness. In addition, intersecting factors such as lack of formal education, employment, and access to treatment specific to this age demographic leads to social exclusion in healthcare settings (Filia et al., 2022). For example, almost half of opioid drug toxicities consisted of youth and young adults who did not have a proper opioid use disorder diagnosis (Iacono et al., 2023). This could imply that this population may be under-diagnosed for opioid use disorder or that this population may be seen as a population that only uses illicit substances occasionally. These factors identified

should therefore be considered when developing preventative measures to reduce the onset of substance use disorders and to address the needs of this subpopulation (Iacono et al., 2023).

Major risk factors for substance use among youth include a family history of substance use and parental substance use; poor parental monitoring and favourable attitudes towards substance use; poor parental and family relationships; association with substance using peers; lack of school connectedness and low academic achievement; family rejection of sexual orientation or gender identity; and childhood sexual abuse (CDC, 2022b; Health Canada, 2023e). The presence of any of these risk factors significantly increases the likelihood of problematic substance use among youth, and these effects are compounding—as the number of risk factors increases, so does the risk of substance use (U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, 2016).

Gender

The increase of substance-related toxicity deaths is primarily seen in men between the ages of 25–44 years old (Gomes et al., 2023). Males 25–44 years accounted for 45.6% of all opioid-related deaths in Sudbury and districts, compared to 14.4% of females of the same age range (OAHPP, 2023b).

Throughout the COVID-19 pandemic, however, there was a slight increase in women between the ages of 25–44 years old in Ontario experiencing drug toxicity compared to pre-pandemic cohorts (Gomes et al., 2021). Numerous sources indicate how women who use drugs and gender-diverse persons are identified as a population that has been disproportionately and uniquely impacted by socio-structural barriers and social determinants of health (SDOH) related to the unregulated and toxic drug supply (Public Health Ontario, 2022). These barriers experienced by women who use drugs result in unmet needs due to their lack of connections to harm reduction services, treatments, and safer supply programs (Thumath et al., 2021; Public Health Ontario, 2022).

Various literature sources describe how research and policy changes related to the toxic drug supply crisis have exclusively targeted men and limited knowledge is available about the effects and safety of women, specifically women who pursue sex work, women with a history of incarceration, women living with HIV, gender-diverse persons, and women experiencing child removal practices along with how these factors can impact the risk of poisonings, relapses, and acute drug toxicity deaths (Public Health Ontario; 2022; Thumath et al., 2021; Austin et al., 2023).

Employment

The devasting impacts of drug toxicity crisis knows no bounds, affecting individuals from all walks of life and income levels. While those experiencing poverty are disproportionately

affected, evidence demonstrates that deaths due to acute drug toxicity are high amongst those working in lucrative careers such as mining, forestry, and the trades (Statistics Canada, 2021).

The North American Industry Classification System (NAICS) states that in Ontario in 2017, 8.4% of individuals worked in mining, quarrying, and oil and gas extraction, 0.7% worked in utilities, 7.8% worked in construction, and 4.4% worked in transportation and warehousing (Statistics Canada, 2023). In comparison, based on the National Occupational Classification (NOC) from 2021, 19% of individuals worked in the trades, transport, equipment operators, and related occupations, 5.2% worked in natural resources, agriculture, and related production occupations, and 2.5% worked in occupations in manufacturing and utilities across the Public Health Sudbury & Districts area (Statistics Canada, 2023).

During the pandemic, construction workers demonstrated, however, the most significant increase during the pandemic (29.5%) compared to retail trades (5.7%), transportation and warehousing (5.7%), manufacturing (4.5%) and other trades (5.7%) such as mining, agriculture, and forestry (Gomes et al., 2021). In addition, Gomes, and colleagues (2022a) state how "fentanyl (90.2%), cocaine (44.8%), and alcohol (17.5%) directly contributed to a larger proportion of toxicity deaths among construction workers" (p. 26) compared to individuals without a history of construction work. A report prepared by the Ontario Drug Policy Research Network, the Office of the Chief Coroner for Ontario, and Public Health Ontario (2022) states that construction work may be more susceptible to occupational injury and chronic pain specifically amongst younger men aged 25–44 (60.1%) who currently dominate this field of work.

Mental health status

Inextricably linked to any meaningful conversation about addictions is the acknowledgement and understanding of an individual's mental health status and the availability and access to mental health supports. A report on behalf of The Ontario Drug Policy Research Network (Ontario Drug Policy Research Network), the Office of the Chief Coroner for Ontario, and Public Health Ontario (2022) states that there were "very high rates of mental health diagnoses among people dying of an opioid-related toxicity, with increased prevalence of individuals with previous known diagnoses of psychotic disorders and trauma/stressor-related disorders" (Gomes et al., 2022a, p. 27) during the COVID-19 pandemic.

Specifically, more than 90% of people experiencing homelessness in Ontario who died of an opioid-related poisoning visited a health care provider for a mental health-related reason in the five years prior to death (Gomes et al., 2022a). As such, the Centre for Addiction and Mental Health (2021) and the *Canadian Drugs and Substances Strategy: Prevention and education* (2023) by Health Canada explains how childhood traumatic events, mental illness (e.g. post-traumatic stress disorder) and adult traumatic experiences can also lead to substance use (CAMH, 2021a; Health Canada, 2023e).

Based on the 2019 and 2020 Canadian Community Health Survey data, 10.6% of Public Health Sudbury & Districts residents perceived their mental health as fair or poor compared to 9.8% of Ontario residents (Statistics Canada, 2022). Despite this data, there are no statistically significant differences between residents in the Public Health Sudbury & Districts area and those in Ontario.

Recognizing the unique circumstances in northern and rural communities related to the social determinants of health and health equity will help improve timely access to mental health and substance use supports (MHCC, 2021). As well, the Northern Policy Institute (NPI) reiterates the importance of ensuring wraparound mental health, addiction, and homelessness services (Northern Policy Institute, 2022).

History of incarceration

The literature explains how acute drug toxicity deaths and poisonings, prior and throughout the fentanyl-dominant era, are more common in people who have a history of incarceration with increased drug-related harms and risks such as injury, illness, and emergency room visits (Butler et al., 2023; Friesen et al., 2021; van Draanen et al., 2020; Jalali et al., 2020; Gan et al., 2020; Kinner at al., 2021; Groot et al., 2016). For example, a 2006-2013 study by Groot and colleagues (2016), examined toxicity deaths in Ontario prior to the fentanyl-dominant era. The study found that 10.1% of all acute toxicity deaths occurred in people with a history of incarceration in the past year.

During the fentanyl-dominant era (e.g. between 2015 and 2020) however, a study by Butler and team (2023) identified 15.6% of all acute drug toxicity deaths were experienced by people with a history of incarceration within the past year. Structural barriers were noted as increasing risks related to drug toxicity including lowered drug tolerances, unstable environments post release, inadequate housing, limited employment opportunities, lack of medical care, and other financial needs which hinders this subpopulation's chance of successfully transitioning from a correctional institution to the community (Murphy et al., 2018; Butler et al., 2023).

Finding strategies that address health inequities and socioeconomic marginalization is imperative to uncover the reasons behind drug use, acute drug toxicity deaths, and poisonings amongst people who use drugs with a history of incarceration.

Societal factors

Housing

Many literature sources state how the drug toxicity crisis has tremendously affected people experiencing homelessness (McNeil et al., 2021; Friesen et al., 2021; Gomes et al., 2021; Gomes et al., 2022a; Health Canada, 2023e).

In Ontario, the increase of toxicity deaths is seen mainly in men; findings imply deaths appear in lower income neighbourhoods (Ontario Drug Policy Research Network & Public Health Ontario, 2023). Due to the impacts of the COVID-19 pandemic, Gomes, and colleagues (2021) state that nearly 1 in 10 opioid-related drug toxicity deaths in Ontario were among people experiencing homelessness. As such, one in seven acute drug toxicity deaths in Ontario were experienced in a shelter, supportive housing, or hotel provided as emergency settings for people experiencing housing instability or homelessness during the pandemic (Gomes et al., 2021; Friesen et al., 2021).

According to the Northern Policy Institute's *More than just a number: Addressing the Homelessness, Addiction and Mental Health Crisis in the North* (2022) report, in 2021, 66% of individuals experiencing homelessness in the Greater Sudbury area reported struggling with their mental health and 80% struggled with addictions (NPI, 2022). In the Manitoulin-Sudbury area, rates were 72% and 44% for mental health and addictions, respectively (NPI, 2022). People who use substances while experiencing homelessness endure overlapping systemic barriers including challenges accessing appropriate care, housing, and food, and impacts related to stigma (Magwood et al., 2020; CAMH, 2021a; Milaney et al., 2021; Bolinski et al., 2022; Bragazzi, 2021).

For example, a local 2018 point-in-time count reported 1 954 individuals who identified as either absolutely homeless, hidden homeless, or at-risk of homelessness; an additional 224 were dependent children under the age of 18, of whom participants had custody (Kauppi et al., 2018). Some of the top reasons reported in the point-in-time count were substance-use disorders along with job loss, inability to pay rent or mortgage, and unsafe housing conditions (Kauppi et al., 2018). In addition, there was a five-year wait time in 2020 for a one-bedroom subsidized unit in Greater Sudbury, and a wait list of over 1 000 residents for rent geared-to-income housing (City of Greater Sudbury, 2020). The availability of safe and affordable housing is a significant consideration for illicit drug consumption, which was exacerbated by the COVID-19 pandemic.

Poverty

Evidence clearly demonstrates that Canadians who are low income are more likely to die of an opioid-related poisoning, and those in poverty are nearly five times more likely to visit the emergency department due to opioids than wealthy Canadians (Alsabbagh et al., 2022). According to the 2021 census, 10% of the population of Greater Sudbury was living in poverty (as defined by the Low-Income Measure, after tax) in 2020 (Statistics Canada, 2023). Note that this proportion was reduced by the Canada Emergency Response Benefit (CERB), provided by the Government of Canada beginning March 15, 2020 (Statistics Canada, 2023).

Other findings include:

- Two-thirds (67.4%) of people who use drugs reported that they lived below the poverty line/low-income threshold (Public Health Sudbury & Districts, 2020).
 - 38.4% earned less than \$10,000 in the previous year
 - 29.0% earned between \$10,000 to \$19,999
 - 11.6% earned between \$20,000 to \$29,999
 - 9.0% earned \$30,000 or more
 - 8.9% reported having a regular job
 - 11.0% reported being temporarily employed
 - 11.0% were self-employed
- The most common source of income reported by people who use drugs was Ontario Works (OW) (42.6%) followed by:
 - 38.9% reported Ontario Disability Support Program (ODSP)
 - 14.7 % reported GST rebates
- Some respondents reported criminal activity as sources of income:
 - 21.6% reported selling drugs
 - 16.3% reported theft, robbery, or stealing
 - 9.5% reported each of the following activities: selling sex, cigarettes, or tobacco, and other criminal activities

Lack of wraparound services in northern and rural communities

The risk factors contributing to the higher mortality rates in Northern Ontario are complex and interconnected, stemming from an individual's experience related to the intersectionality of socio-demographic factors and the social determinants of health (Friesen et al., 2021; Public Health Ontario, 2020; CFMS, 2022; Ontario Drug Policy Research Network & Public Health Ontario, 2023).

For instance, a recent report published by the Ontario Drug Policy Research Network and Public Health Ontario (Public Health Ontario) argues, "higher substance-related death rates in the North likely reflect disparities in access to mental health and substance use treatment as well as harm reduction programs in more remote parts of the province, as well as the harms resulting from systemic social inequities and intergenerational trauma experienced by First Nations People,

which make up a large proportion of Northern Ontario communities" (Ontario Drug Policy Research Network & Public Health Ontario, 2023, p.11).

Moreover, Gomes and colleagues' 2021 report demonstrate that northern and rural areas, (including Sudbury and districts), have statistically significant rises in opioid-related death rates (Gomes et al., 2021). They argue that this is directly related to and "reflect lower availability of community-based services, which must cover large geographical areas during the pandemic that make it difficult to reach those at highest risk of opioid-related death" (Gomes et al., 2021, p. 21). The Northern Policy Institute (2022) also states that current services and programs in the North are not addressing the needs of individuals with concurrent mental health diagnosis, substance use disorders, and housing instability living in Northern Ontario communities.

These findings highlight the need to address a lack of wraparound services in northern and rural communities along with developing community-based amalgamated interventions that enhances accessibility of programs and services to ensure a continuum of care for people who use drugs in these communities (Friesen et al., 2021; Gomes et al., 2022a; CRISM, 2016; Russell et al., 2019; MHCC, 2023).

Systemic factors

Government laws and policies

The *Controlled Drugs and Substances Act* (CDSA; 1996) makes the possession, seeking, or obtaining an illicit substance a criminal offence. Punishment ranges from fines up to a lifetime in prison. It is necessary to understand the history of how this law came to be in order to understand the toxic drug crisis as it exists today.

Some sources state that "early drug legislation was rooted in moral panic and racism; cruel and unusual—and later found to be unconstitutional—sanctions (including corporal punishment) were included in these Acts, even for simple possession." (Office of the Provincial Health Officer, 2019, p. 9).

The information below summarizes a timeline of drug policy initiatives. A full timeline and visual of drug policy is included in Appendix A.

• **1908 to 1911:** In 1908, Canada's first narcotics law, the *Opium Act,* was passed, making it the first time drug prohibition came into effect. Of note, dealers could be sentenced to three years in prison or subjected to fines upon conviction. In 1911, the possession or sale of morphine, opium, cocaine, and eucaine was added to the renamed *Opium and Narcotics Drugs Act* as a result of the Shanghai Commission to ensure adequate law enforcement control (Office of the Provincial Health Officer, 2019; Owusu-Bempah & Luscombe, 2021; MacKay, 2018).

- **1911 to 1960:** Multiple amendments to the *Opium and Narcotics Drugs Act* were developed, adding 15 substances, including cannabis, to the act. Penalties for various offences, including possession of drug-use equipment and selling to a minor, were increased. Enforcement had more authority to search without restrictions or warrants.
- The smuggling of banned opioids was one consequence of these amendments. Unfortunately, this meant that using illicit substances subsequently became far more dangerous as adulterated supplies of injectables like heroin, morphine, and codeine became commonplace (Boyd & Norton, 2019).
- The increased difficulty in procuring drugs meant that the majority of people who used drugs suffered from withdrawal symptoms, communicable diseases due to hypodermic needle use, and life disruption due to the rising costs of supply. This shortage of supply was exacerbated during The Great Depression and Second World War, leading to more prevalent criminal and full-time drug seeking behaviours. The post-war public demand for treatment over punishment for people who use drugs swelled thanks to a growing recognition of the psychiatric disease model of addiction, the expansion of the welfare state, and a demographic shift to younger users within the roots of the 1960s counterculture (Boyd & Carter, 2014; Montigy, 2011).
- **1961:** The *Narcotic Control Act* was created, raising the maximum sentence from 14 years to 25 (similar to first- and second-degree murder) despite recognition of substance use as a public health issue. Canada also signed the *Single Convention on Narcotic Drugs;* the possession of controlled substances was now considered as a punishable offence (Office of the Provincial Health Officer, 2019).
- **1971 to 1973:** In 1971, Canada signed the *Convention on Psychotropic Substances* as well as *Le Dain Commission* which was formed in 1973 consisting of the inquiry into the nonmedical use of drugs. The final report concluded that the criminalization of substances had caused more harm than the harm from the substances themselves. Moreover, the report included statements about evidence-based drug use and educational strategies and discouraged "fear-based approaches to drug use prevention" (Office of the Provincial Health Officer, 2019, p. 12). The report recommended the expansion of available methadone treatment although this was not adopted as the Department of Health's Special Joint Committee favoured complete discontinuation of all narcotics.
- **1974 to 1988:** In 1974, Bill S-19 was introduced to remove cannabis from the *Narcotic Control Act*, but the bill did not pass. In 1987, the Canadian Drug Strategy was formed with four pillars including enforcement, prevention, treatment, and harm reduction. Although, in 2007, the National Anti-Drug Strategy removed harm reduction as a pillar only to re-instate it again in 2016. In 1988, the UN General Assembly Special Session on Drugs released a

statement suggesting that they believed that the global war on drugs was causing more harm than drug use similar to Le Bain Commission in 1973.

- **1996:** Canada signed the *United Nations Convention against Illicit Traffic in Narcotic Drugs and Psychotropic Substances*. In addition, during this year, Health Canada approved controlled-release oxycodone (OxyContin) for the use of treating moderate pain. The risk of addiction in the original monograph was understated despite evidence to the contrary and unprecedented promotion to prescribers led to a dramatic shift in prescribing practices (Pappin et al., 2022; Van Zee, 2009).
- At the time of OxyContin's 2012 delisting in Canada, prescription opioids were the most common drug used among people who use drugs (Fischer & Keates, 2012). The delisting, unfortunately, did not correspond with a reduction in use, but a move to heroin and then fentanyl, a more potent and more easily concealed opioid. Thus, as was true in the 1920s, an absence of supply correlated with a shift to a more adulterated and toxic supply (Karamouzian et al., 2022). The shift to fentanyl ultimately resulted in a surge of opioid-related deaths across North America. Tragically, targeting one drug of choice for prohibition was not as effective as hoped, and the toxic drug crisis emerged in the aftermath of those decisions (Fischer et al., 2015).

The sharp increase in drug toxicity has triggered several ongoing policies and strategies across Canada from 1996 to present day. This includes the *Good Samaritan Drug Overdose Act* in 2017, the *Cannabis Act* in 2018, and injectable opioid agonist therapy in 2019 to name a few. As a result, the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic, and the coinciding toxic drug crisis may be viewed as a tragic culmination of well over 100 years of inconsistent and, at times, actively harmful approaches. In an effort to mitigate the damages of two national crises, the federal government granted multiple exemptions to the *Controlled Drugs and Substances Act* in 2020, giving access to communities that required urgent harm reduction services (Health Canada, 2020).

Criminalization

Sources suggest that prohibition-based drugs laws and policies, notably a criminal-justice based approach to substance use, have developed more health and social harms than good (Office of the Provincial Health Officer, 2019; BCCSU, 2019).

A statement on the decriminalization of substance use by the Centre of Addiction and Mental Health (2021b) states how the criminalization of substance has been counterproductive; in particular, it has caused social harms towards racialized communities, specifically the overpolicing and over-incarcerations of Black and Indigenous Peoples (CAMH, 2021b). As such, it is recognized that criminalization is one of the largest contributors to stigma and that the toxic drug supply is a whole-of-society challenge, not a criminal issue (BCCDC, 2018).

The report, *Stopping the Harm: Decriminalization of people who use drugs in BC,* suggests that "if the intention of a prohibition-based system was to protect individuals from harms inherent to substance use, then this policy approach has significantly failed to achieve this goal at an individual or population level. Evidence shows that this approach has had the opposite effect and has substantially increased harms." (Office of the Provincial Health Officer, 2019, p. 18). Sources also suggest that criminalization is progressively identified as a structural determinant of health, impacting health and social outcomes for people who use drugs (Scher et al., 2023; Greer et al., 2022; Selfridge et al., 2020). Recognizing the need to remove mandatory criminal sanctions and replace them with harm reduction, treatment services, and educational preventive measures will help reduce the harms and risks related to the toxic drug supply (CCSA, 2018).

Stigma and discrimination

Stigma includes a set of negative attitudes, behaviours, and opinions that further isolates and marginalizes people who use drugs (Livingston, 2020; Health Canada, 2023e). Various forms of stigma exist, including self stigma (internalizing stigma, fear of being criticized), social stigma (community stereotypes, stigmatizing language), and structural stigma (policies that increase stigma and restrict the rights and opportunities of people who use drugs) (Livingston, 2020). Stigma can lead to more harm and punitive policies that are "woven into the fabric of health care institutions and systems" (Livingston, 2020, p.4; Office of the Provincial Health Officer, 2019).

People who use drugs face greater stigma when it is accompanied by other types of discrimination and oppression such as racism, sexism, classism, and homophobia to name a few (Pauly et al., 2017; Livingston, 2020). As such, prohibition-based policies intensify structural, social, and self stigma which in turn affects the willingness of people who use drugs to even access services, thus impacting their health and well-being and even perpetuating inequitable outcomes notably criminalization and prosecution (Public Health Ontario, 2020; BCCSU, 2022; CAPUD, 2019; Pauly et al., 2017).

The Provincial Health Officer of British Columbia states that stigma "negatively impacts the lives of people and the ability of some individuals to receive or access basic health (e.g. harm reduction, treatment) and social needs (e.g. housing, employment). Stigma influences public support for evidence-based strategies that save lives and link people to treatment, such as supervised consumption services. Additionally, system-level [structural] stigma compromises the quality of care received by an individual if they do access treatment." (Office of the Provincial Health Officer, 2019, p. 20).

For instance, in Northern Ontario, communities such as Sudbury have been disproportionately impacted by forms of stigma, specifically social stigma. Evidence from *Clients' experiences using a new supervised consumption service in Sudbury, ON* suggests that: "in many smaller communities, stigmatization of people who use drugs is prevalent and contributes to difficulties

securing community 'buy-in' for supervised consumption sites, especially considering community consultations are a federal and provincial application requirement. This often results in unsuccessful applications and subsequent limited uptake" (Ali et al., 2023, para. 3). Clients from Sudbury's supervised consumption site stated they experienced social stigma related to visible public consumption, discarded paraphernalia, and not-in-my-backyard mentality which acts "as a deterrent to implementing evidence-based interventions" (Ali et al., 2023, para. 32). This form of stigma reinforces self-stigma and structural stigma and people who use drugs are thus discouraged from accessing services resulting in a lack of resources, fragmented care, poor quality of care, and a denial of care (Livingston, 2020).

Finding ways to address different forms of stigma is imperative to reduce negative stereotypes towards people who use drugs and the harmful association it has with impacting evidence-based interventions.

Factors contributing to drug to toxicity

Contaminated drug supply

In recent years, considerable increases in acute drug toxicity deaths due to the unpredictable and unregulated toxic drug supply have been recognized in Ontario (Gomes et al., 2021; Gomes et al., 2022a; Gomes et al., 2023; Public Health Ontario, 2022). Officials are aware that the current drug supply is often adulterated with other substances, of known and unknown potency, in efforts to increase volume, enhance efforts, and for greater profits. The risks and harms resulting from the drug toxicity crisis are having a direct impact on people who use drugs, their families, and communities (PHAC, 2023).

Currently, drugs are tainted with a mix of substances: fentanyl, fentanyl analogues (e.g. carfentanil), stimulants, psychoactive adulterants such as benzodiazepines (e.g. etizolam, bromazolam, and flubromazepam), xylazine (known as horse tranquilizer), and other components with unknown potency that further exacerbates the risk of drug toxicity, thus impeding local, provincial, and national responses (Ontario Drug Policy Research Network & Public Health Ontario, 2023; Moore, K. M., & Huyer, D., 2023; CCSA, 2020; CCSA & CCENDU, 2020; Réseau ACCESS Network, 2022). The Canadian Centre on Substance Use and Addiction (2020) states how it is "common practice in the unregulated market to mix additional substances into drugs to add bulk or enhance the effects. It is also possible to unintentionally include contaminants as a by-product of the manufacturing process" (p.4). Therefore, this may result in substances containing other drugs of unknown quantity and potency which leads to accidental poisonings and deaths (CCSA, 2020).

Since the COVID-19 pandemic, there has been a significant increase in fatal and nonfatal poisonings associated with opioids particularly those containing fentanyl and fentanyl analogues (PHAC, 2023; Iacono et al., 2023; Gomes et al., 2022a; Friesen et al., 2021; Public Health Ontario, 2020). In addition, fatalities have nearly doubled since declaring the pandemic, partially in relation to the contamination of the drug supply (Gomes et al., 2023; PHAC, 2023). It was noted that in the 8,767 individuals who experienced an accidental drug toxicity death in Ontario from 2018 to 2021, 85.2% of deaths involved opioids (N=7467), 60.2% involved stimulants (N=5 276), 13.4% involved alcohol (N=1 177), and 8.6% involved benzodiazepines (N=754) (Ontario Drug Policy Research Network & Public Health Ontario, 2023).

Polysubstance use

As stated by an Ontario Drug Policy Research Network and Public Health Ontario report (2023), polysubstance use and the adulteration of the drug supply collectively "complicate(s) health care responses, particularly when multiple sedating substances are used together". Since the COVID-19 pandemic, fatalities in Ontario have been on the rise, largely due to polysubstance use—notably a mix of opioids and stimulants (e.g. cocaine and methamphetamine)—as well as a rise in sedatives such as benzodiazepines either taken intentionally or unexpectedly due to the contamination of the drug supply (Gomes et al., 2023; PHAC, 2023). These changes in the landscape of drug use often result in an escalation of substance use fatalities (Ontario Drug Policy Research Network & Public Health Ontario, 2023, p. 3; Konefal et al., 2022).

Polysubstance use creates additional complexities when the effectiveness of naloxone is reduced. Considering naloxone only reverses the impacts of opioids, in conjunction with polysubstance use and the adulteration of the drug supply, there is an impact on treatment options (e.g. opioid agonist therapy) and harm reduction approaches (CRISM, 2019; CCSA, 2020; Gomes et al., 2023; Moore, K. M., & Huyer, D., 2023; Kolla et al., 2022). Finding ways to mitigate harms and risks related to both opioids and non-opioid substances with evidence-informed best practices is imperative to reduce the number of poisonings and acute drug toxicity deaths in Ontario.

Inhalation

Evidence from various studies indicates that there has been an increase in acute drug toxicity deaths and poisonings related to pipe and foil inhalation practices during the COVID-19 pandemic. Specifically, toxicity deaths by inhalation have been recognized in various Canadian provinces such as Ontario, British Columbia, and Alberta (Gomes et al., 2021; Giliauskas, 2022; PHAC, 2023, Friesen et al., 2021; CFMS, 2022; Public Health Ontario, 2023; **Speed et al.**, 2020). Prior to 2017, injection drug use was the most common method of consumption; however, inhalation appears to be rising and it is currently considered the more popular method for using substances in Canada (Parent et al., 2021, Bragazzi et al., 2021).

Due to the changing drug landscape, provincial and local studies state how people who inhale substances require further interventions, immediate strategies, and tailored approaches to reduce negative outcomes associated with non-injection drug routes (Giliauskas, 2022; Ali et al., 2023; Public Health Ontario, 2023). A report by Public Health Ontario and the Community Opioid/Overdose Capacity Building suggests how "historically, harm reduction research and programs have focused predominately on injection drug use and oral consumption. Consequently, people who use drugs by smoking/inhalation still face gaps in care as the field develops to further support their needs." (2023, p. 1). As such, multiple evaluation studies share

ways how supervised smoking sites can reduce a variety of harms, such as decreasing the number of discarded needles, stigma, hepatitis C infections, law enforcement interactions, and community violence when people who use drugs use in public (Giliauskas, 2022; Public Health Ontario; 2023).

Best practices to reduce harms and risks

Once again, a literature review was conducted to identify available current and emerging evidence, including best practices to reduce harms and risk associated with drug toxicity. As outlined in the previous section, the review of evidence gathered information from academic and scientific databases with a complementary search strategy to retrieve information from grey literature. Additionally, as noted, the review applies lens of a social-ecological model (SEM) to contextualize the interconnections between the individual, interpersonal, community, and societal factors that may contribute to both the problem and the potential solutions.

The best practices presented below outline recommendations relating to systemic change and collective action, treatment options, and harm reduction programming. All incorporate a range of preventative measures, innovative strategies, and adaptative solutions that can help mitigate the harms and risks related to drug use and drug toxicity. Health agencies, individuals with lived and living experience, families, communities, drug policy advisors, and academics unanimously call for an interdisciplinary-based approach of wraparound services to adequately address substance use.

Systemic change and collective action

Upstream prevention and protective factors

Prevention services occur on a continuum, often referred to as upstream and downstream. While downstream interventions tend to focus on individuals, upstream approaches focus on addressing the root causes of an issue through system level interventions that have the potential to impact an entire community (Minnesota Department of Health, 2022).

Focusing on opportunities to support upstream preventative measures and protective factors is crucial to delay the onset of substance use disorders, particularly during early adolescence, to ensure harms and risks are reduced (Iacono et al., 2023). It is important to recognize a range of risks factors related to substance use, such as poverty, mental illness, drug availability, harmful school environments, peer influence, housing instability, and trauma which can reinforce negative health outcomes (Health Canada, 2023e). Further, the *Canadian Drugs and Substances Strategy: Prevention and education* by Health Canada (2023) also states when youth use substances, they are setting up for life-long behaviours. The resulting substance use may harm

brain development and function, as well as increase their mental health challenges while there is also a lack of essential supports for them (Health Canada, 2023e).

Investing in community-based educational initiatives and outreach programs can be utilized to increase awareness of substance-related harms and reduce various risks factors (Health Canada, 2023e). This includes that ensuring positive protective factors are implemented and supported to help decrease harms and risks associated with substance use while responding to health inequities (Health Canada, 2023e). Examples of positive protective factors include physical safeguards, social involvement, safe neighbourhoods, favourable school surroundings, parental or caregiver engagement, housing stability and strong behavioural development (e.g. effective coping techniques and emotional management). In addition, targeting stigma, marginalization, and other related structural barriers when responding to social determinations of health and sociodemographic disparities in the community is critical (Livingston, 2020). Using comprehensive educational approaches can help children develop resiliency and positive behaviours which can in turn help guard against risk-taking behaviours such as substance use.

Peer-led engagement

The peer-led engagement process is an important consideration that must not be overlooked. Similar to the harm reduction movement itself, people who use drugs and community-led grassroot initiatives have launched numerous interventions, such as overdose prevention sites, needle syringe programs, and supervised consumption sites (Pauly et al., 2020). Evidence suggests that programs that are led by people with living and lived experience are more appealing to people who use drugs, particularly by those who have had negative experiences accessing traditional treatment and addiction services (Swanson, 2021; Pauly et al., 2020; Broadhead et al., 1998; Wood et al., 2003; McNeil et al., 2014; Grund et al., 1992). As a result, peer engagement in harm reduction services has the potential to make programming more equitable by fostering communication, building trust, increasing knowledge, and reducing stigma (Greer et al., 2016).

Multi-sectoral committees

Building community overdose response plans and evidence-based strategies to tackle the toxic drug crisis is a dedicated effort that requires a comprehensive and collaborative approach (Khorasheh et al., 2022; Pauly et al., 2017; Leece et al., 2019).

This requires support from numerous community partners, people with living and lived experience, and engagement from key stakeholders (Khorasheh et al., 2022; Leece et al., 2019). Literature sources state how strategies are commonly led by public health units along with collaborative supporting roles by multiple sectors and community partners, such as paramedics, health care professionals, police services, and other clinical representatives (Leece et al., 2019).

This work often involves organized structures (e.g. committees, advisory boards, task force, workgroups) which are guided by principles and practices to ensure an equitable and diversified representation of sectors is established and maintained (Khorasheh et al., 2022).

A provincial situational assessment by Khorasheh and colleagues (2022) found recurring needs and gaps within community approaches. These included evidence, data and information, operational factors, and partnerships, engagement, and collaboration. Additional support related to access, use, and communication of evidence on overdose and response strategies was also identified. "Current strategic planning processes, service coordination, standardization, and broader contextual factors reportedly affect the implementation/operation of community overdose response plans" (Khorasheh et al., 2022, para. 34).

Similarly, a scoping review by Leece and team (2019) shared how stakeholders identified three key implications when implementing a community overdose response planning initiative. The key implications for consideration include "addressing equity and stigma-related barriers towards people with lived experience of substance use; improving data collection to facilitate evaluation; and enhancing community partnerships by involving people with lived experience of substance use." (Leece et al., 2019, para. 6). Establishing centralized supports that ensure accountability, coordination, sustainability of response, and enhanced awareness priorities across local communities will help build a successful community response effort.

Community response efforts

Decriminalization

Various traditional strategies to address substance use have saved lives but there continues to be high levels of acute drug toxicity deaths and poisonings in Ontario with an overrepresentation among marginalized populations. Numerous public health agencies, individuals with lived and living experience, families, communities, drug policy advisors, academics, and community activist groups are sounding the alarm to review and re-evaluate the current prohibition-based policies in Canada (Office of the Provincial Health Officer, 2019).

As stated in a policy brief by the Canadian Centre on Substance Use and Addiction (2018), the term decriminalization incorporates numerous policies and practices that can be implemented in a tailored way to fit the needs of local communities and associated marginalized populations to address the context of drug use and acute drug toxicity. For example, applying targeted exemptions under section 56.1 of the *Controlled Drugs and Substances Act* (CDSA) while integrating harm reduction and treatment approaches are ways to decrease acute drug toxicity deaths and poisonings (Health Canada, 2018). These initiatives include prescription maintenance treatment programs (e.g. opioid agonist therapy and injectable opioid agonist therapy), safer

supply models, supervised consumption sites, drug checking services, psychological treatments, naloxone distribution, and outreach initiatives to name a few (CCSA, 2018).

Collective Action

Despite the outcomes of historical response interventions, it is important for community response efforts to acknowledge and address key considerations prior to exploring best practices attributed to decriminalization, treatment, and harm reduction efforts (BCCDC, 2018; CCSA, 2018; CAPUD, 2019; Atkinson, 2023; Haines et al., 2022; Pauly et al., 2020; CAPUD, 2019; Friesen et al., 2021; CAMH, 2021a; Magwood et al., 2020; Thumath et al., 2021; Maar et al., 2022; Public Health Ontario, 2020; BCCDC, 2017; CFMS, 2022; Khorasheh et al., 2022; Collins et al., 2018; CAMH, 2021b). Considerations are critical, ensuring evidence-based community response efforts, preventative measures, and best practices are applied in an equitable and successful way.

Key considerations include:

- recognizing the need to regularly engage with people with living and lived experience, known as peers or experiential workers (e.g. Indigenous and racialized communities), and other subpopulations involved in the entire planning and implementation process
- applying a continuum of care with an integration of services (e.g. wraparound services)
- ensuring local provision of services are health-equity focused, trauma-informed, and culturally safe with a gender-based analysis lens
- developing upstream preventative measures to delay the onset of substance use disorders during early adolescence to ensure harms and risks are reduced (e.g. positive protective factors)
- investing in ways to address the social determinants of health (e.g. basic income guarantee and rapid re-housing initiatives)
- acknowledging community capacity
- ensuring adaptable eligibility criteria (e.g. tailored services to marginalized populations)
- developing and monitoring low-thresholds services (e.g. preventing criminalization)
- responding to resource demands and supports
- establishing clear communication
- developing strong and meaningful local community partnerships guided by principles and practices to ensure an equitable and diversified representation of sectors is established
- supporting routine training of response staff
- understanding legislative and regulatory frameworks

- continually evaluating drug related policies and procedures due to the changing drug landscape (e.g. the impact of the *Good Samaritan Drug Overdose Act*)
- evaluating decriminalization measures implemented within the community (e.g. supervised consumption site regulations)
- routinely sharing provincial and federal data amongst partners (e.g. provincial law enforcement data)
- finding ways to address the negative labels associated with drug use to tackle stigmatization, (e.g. education, media campaigns, stigma reduction plans, and stigma-based training)
- promoting community awareness about inclusive language to enhance health equity and reduce health disparities among people who use drugs

Substance use care: Treatment

Opioid agonist therapy

Opioid agonist therapy (OAT) continues to be an intervention that demonstrates effective outcomes across many facets of opioid use disorder compared to abstinence-based models (Public Health Ontario, 2023; Morin et al., 2020; Magwood et al., 2020). Studies have shown how opioid agonist therapy decreases risk behaviours, criminal activity, and exposure to the toxic drug supply. Opioid agonist therapy has also been shown to increase retention rates, HIV and hepatitis C virus testing, mental and physical health, and improve access to some social services and health care supports (PHO, 2022; Bruneau et al., 2018; Magwood et al., 2020; Pijl, 2022). Specifically, opioid agonist therapy treatments were identified as a way to reduce opioid related poisonings and acute drug toxicity deaths particularly amongst people with a history of incarceration and people who experience homelessness (Public Health Ontario, 2022; Magwood et al., 2020; Friesen et al., 2021).

Opioid Agonist Therapy (OAT) medication treatments

Buprenorphine/naloxone (Suboxone)

Buprenorphine/naloxone is a partial agonist and is described as the preferred and recommended option of OAT compared to methadone and slow-release oral morphine (SROM) due to its superior safety profile, longer lasting effects, potential for take-home doses, lower rates of health care visits, and lower risk to public safety (Gomes et al., 2022a; Iacono et al., 2023; Bruneau et al., 2018; Franklyn et al., 2016; BCCSU, 2017; Gomes et al., 2022b). In Ontario, methadone is used more frequently but buprenorphine/naloxone use has more than tripled since it was introduced in 2012 (Gomes et al., 2022b).

Some studies, however, indicate how there is potential for unsuccessful outcomes with buprenorphine/naloxone due to the risk of patients with higher-intensity opiate (heroin) use disorder discontinuing treatment sooner than methadone (Gomes et al., 2022b; BCCSU; 2022; Public Health Ontario, 2022; Franklyn et al., 2016; Bruneau et al., 2018; Magwood et al., 2020). As such, buprenorphine may cause "intolerable symptoms during the partial opioid withdrawal that is required for initiation" and client characteristics must be taken into consideration (BCCSU, 2017, p. 24; BCCSU; 2022). Since 2021, various case studies state that micro-dosing induction can be favourable to reduce the risk of precipitated withdrawal; however, research evidence is scarce requiring additional clinical trials (BCCSU; 2022). As such, other buprenorphine formulations currently exist in Canada including Sublocade (administered and injected monthly) and Suboxone film (BCCSU; 2022).

Methadone

Methadone is a well-known therapy available in all provinces and territories for moderate to severe opioid-use disorder and requires individuals to regularly visit a pharmacy or other clinical settings to receive treatment. Methadone therapy was noted as a more useful option for people who use drugs that use heroin compared to buprenorphine/naloxone (CAMH, 2020).

A study by the Ontario Drug Policy Research Network, IC/ES and St. Michael's Unity Health Toronto (2022) found that people remain on methadone treatment for an average of nine months, compared to approximately three months for people who use drugs who only stay on buprenorphine/naloxone (Gomes et al., 2022b). Studies in British Columbia suggest similar findings, noting how buprenorphine/naloxone was twice as likely as methadone to be discontinued (Krebs et al., 2021). Other clinical trials and observational studies also state higher treatment retention rates with methadone (CADTH; 2016; Bharat et al., 2021; O'Conner et al., 2020). Although, it remains unclear if people who use drugs are discontinuing medications when transitioning to other forms of opioid agonist therapy or if other factors such as past opioid agonist therapy experiences, stigma, client characteristics, and severity of opioid use disorder are impacting retention rates. In addition, methadone has many disadvantages including higher risks of overdose, side effects, drug interactions, and longer lengths of time to achieve appropriate dosing durations (Bruneau et al., 2018; Gomes et al., 2022b).

During the pandemic, nearly two-thirds of people who experienced opioid-related deaths were individuals prescribed a median methadone dose of 70 mg (Gomes et al., 2022). Current opioid agonist therapy guidelines in Ontario however indicate how a stronger methadone dose of 100 mg or above is needed for people who intentionally or accidentally use fentanyl on a regular basis (Bromley et al., 2021; Gomes et al., 2022; BCCSU, 2022). Sources from Ontario and British Columbia explain that it is probable that people who use drugs are not given appropriate opioid agonist therapy dosing amounts which leads clients to utilize the unregulated supply which then increases their risks of poisonings and acute drug toxicity deaths (Gomes et al., 2022;

BCCSU, 2017). However, clinical guidelines state how initial doses of methadone requires a slower titration, specifically an increased dose of 5-10 mg every five to seven days, based on client characteristics, withdrawals, and cravings (CAMH, 2021a). Clinical recommendations state how it is imperative to reassess people who use drugs often during the first two weeks of methadone treatment because this is noted as the highest risk period of fatal overdoses (CAMH, 2021a). In addition, the regular time commitment associated with methadone treatment is recognized to be a difficult therapy option for some people who use drugs to accomplish, particularly construction workers, youth, and people experiencing homelessness (Gomes et al., 2022; Iacono et al., 2023; Bruneau et al., 2018; Magwood et al., 2020; Maar et al., 2022).

As noted in a report by Magwood and associates (2020), understanding client characteristics and preferences is important when considering traditional opioid agonist therapy options (e.g. buprenorphine/naloxone or methadone) specifically due to retention and poisoning risks. Further, focusing on social determinants of health is crucial to address issues related to adequate and equitable access to opioid agonist therapy care (Magwood et al., 2020; Bromley et al., 2021).

Supervised injectable opioid agonist treatment (siOAT)

Supervised injectable opioid agonist treatment (siOAT) is a relatively new and emerging intervention in Canada that allows people who use drugs access to injectable hydromorphone (HDM) or diacetylmorphine (DAM) under a supervised setting (Ministry of Mental Health and Addictions, 2021; Public Health Ontario, 2022; BCCSU, 2022; Public Health Ontario, 2017; BCCSU, 2017). This form of therapy demonstrates greater effectiveness and reduction in harms compared to conventional opioid agonist therapy—notably among people who use drugs using less unregulated supply—with a decrease in criminal activity and greater retention rates as well as improvements to overall psychiatric status compared to methadone therapy (Public Health Ontario, 2017; BCCSU, 2022; Public Health Ontario, 2017; BCCSU, 2017; Ministry of Mental Health and Addictions, 2021; Banerjee et al., 2020). This therapy, however, should be recognized as a second line treatment option for those who did not have positive outcomes with traditional opioid agonist therapy medications (e.g. buprenorphine/naloxone or methadone) and for individuals that struggle with chronic heroin use due to the greater risks of non-fatal poisonings and adverse reactions (Public Health Ontario, 2017; BCCSU, 2022; Public Health Ontario, 2022).

Opioid agonist therapy to address needs of people who use drugs

Various sources (CAMH, 2021a; Pijl et al., 2022; BCCDC, 2018; Friesen et al., 2021; Gomes et al., 2022; BCCDC, 2017; Bruneau et al., 2018; Magwood et al., 2020; Iacono et al., 2023; Maar et al., 2022) state how selected best practices can support tailored approaches to care. These approaches may address current gaps and barriers related to the delivery of opioid agonist therapy. The best practices include:

- integrating mental health, harm reduction and pharmacological care within opioid agonist therapy models
 - this will address some of the structural inequities experienced by subpopulations (e.g. stigma and concurrent disorders)
- improving or developing specialized or wraparound services such as:
 - transitional care (e.g. residential programs)
 - peer support programs
 - access to withdrawal management services (non-medical and medical approaches)
 - counselling and psychotherapy
 - Indigenous healing practices
 - non-opioid pain management strategies
 - access to all forms of opioid agonist therapy (e.g. stimulant, benzodiazepine, and injectable opioid agonist programs)
- implementing policy changes and lessening opioid agonist therapy entry and management demands
- collecting current opioid-use rates amongst subpopulations while ensuring regular collaboration with community partners and people with lived and living experience
- developing ideal dosing approaches with information sharing between clinical service providers
- establishing strategies, guidelines, research, and program evaluations to adapt approaches to acknowledge all people who use drugs unique needs which will enhance more successful opioid agonist therapy outcomes (e.g. Indigenous-led participatory action research)

Opioid agonist therapy for northern and rural communities

Individuals residing in northern and rural communities demonstrate additional barriers accessing opioid agonist therapy due to shortages of substance use and psychiatric services, geographical distances to care, financial supports to travel to appointments, limited awareness of local services, and inadequate access to culturally safe healing practices (Public Health Ontario, 2022; Friesen et al., 2021; Pijl et al., 2022; Bruneau et al., 2018; Gomes et al., 2021; Kolla et al., 2022).

Due to the COVID-19 pandemic, opioid agonist therapy services in Ontario were even more disrupted and that disruption may have been a factor associated with increased use of the toxic drug supply (Friesen et al., 2021). Changes to service delivery models, however, were quickly addressed during the pandemic to ensure a continuity of care with flexible modifications of

clinical guidelines. Modifications included providing some clients with home supplies ('carries') of medications and implementing telemedicine-based opioid agonist therapy appointments (Friesen et al., 2021). Since the implementation of these measures, it has been recommended to continue providing these approaches to service, when possible (Friesen et al., 2021; Public Health Ontario, 2023; Wendt et al., 2021; CAMH, 2021). Specifically, opioid agonist therapy delivered by telemedicine is noted as an effective and successful strategy (Eibl et al., 2017; Bolinski et al., 2022) with similar retention rates as in-person services (Franklyn et al., 2016).

Despite successful outcomes, it is recognized by some sources (Pijl, 2022; Wendt et al., 2021; MHCC, 2021, Morin et al., 2021) that some communities utilizing telemedicine approaches may experience the following barriers related to care. The barriers include:

- limited access to technology (e.g. lack of internet communication devices and training provided to service providers/users on the use of telemedicine solutions)
- poor internet quality (e.g. inadequate broadband internet coverage)
- unsupervised ingestion and potential for diversion of OAT medications
- difficulty with emotional connection during virtual sessions
- privacy concerns, (e.g. overcrowded homes)
- unsafe transport, storage, and dispensing of medications (e.g. in some northern, rural, and First Nations communities)

A national guideline for opioid agonist therapy and other literature sources share how collaborating with local resources—such as primary care providers, hospitals, emergency departments, pharmacy supports, nurse practitioners, community outreach initiatives and other harm reduction settings—may alleviate some barriers associated with telemedicine-based services particularly in northern and rural communities (CAMH, 2021a; Gomes et al., 2022; Pijl, 2022; Friesen et al., 2021). As a result, access to innovative, adaptive, and alternative delivery of opioid agonist therapy services specifically targeted to northern and rural areas that are holistic, and community based is an important step to deliver to this underserviced population (Friesen et al., 2021; Pijl et al., 2022; BCCDC, 2017; Bruneau et al., 2018; MHCC, 2021).

Mental health supports

Evidence also indicates that selected counselling and mental health services should be offered alongside various treatment methods. Many sources share how there are very high rates of psychiatric challenges among people who use drugs; however, many of these individuals show improvement in morbidity and mortality rates when they receive psychosocial and psychiatric treatment interventions (Morin et al., 2020; Bruneau et al., 2018).

Some articles share how Northern Ontario has mental health and addiction services, but they are fragmented and disconnected from each other (Leary et al., 2023; Morin et al., 2020; Russell et al., 2019). For instance, a cohort study by Morin and colleagues (2020) suggests that opioid agonist therapy patients with mental health disorders that live in northern and rural communities in Ontario have "a more complex profile of health care utilization" (p. 8) than patients in Southern Ontario. Therefore, services must address the root causes of addiction by using an intersectoral approach and by focusing on mental health and addiction supports as a whole (HQO, 2018).

The Mental Health Commission of Canada (2020) suggests: "structural stigma surfaces when policies and practices produce inequitable access to health care for people living with mental health and substance use challenges. This access is compromised in several ways: through the inequitable distribution of resources, the undertreatment of health problems, the withholding of services, and fragmented care. Structural stigma is also expressed when people systematically receive a lower quality of care" (Livingston, 2020, p. 2). Developing a widespread understanding of the broader mental health challenges that focuses on the individual, interpersonal, community, and societal factors of substance use disorders when approaching the toxic drug supply is crucial (Jalali et al., 2020).

The Mental Health Commission of Canada (2020) explains how various approaches can address structural stigma related to both mental health and substance use care including the following:

- improving behaviours, actions, skills, and perceptions of health care providers (e.g. with continuing education programs and training)
- enhancing the amalgamation and management of mental health and substance use services, (e.g. cross-training, integrated care models, services under one roof and the use of electronic health records)
- attaining parity for mental health and substance use outcomes (e.g. funding, resources, and insurance coverage equal to physical health services)
- increasing accessibility of efficient treatment options (e.g. quality and range of care)
- developing ways to evaluate and generate data related to structural stigma (e.g. quality-of-care indicators)
- promoting inclusion and engagement opportunities with people with living and lived experience in decision-making processes and planning efforts
- reviewing and reforming laws and policies with people with living and lived experience

In addition, the Canadian Centre on Substance Use and Addiction (2018) best practice guidelines state that "psychosocial interventions provided together with pharmacological treatment are effective approaches to treating opioid use disorder though it is unclear if certain psychosocial

therapies are more effective than others and if certain modalities correspond better to particular medical treatments." (Taha, 2018, p. 8). Some psychosocial supports noted within the *Best Practices across the Continuum of Care for the Treatment of Opioid Use Disorder* (2018) demonstrate a few benefits, including cognitive behavioural therapy (CBT), contingency management, behavioural couples therapy, and family training along with motivational interviewing and relapse prevention counselling (Taha et al., 2018).

Additional best practices related to mental health interventions, substance use, and pharmacological therapy were described as being effective when utilized together as a comprehensive treatment approach (Taha et al., 2018, BCCDC, 2018; Eibl et al., 2017, Maar et al., 2022, Marsh et al., 2022; Gomes et al., 2021; Iacono et al., 2023; Friesen et al., 2021; CAMH, 2021; Livingston, 2020; Pauly et al., 2017). Highlighted best practices include:

- integrating psychological needs assessments, (e.g. psychiatric history, care plans, supportive counselling, connection to family supports), and referrals to community programming to address social determinants of health, (e.g. housing, income, legal aid, drug coverage, peer, and cultural supports).
- ensuring psychiatric and counselling services focuses on cultural supports and traumainformed practices, (e.g. trauma awareness for adverse life experiences, substance use and societal conditions, choice, collaboration, connection, safety, trustworthiness, skill-building and strength-based approaches)
- shifting treatment approaches to move beyond medical models towards a more holistic model of care that includes mental, emotional, social, and spiritual aspects at the systems level, (e.g. Indigenous-led care)
- acknowledging gaps in knowledge related to psychosocial treatment approaches and mental health supports for people with substance use disorders
- addressing upstream risk factors for substance-related harms by removing barriers to mental health treatment for youth and young adults
- implementing counselling services within opioid agonist therapy, safer supply models, and supervised consumption site frameworks
- developing telemedicine-based strategies to ensure mental health and addiction services are more accessible
- ensuring patients are assessed for additional concurrent substance use disorders and provide psychoeducation and treatment options that are appropriate for clients, (e.g. decision to evaluate the risks of prescribing benzodiazepines)
- recognizing current local mental health and addiction resources such as wait lists, financial barriers, and expertise when arranging community referrals

• improving people who use drugs access to human rights-based information, grievance procedures, and legal and advocacy services to address obstacles related to structural stigma

Substance use care: Harm reduction

Safer supply models

One of the more novel and controversial harm reduction approaches argues for the decriminalization, legalization, or dis-regulation of all controlled substance by reforming current restrictive drug policies. Sources suggest the need to explore the potential of integrating low-barrier safer supply frameworks to address drug toxicity (CAPUD, 2019; Public Health Ontario, 2022; Atkinson, 2023; CFMS; 2022; Foreman- Mackey et al., 2022; Kolla et al., 2022). Many sources note prohibition-based policies intensify stigma which affects the willingness of people who use drugs to even access services, impacting their health and well-being and even perpetuates inequitable outcomes, notably criminalization and prosecution (Public Health Ontario, 2022; Public Health Ontario, 2020; BCCSU, 2022; Austin et al., 2023).

Safer supply is defined as "the legal and regulated supply of drugs with mind/body altering properties that traditionally have been accessible only through the illicit drug market" (CAPUD, 2019, p. 4). As a result, safer supply programs do not focus on stopping drug use (compared to opioid agonist therapy or residential treatment programs) but are still committed to minimizing the harms and risks related to drug toxicity while providing connections to health and social services (Health Canada, 2023a; Ontario Drug Policy Research Network, 2023; Public Health Ontario, 2022; Kolla et al., 2022). This is considered a new intervention in Ontario that has started to gain more attention since the COVID-19 pandemic (Ontario Drug Policy Research Network, 2023).

As described by the Ontario Drug Policy Research Network (2023), the goals of safer opioid supply (SOS) programs "are to reduce the use of the unregulated drug supply and the corresponding risk of toxicities, while addressing the conditions that contribute to the socioeconomic and structural marginalization of people who use drugs, including material deprivation and stigma" (p. 5). Research shows that safer supply programs help decrease the rates of acute drug toxicity deaths, poisonings, hospital admissions, emergency room visits, criminal activity, infections, mental health hardships, health care costs, and the overall use of fentanyl and other illicit street substances (Health Canada, 2023a; Ontario Drug Policy Research Network, 2023; Gomes et al., 2022a; Public Health Ontario; 2022).

Safer supply strategies that either eliminate or reduces the overall criminalization of drug use while still mitigating harms and risks should be considered. Foreman-Mackey and colleagues (2022) suggest that alternative drug supplies that are "the exact substance or as close to

comparable as possible, of known quantity and quality" (p. 3) are needed to achieve successful outcomes associated with safer supply programs. As such, exploring prescriber-based models may impact people who use drugs' desire to utilize safer supply options that are similar to their current illicit drug supply without the toxic adulteration (Public Health Ontario, 2022; BCCDC, 2018; BCCSU; 2019).

Prescriber-based models of safer supply

Numerous evidence-based reports share how safer supply programs with prescriber-based models provide a predictable source of safer supply through opioid programs with prescribed hydromorphone tablets (HDM) and non-opioid programs with stimulants and benzodiazepines (Ontario Drug Policy Research Network, 2023; Health Canada, 2023a; Public Health Ontario, 2022). As described by Public Health Ontario (2022), the most common type of safer supply provided to clients in Canada is hydromorphone tablets along with some programs also supplying oxycodone, methadone, and slow-release oral morphine (SROM).

Some of these programs offer supervised consumption options with a provision of wraparound services for clients to provide enhanced health and social outcomes (Public Health Ontario; 2022). Moreover, a few programs have developed creative ways of dispensing medications with secure dispensing machines in an unsupervised manner (BCCDC, 2018). For instance, a project called MySafe operates in four cities across Canada, utilizing kiosks, similar to ATM machines, which distribute hydromorphone tablets supplied by pharmacists. Many safeguards are ensured to verify individuals' identities in conjunction with ways to carefully monitor patients via healthcare practitioner supports (Health Canada, 2021a). This type of program is a way to allow more flexibility and autonomy for people who use drugs (Public Health Ontario, 2022).

Another example of a prescriber-based safer supply model includes a public health order which was issued in British Columbia during 2020 that allows physicians and nurse practitioners the capacity to prescribe safer supply alternatives to reduce the harms and risks related to the toxic drug supply (British Columbia Ministry of Mental Health and Addictions, 2020). This order was intended to provide people who use drugs with further opportunities to connect with a continuum of care. Furthermore, evidence indicates that people who use drugs are more inclined to utilize safer supply options rather than more traditional treatment approaches, particularly when they have not found success with traditional approaches (Kolla et al., 2022; CAPUD, 2019).

Risks and challenges

Some studies report that there continue to be gaps in evidence on safer supply models, including information on specific factors that may impact program outcomes. Selected factors have been identified as possible risks impacting program effectiveness and adoption of services. The risks include factors such as a potential for diversion (e.g. medication sharing), unsupervised dosing (e.g. take-home doses), and continued client withdrawal resulting from not adequately titrated

with available medications or a restricted range of medications. Therefore, people who use drugs may return to the unregulated drug supply for preferred mind and body properties (CAPUD, 2019, p.4; BCCDC, 2018; Atkinson, 2023; Haines et al., 2022; Foreman-Mackey et al., 2022; ODPRN, 2023; Karamouzian et al., 2023; PHO, 2022).

Other risks include limited stimulant, benzodiazepine or drug checking test strip services, public perception, location of services (rural or remote vs. urban, mobile services), insufficient external counselling and an inequitable access to supports and tailored services for different subpopulations (e.g. Indigenous Peoples, youth, and people experiencing homelessness) (BCCDC, 2018; Atkinson, 2023; Haines et al., 2022; Foreman-Mackey et al., 2022; ODPRN, 2023; Karamouzian et al., 2023).

As an emerging area of work and approach for consideration, there is a clear need to continue to evaluate and review evidence on short and long-term outcomes of existing safer supply programs to better inform adoption or implementation of the model (PHO, 2022).

Considerations for practice

The Canadian Association of People Who Use Drugs (2019) and the Ministry of Mental Health and Addictions in their *Access to Prescribed Safer Supply in British Columbia: Policy Direction* (2021) document, outline various best practices and guiding principles if and when implementing safer supply interventions and frameworks with prescriber-based models.

Recommendations include offering safer supply options that offer take home doses rather than daily visits (e.g. will improve retention and satisfaction rates), a range of medications (e.g. mind/body altering proprieties) along with recognizing clients' current fentanyl tolerances and dosages. Evidence suggests that if safer supply doses are too low, then people will continue to use the unregulated drug supply. Alternatively, providing an artisanal version of opiates that is not as powerful as pharmaceutical grade opioids is necessary to consider as well (Canadian Association of People Who Use Drugs, 2019; Ministry of Mental Health and Addictions, 2021).

Other considerations include that people who use drugs can benefit from substitution programs like opioid agonist therapy and safer supply options that can be utilized in tandem with each other. The literature also reinforces the critical need to collaborate with people who use drugs to ensure programs and services are informed by living and lived experience. This will ensure the provision of services that are harm reduction oriented, health equity focused, and culturally safe, as well as services that incorporate a gender-based lens with integrated peer engagement opportunities (Canadian Association of People Who Use Drugs, 2019; Ministry of Mental Health and Addictions, 2021).

Importantly, strengthening regional expertise and protocols with multiple access points and connections with other health and social services with an interdisciplinary team-based approach is crucial for safer supply frameworks. As stated, with the risks and challenges of safer supply

models, establishing routine evaluation and monitoring of low-threshold safer supply programs is required to identify benefits, risks, and gaps for people who use drugs and communities as a whole (Canadian Association of People Who Use Drugs, 2019; Ministry of Mental Health and Addictions, 2021).

Supervised consumption sites

Supervised consumption sites (SCS) are a significant harm reduction measure with approximately 39 locations that have been granted an official exemption from the Government of Canada as of September 2023. Supervised consumption sites offer a range of services with nearly 2 600 visits a day with some sites seeing roughly 400 visits each day with an estimate of 340 000 unique clients that access supervised consumption services since 2017 (Health Canada, 2023d). Supervised consumption sites provide people who use drugs a clean and safe environment where individuals have enhanced access to safe and sterile equipment under supervision of a health care professional, a trained allied service provider, or a peer (i.e. person who formerly used or currently uses drugs) without the risk of incarceration. These sites have connected people who use drugs with up to 239 000 referrals to treatment programs, medical care services, mental health supports, and housing (Health Canada, 2023d).

As stated by Health Canada (2023d), supervised consumption sites "attended to around 49 000 overdoses and drug-related medical emergencies between 2017 and March 2023, with no reported fatalities on-site" (para. 3). For example, in Sudbury, the supervised consumption site called Minoogawbi, La Place, The Spot assisted nearly 470 unique clients representing 1 181 total visits, and 1 605 total consumptions since opening their doors in September 2022 (Ali et al., 2023; Réseau ACCESS Network, 2023). Furthermore, most of the substances that are consumed at supervised consumption sites are opioids (close to 70%). Fentanyl and hydromorphone/Dilaudid are the most consumed opioids along with stimulants such as methamphetamine also among the most popular (Health Canada, 2023d).

Outcomes of supervised consumption sites

Evaluation of supervised consumption sites consistently demonstrates the following outcomes (Health Canada, 2023).

- reducing public drug use and discarded drug equipment
- reducing morbidity and mortality associated with accidental overdose
- reducing risk for infectious disease transmission (e.g. HIV)
- reducing strain on emergency medical services

Despite supervised consumption sites having a proven track record of reducing mortality and morbidity caused by drug toxicity, a variety of barriers and gaps are noted as significant challenges when implementing and operating a supervised consumption site. These challenges "may further marginalize the populations supervised consumption sites were designed to reach and serve" (CCSA, 2020, p. 3).

One significant barrier includes the application process which consists of burdensome requirements for organizations relating to budget constraints, temporary funding, minimal human resources, community consultations, and jurisdictional supports (CCSA, 2020; Russell et al., 2020). As such, hardships related to scaling up services to reflect need have been recognized as a considerable gap when addressing the constant evolving and changing drug landscape (CCSA, 2020; Russell et al., 2020). For example, Sudbury's Supervised Consumption Site will close in December 2023 if the site does not receive provincial funding by the Ministry of Addictions and Mental Health. The site submitted their application over two years ago and has not received a response since then. Since opening its doors on September 28, 2022, The Spot has proved itself to be an indispensable resource to Sudbury. As of October 2023, The Spot had almost 1 000 visits and reversed all 15 overdoses that occurred onsite, saving lives (Réseau ACCESS Network, 2023). As such, it is critical to integrate priority services such as inhalation practices, drug checking services, peer-assisted programming and injection services, gender-specific services, access to safer supply models, primary care services, safer sex supports, and grief and trauma counselling, to name a few, within new supervised consumption site regulations (CCSA, 2020).

Inhalation practices

Literature sources suggest how implementing smoking sites within supervised consumption sites will enhance accessibility to people who use, but not inject, drugs by providing them with an outlet to lifesaving services (Public Health Ontario, 2023; Giliauskas, 2022; Speed et al., 2020 Atkinson, 2023; BCCDC, 2018).

According to several articles, people willing to utilize supervised inhalation sites include people experiencing homelessness, people of colour, sexual minorities, women, people living in smaller urban and rural centres, and youth (Giliauskas, 2022, Iacono et al., 2023; Speed et al., 2020; Public Health Ontario, 2023; Parent et al., 2021). People who inhale substances, however, are still at risk of negative physical health outcomes such as transmission of hepatitis C through equipment sharing along with pulmonary and respiratory problems (Gehring, 2022; Speed et al., 2020; Public Health Ontario, 2023). Thus, further opportunities to evaluate and research harms related to non-injection drug use, specifically inhalation practices, are important to ensure current

and appropriate harm reduction practices and services are implemented (Speed et al., 2020; Giliauskas, 2022).

A recent preliminary assessment of Sudbury's supervised consumption site describes how current services do not meet the needs of this population of people who use drugs (Ali et al., 2023). Participants noted that the site currently does not provide access to this common practice suggesting the need to find ways to alleviate barriers affiliated with this method of consumption (Ali et al., 2023). Similarly, a report by Parent and colleagues (2021) suggests that "those living in a small urban/rural centre had almost two and a half times the odds of smoking opioids when compared to those living in larger centres. This could be due to the lower availability and acceptability of needle distribution programs in these areas, where people who use drugs are more likely to be recognized and ostracized." (p. 6-7).

Furthermore, achieving inhalation services federally requires a legal federal exemption from Health Canada under section 56.1 of the *Controlled Drugs and Substances Act* (CDSA) (Giliauskas, 2022; Public Health Ontario, 2023; Health Canada, 2018). In Ontario, the situation and legislation differ for the province. The Ontario HIV Treatment Network describes how "in 2018, the provincial government terminated overdose prevention and supervised consumption models and replaced these with a new model called Consumption and Treatment Services (CTS); the number of sites was originally capped at 21. This new model does not allow for supervised inhalation" (Giliauskas, 2022, p. 6). Therefore, supervised consumptions sites funded by the province of Ontario will not allow for inhalation services as part of the funding model.

Alternatively, if an agency is privately funded, this rule does not apply. For example, the first supervised consumption site in Ontario that offers smoking services is Casey House, in Toronto. Casey House identifies as a registered charity and therefore does not operate under the provincial-funded consumption and treatment services model which does not currently allow for supervised inhalation services (Public Health Ontario, 2023). Federally, a legal exemption from Health Canada under section 56.1 of the Controlled Drugs and Substance Act (CDSA) requires significant time, extensive data, support from all levels of government, community input and partner guidance while also acknowledging current political priorities (Giliauskas, 2022; Public Health Ontario, 2023).

The literature cites (Public Health Ontario, 2023; Giliauskas, 2022; Friesen, 2021; Iacono et al., 2023; Gehring, 2022; BCCDC, 2017; Parent et al., 2021) how smoking services and sites must include the following best practices to produce effective outcomes:

- obtaining access to suitable ventilation systems (HVAC), sterile smoking supplies and equipment, adequate PPE, and adequate facility designs
 - develop an outdoor supervised smoking space (if indoor spaces are not a current option) to alleviate some issues related to accessibility for people who do not inject drugs
- implement supervised consumption sites in an accessible location amalgamated with current harm reduction services that does not require significant travel demands (e.g. one-stop shop)
- provide operational hours that are reflective of the lifestyles of people who use drugs
- ensuring leadership roles by people with lived and living experience in the entire implementation process to reflect currents needs and gaps (e.g. conducting focus groups, interviews, and advisory groups)
- promoting educational opportunities and advocacy initiatives about safer smoking practices
- referring to other safer smoking sites to help guide program planning, logistical considerations, and operation of services (e.g. Casey House in Toronto, Ontario)
- establishing research by utilizing qualitative approaches to explore intentions related drug use patterns, needs and lifestyle (e.g. smoking consumption)

Drug checking services

Drug checking services is another form of harm reduction demonstrated to decrease harms and risks related to the toxic drug supply (PHO, 2017; Maghsoudi et al., 2022). This intervention has been applied as a useful tool to inform people who use drugs and service providers if their current drug supply is contaminated with adulterants and other substances (Public Health Ontario, 2017). In addition, drug checking services can be utilized for issuing public health alerts and as a way of attracting people who do not regularly use harm reduction interventions (Public Health Ontario, 2017; Public Health Ontario, 2023). As such, there is emerging evidence that drug checking services can influence drug use behaviours (Maghsoudi et al., 2022).

As stated in *The Opioid Crisis in Canada* report released by the House of Commons Standing Committee on Health (2016), the Government of Canada currently "grants exemptions under the *Controlled Drugs and Substances Act* for the purposes of drug testing at supervised consumption sites" (Public Health Ontario, 2017, p. 1-2). However, due to the repercussions of COVID-19 on the unregulated drug supply, Health Canada issued an amended class exemption through Section 56 of the federal *Controlled Drugs and Substances Act*, ensuring that provinces and territories can develop immediate public health need sites (UPHNS).

This exemption has ensured a more accessible way for provinces to legally designate drug checking, without having to apply for a more involved supervised consumption site classification (BCCSU, 2022a). The local supervised consumption site, The Spot, in Sudbury, has received this exemption. As such, these newly introduced drug checking services have been used dozens of times since their inception in August, preventing the risk of drug poisonings and empowering people who use drugs to make informed decisions (Réseau ACCESS Network, 2023). If The Spot does not receive provincial funding, then this service will be discontinued as well.

Many lessons learned were articulated in a British Columbia Centre on Substance Use Drug Checking Implementation Guide (BCCSU, 2022a) along with evidence briefs from Public Health Ontario (2017; 2023) and the Canadian Centre of Substance Use and Addiction (2018) which highlight best practices related to drug checking services. These practices include:

- modifying community drug checking services to meet municipal needs and demands by
 - implementing services in neighbourhoods that provide a convenient, safe, and trustworthy space (e.g. option to use a mobile service), an episodic form of outreach (e.g. distributing drug testing strips) or pop-up sites targeted to specific subpopulations
 - ensuring strong partnerships with community service providers to support decisionmaking processes when addressing local challenges
 - expanding data analytic approaches to gain a perspective into the present toxic drug supply, (e.g. data can be used and shared with public health and other partners to respond to local risks)
 - developing partnerships with post-secondary institutions to support drug checking training, affirmatory testing, research projects and evaluations
 - conducting needs assessments to ensure sustainability and monitoring of drug checking services e.g. related to communications, stakeholder involvement, and mobilization of resources
- continuously engaging with peers with lived and living experience through
 - maintaining constant relationship building opportunities between people who use drugs and drug checking response staff
 - establishing advocacy groups and committees which include people who use drugs to guide implementation processes
 - utilizing guidance from people who use drugs to assist with the dissemination of key findings to the community, health care providers, and people who use drugs subpopulations
 - considering hiring people who use drugs (e.g. peers/experiential workers) as staff members to engage with others that normally do not access harm reduction programs

Naloxone administration and distribution

Naloxone programs are an important intervention to temporarily reverse the effects of an opioid poisoning in Canada (Health Canada, 2023b; CRISM, 2019; Moustaqim-Barrette et al., 2021). Many provinces and territories have ensured that naloxone kits are provided at various

locations—pharmacies, shelters, correctional facilities, addictions centres, health care clinics, and harm reduction sites—to ensure people at risk of experiencing an opioid poisoning or people at risk of witnessing an opioid poisoning can access naloxone (Health Canada, 2023b; CRISM, 2019). In Canada, all provinces and territories provide injectable naloxone kits to trained responders while Ontario, Quebec, and the Northwest Territories also distribute nasal sprays in take-home naloxone kits for the public (CRISM, 2019).

Nevertheless, an environmental scan by the Canadian Research Initiative on Substance Misuse (2019) shares various policy, operational, geographical, and knowledge barriers related to naloxone distribution. For example, drug criminalization was noted as one of the main policy and structural barriers related to naloxone distribution and administration practices. *The Good Samaritan Drug Overdose Act* ensures some legal protection of individuals who experience or witness an overdose and seek emergency help. If an individual or someone else calls 911 for help, the individuals present at the scene will not be charged with possession (Health Canada, 2021b). The scan states, however, that "there is still anecdotal evidence of individuals being stopped or arrested for simple possession or for carrying naloxone kits" which would make individuals apprehensive to seek medical assistance (CRISM, 2019, p. 17). Throughout the COVID-19 pandemic, Gomes and colleagues (2021) also reported a rise in acute toxicity deaths among people who use drugs without the use of naloxone by bystanders and first responders.

In addition, naloxone administration is even more complex due to the rise of acute drug toxicity deaths caused by benzodiazepines or xylazine laced opioids mixed within the drug supply causing prolonged sedative effects (CCSA & CCENDU, 2022; Moore, K. M., & Huyer, D., 2023). For example, poisonings from benzodiazepines (e.g. etizolam, bromazolam, and flubromazepam), and xylazine (known as horse tranquilizer) pose similar symptoms as an opioid (e.g. high-potency fentanyl and fentanyl analogues) poisoning, which complicates successful responses. Naloxone can reverse an opioid poisoning; however, it will not reverse a poisoning caused primarily by benzodiazepines or xylazine (Russell et al., 2023; Ontario Drug Policy Research Network, 2023; Gomes et al., 2023). Although, it is noted that administering naloxone is still recommended as an essential step given that these drugs "typically co-occur with opioids", additional harm reduction approaches are required in conjunction with naloxone to combat acute drug toxicity deaths resulting from the unregulated and volatile supply (CCSA & CCENDU, 2023, pg. 1; Moore, K. M., & Huyer, D., 2023; CRISM, 2019).

Numerous best practices have been identified and suggested to help mitigate barriers associated with naloxone distribution and administration related to drug poisonings and acute drug toxicity deaths (BCCDC, 2018; CRISM, 2019; Health Canada, 2023b; Moustaqim-Barrette et al., 2021; Wenger et al., 2022, Friesen et al., 2021; Iacono et al., 2023; BCCDC, 2018; Milaney et al., 2021; Bolinski et al., 2022; Gomes et al., 2022; Russell et al., 2019; BCCSU, 2022; CCSA & CCENDU, 2023; Scher et al., 2023). Best practices include:

- evaluating various aspects of the take home naloxone program
 - reviewing adequate naloxone dosage and potential adverse effects to address extremely potent synthetic opioids
 - understanding dose responses between intranasal naloxone and injectable naloxone
 - tracking naloxone kit expiration dates and the risks associated with using expired naloxone
 - expanding eligibility requirements to administer injectable naloxone
 - collecting strong monitoring and surveillance data
 - understanding the impacts of naloxone related to transportation and delivery systems in northern communities
 - identifying ideal storage of naloxone in various temperatures and how it can negatively impact naloxone medication
 - exploring mobile services that distribute naloxone kits to people who use drugs
 - recognizing the impacts of the Good Samaritan Drug Overdose Act
- improving accessibility and compulsory training for the administration and distribution of naloxone
 - ensuring needs-based distribution, adequate supply, no cost to obtain naloxone, and low-threshold services are continued within naloxone programs
 - enhancing naloxone distribution to all housing programs, healthcare, rural, northern, and First Nations communities, construction workers, law enforcement, peer support programs, and school settings (youth) to increase expansion of naloxone programming
 - establishing naloxone kit building events within the community and appropriate social services
 - addressing stigma in small communities when individuals obtain naloxone kits (e.g. privacy and confidentiality concerns at pharmacies or related clinics)
- implementing compulsory training and awareness about the toxic drug supply containing benzodiazepines and xylazine
 - increasing awareness of all of those involved in response efforts regarding naloxone administration and related poisoning symptoms corresponding to opioid-laced benzodiazepines (e.g. prolonged sedation) and xylazine toxicity (e.g. severe skin ulcers/infections and prolonged sedation)

- establishing educational campaigns with messages created by public health agencies in partnership with people who use drugs and subpopulations about unregulated benzodiazepines and xylazine contamination within drug supplies
- ensuring training efforts include information about the risks and harms associated with the use of opioids and benzodiazepines together (e.g. medical use, contaminated supply, or polysubstance use of benzodiazepines)

Outreach services

Various outreach interventions—episodic or site-specific outreach, peer outreach, or outreach by medical or social service providers—also help to reduce the harms and risks associated with drug toxicity (PHO, 2023a). Outreach services can include needle syringe programs, drug checking services, HIV/HCV testing, crisis support, and educational opportunities to name a few (Public Health Ontario, 2023a).

When considering best practices for outreach services (Public Health Ontario, 2023a; Gomes et al., 2021; McNeil et al., 2021), strategies include:

- ensuring ongoing collaboration with partner organizations to ensure timely services
- maintaining regular engagement with people who use drugs to understand their needs
- establishing relationship building opportunities to foster trust with people who use drugs
- ensuring proactive outreach with various subpopulations (e.g. younger women who use drugs)
- developing partnerships between safer supply programs and street-based outreach services

Additional outreach supports and opportunities, such as exploring how mobile and other lowbarrier care may be an option when delivering harm reduction programs and services, is important (Bolinski, 2022; Atkinson, 2023). Mobile services can be utilized to increase accessibility of overdose prevention services by delivering services amongst northern, rural, and First Nation communities (BCCDC, 2018). For example, the Northern Policy Institute (2022) noted how establishing mandated mobile crisis intervention teams in Northern Ontario would be a unique way to address the crisis in the North (Northern Policy Institute, 2022).

Non-clinical supports and wraparound services

When considering best practices for treatment, prevention, or harm reduction in relation to substance use and overdose prevention, comprehensive interventions that work across multiple levels of the social-ecological model (SEM) are more likely to be successful (Minnesota Department of Health, 2022). Literature describes the need for non-clinical supports and

wraparound services to target specific people who use drugs in order mitigate the harms and risks related to poisonings and acute drug toxicity deaths in Ontario. Numerous subpopulations were identified as key audiences for non-clinical support and wraparound services such as Indigenous populations, construction workers and other trades, people experiencing poverty and homelessness, youth, women, and people with a history of incarceration.

Services specific to Indigenous populations

A report by the Chiefs of Ontario and Ontario Drug Policy Research Network (2021) explains that "the rate of opioid-related deaths among First Nations people in 2019 was approximately four times higher than non-First Nations people. Furthermore, First Nations people living outside of First Nations communities and those aged 44 years and younger are even more impacted by rising rates of opioid poisonings, suggesting that additional supports and access to harm reduction services are required in these populations" (p. 29).

Indigenous Peoples with substance use disorders urgently require culturally appropriate and Indigenous-led best practices to reduce the harms and risks related to the toxic drug supply (PHAC, 2023; Friesen et al, 2021; Pauly et al., 2017; Lavalley et al., 2018; Maar et al., 2022; Taha, 2018; BCCDC, 2018; Leece et al., 2019; COO & Ontario Drug Policy Research Network, 2021; Mashford-Pringle et al., 2021; Marsh et al., 2018; Marsh et al., 2022; Public Health Ontario, 2023; Sansone et al., 2022). Identified best practices include:

- implementing holistic healing practices, harm reduction supports, policies, and traumainformed care that incorporate traditional Indigenous values and equitable frameworks with services located within First Nation communities and off reserve:
 - ensuring Indigenous-led treatment interventions to support the overall health and well-being of Indigenous Peoples who use drugs. Interventions should involve the physical, mental, emotional, and spiritual aspects of healing and address structural inequities and Indigenous determinants of health
 - incorporating traditional healing practices such as sharing circles, smudging, offerings of tobacco, family and land-based activities, ceremonial drumming, singing, teachings of the medicine wheel, two-eyed seeing approaches, and sweat lodge ceremonies guided by community Elders
 - offering inclusive care by ensuring culturally safe and anti-colonial approaches are led by Indigenous Peoples, specifically meaningful engagement opportunities with Indigenous Peoples with lived substance-use experience, (e.g. Indigenous engagement opportunities in planning processes, programming, and resources)

• recognizing the immediate need for First Nation communities to gain ownership, control, access, and possession (OCAP principles) of their own data to develop culturally informed and evidence-based processes related to OUD

Services specific to construction workers and other trades

Health Canada suggests that 30% to 50% of male trade workers experience higher acute drug toxicity deaths compared to other sectors of work (Health Canada, 2023f; PHAC, 2023). As a result, the Canadian Centre on Substance Use and Addiction (CCSA) and Health Canada's *Opioid Response Team Toolkit* explains: "it is common for people in these types of jobs to experience work-related injuries, stress, and pain. They may not have or know where to find the resources they need to take care of these issues." (p. 1). Additionally, workplace risks factors— shift work, long hours, injury, remote work, workplace culture, and stressful work conditions— may escalate the chances of trade workers using substances.

In British Columbia, more than half of people (55%) who experienced opioid-related toxicity deaths were employed in the trades and transport industry (British Columbia Coroners Service, 2018). In Ontario, Gomes and colleagues (2021) note that one-third of acute drug toxicity deaths involve individuals employed within the construction industry and deaths occurred primarily in private dwellings (Gomes et al., 2021). Moreover, injury and pain were associated with nearly 80% of construction workers specifically five years prior to workers experiencing an acute drug toxicity death (Gomes et al., 2022a).

This pattern may be due to the strenuous physical demands of their occupations along with the overall risk of injury and associated pain (Jalali et al., 2020; Farnan et al., 2023; Gomes et al., 2021, Gomes et al., 2022a). Various structural barriers to care were also noted, such as mental health challenges, stigma, lack of paid sick leave, impacts due to the sporadic nature of their work, and apprehension seeking treatment (e.g. opioid agonist therapy) due to stigma or potential consequences from their employer (Gomes et al., 2022a).

Consideration must be given to best practices that increase accessibility and reduce harms associated with the toxic drug supply related to construction workers and other trades (Gomes et al., 2022; Farnan et al., 2023; British Columbia Coroners Service, 2018; HWC, 2022; the Tailgate Tool Kit, 2023; Health Canada, 2023f; PHAC, 2023).

Example: The Tailgate Toolkit Project

Founded in British Columbia, <u>*The Tailgate Toolkit Project*</u> is a program that increases access to harm reduction services with targeted programming specific to construction workers. This toolkit includes introductory discussions about the toxic drug supply, supervisor training and regional resources (the Tailgate Tool Kit, 2023).

Additional best practices include:

- increasing accessibility to low-barrier treatment options and services:
 - implementing the use of buprenorphine-naloxone opioid agonist therapy treatment e.g. this form of therapy does not always require daily visits to receive treatment medication
 - exploring safer supply programs and harm reduction service options to meet specific needs of construction workers and other trades (e.g. hours of operation)
- enhancing onsite workplace culture (e.g. camps):
 - evaluating drug-related policies e.g. drug testing, impacts on job security, and written return to work policies (second chance programs)
 - mitigating policy issues associated with disclosing drug-related challenges within the workplace
 - relying consistent messaging to address stigma and stereotyping within in the workplace (e.g. fear of job loss)
 - implementing insurance coverage for non-opioid pain treatments, recovery treatments, referrals, counselling, and opioid prescription medications
- offering targeted training and educational opportunities:
 - creating educational materials about mental health, substance use, and signs of impairment tailored to construction workers and other trades
 - establishing learning opportunities that are specific to the subpopulation (e.g. age, trade, job history, childhood, gender, culture) with training modules
 - ensuring tailored naloxone distribution and training programs
 - encouraging a buddy system or peer mentorship program within the workplace
 - developing health and safety strategies for workers to promote injury prevention practices
 - developing pain management strategies to address structural barriers to care (e.g. rehabilitation)
- conducting research to address the lack of information regarding the reasons why people working in the construction industry in Ontario have higher rates of acute drug toxicity deaths:
 - engaging with policy makers, health providers, and trades groups to develop programs to prevent the risks and associated harms among this population

• determining recommendations about ways to increase connections to care and how to engage in local partnerships with construction and trades worker groups

Services specific to people experiencing poverty and homelessness

Milaney and team (2021) state how housing is "a crucial social determinant of health and a lack of housing, or being unstably housed, is associated with mental health concerns, physical health problems, trauma, greater mortality rates, and substance use disorders" (pg. 2).

Locally, people experiencing absolute homelessness and drug toxicity was evident throughout the COVID-19 pandemic. In Sudbury, there were 165 individuals and 69 homeless encampments placed across six different locations (Greater City of Sudbury Encampment and Action Plan, 2021). This highlights the need for additional housing and recovery-oriented models such as Housing First which was described as a way to improve the health and well-being of this subpopulation (Milaney et al., 2021).

Furthermore, a study about navigating post-eviction drug use in Vancouver's Downtown Eastside, indicates how housing, particularly eviction, can impact drug-related outcomes as well (McNeil, 2021). The study explains how the drug toxicity crisis has affected the structurally vulnerable, including "those rendered more vulnerable to suffering due to their marginal positions within social hierarchies stemming from the intersection of structural inequities (e.g. poverty, homelessness, drug criminalization) and discrimination (e.g. racism, sexism, classism)." (p. 2). Due to recent evictions, study participants were not able to use substances in a private setting resulting in people using substances in public spaces. These spatial practices were then obstructed resulting in rushed drug consumption to manage withdrawals while trying to avoid drug scene violence and policing which, in turn, increased susceptibility to overdoses, poisonings, and infections (McNeil, 2021).

The following best practices were noted as effective approaches to reduce the harms and risks related to people experiencing poverty and homelessness (BCCDC, 2018; CAMH, 2021; Milaney et al., 2021; McNeil, 2021; BCCDC, 2017). They include:

- ensuring services incorporate a harm reduction and pharmacological approach that can be included within housing programs:
 - establishing mandated naloxone training, peer/street-based outreach programs, supervised consumption services, and safer supply initiatives
 - exploring the option of harm reduction approaches within emergency shelters, supportive housing, and mobile outreach programs to ensure that responses are more adaptable for people experiencing various forms of homelessness, poverty, and substance use

- implementing ways to focus on structural barriers and upstream efforts with research, surveillance, and evaluation opportunities, for example searching other ways of supplying income assistance to people who use drugs, particularly those who experience homelessness or precarious housing, which will assist in preventing dramatic increases in fatal and nonfatal acute drug toxicity events around the same time
- focusing on housing solutions and policy responses:
 - ensuring rapid rehousing interventions
 - implementing anti-eviction policies
 - investing in affordable housing
 - building capacity of health and social service providers
 - allocating appropriate resources to relevant structural factors to lead to better health and social outcomes for this subpopulation

Services specific to youth

Based on findings, age is among one factor correlated with opioid-related deaths. Sources of evidence acknowledge that youth may be unfamiliar with community programs and services and may find it difficult connecting with these offerings such as harm reduction, treatment, and outreach services (Iacono et al., 2023; BCCDC, 2018; Speed et al., 2020; Russell et al., 2019).

For instance, rates of youth accessing treatment are decreasing including opioid agonist therapy (OAT) and residential treatment for opioid use disorder (OUD) (Iacono et al., 2023). As explained in the *Opioid Toxicity and Access to Treatment among Adolescents and Young Adults in Ontario* report (2023), "from Q2, 2014 to Q2, 2021, the rate of individuals receiving OAT decreased by more than half, while opioid toxicity ED visit rates more than quadrupled and deaths tripled among adolescents and young adults." (pg. 24). On the contrary, it was noted that some health providers may be apprehensive prescribing treatments to youth due to the lack of educational training materials and information associated with this population, particularly with opioid agonist therapy treatments (Iacono et al., 2023).

In addition to services tailored to youth treatment, harm reduction, and outreach, evidence shows that a number of protective factors have been identified as helping to prevent youth from engaging in substance use. These protective factors include strong parental or family engagement and relationships, parental monitoring and disapproval of substance use, school connectedness, and academic success (CDC, 2022). Such upstream primary prevention approaches, aimed at addressing the root causes of youth substance use to delay or prevent it, yield the largest impact on the health care system, the greatest return on investment, and offer a broader reach than approaches that focus solely on addressing concerns at the individual level (Cicci, Mongeon, Bennett & Bradshaw, 2023). Upstream prevention strategies support the reduction of

vulnerabilities and increase in the resilience of populations and individuals when they face emergencies and crises (Cicci et al., 2023).

Many best practices were identified to prevent or delay substance use among youth and to reduce harms and risks related to the toxic drug supply (Iacono et al., 2023; BCCDC, 2018; Speed et al., 2020; Russell et al., 2019; Nairen et al., 2022; Cicci et al., 2023). These include:

- establishing youth targeted and low-threshold services to address youth specific needs
 - developing drop-in centres or emergency shelters tailored to youth with wraparound services
 - accelerating connections to medical assessments, treatment, counselling, and peer support programs
 - increasing education about the risks of polysubstance use, e.g. impacts of high potency benzodiazepines and the use of cocaine and methamphetamine
 - establishing ways to address stigma and accessibility obstacles related to opioid agonist therapy and other services
 - ensuring naloxone training is established in schools and peer support programs
 - integrating youth in consultation sessions to better understand their needs, gaps, and demands to improve the effectiveness of youth programs and services
 - including mental health service provisions to support a continuum of care approach, e.g. safe and inclusive spaces
 - incorporating campaigns about youth using substances and perceptions around pharmaceutical treatment for opioid use disorder and harm reduction services
- developing upstream preventative measures to reduce the onset of substance use (and opioid use disorder) during early adolescence and to ensure harms and risks are reduced:
 - building resilience and protective factors as part of a comprehensive prevention approach including parental and family engagement, parental monitoring, school connectedness, and academic success
 - researching novel youth specialized interventions and treatments
 - researching the integration of family, peers, and partners in treatment and harm reduction interventions
 - researching the effects of supervised consumption policies amongst youth and other populations of people who use drugs, e.g. age restriction accessing services

Services specific to women

Prior to the pandemic, women who use drugs and gender-diverse persons were noted as a subpopulation that did not experience high drug toxicity rates compared to their gender counterparts. If women who use drugs did experience acute drug toxicity, it would most likely involve oxycodone, morphine, and hydromorphone with a mix of non-opioid prescription drugs such as benzodiazepines, antihistamines, and antidepressants (Canadian HIV/Aids Legal Network, 2020; Macleod et al., 2021).

A rapid review of the literature by Public Health Ontario (2022) shares how "women were also more likely than men to avoid harm reduction and treatment services due to fear of interaction with the child welfare system. Additionally, women who use opioids experienced gendered violence, including sexual, emotional, and physical assault, both outside and inside of harm reduction services. Further, opioid-related deaths were almost three times as likely to be deemed suicides in women compared to men" (pg. 2). Women, specifically racialized women, are also more at risk of encountering stigma along with the stereotyping associated with drug use mainly because of the detrimental label of being perceived an incapable caregiver (Austin et al., 2023; Thumath et al., 2021).

For example, the literature indicates that women who use drugs and experience child removal practices, particularly Indigenous women, have a higher risk of overdose (55%). Further, Indigenous women experience twice the odds of overdose compared to non-Indigenous women (Thumath et al., 2021). Given the patterns of avoidance of seeking treatment and accessing services, research into women who use drugs is limited and has concentrated mainly on outcomes related to parenting, pregnancy, and neonatal well-being (Macleod et al., 2021; Public Health Ontario, 2022).

Based on the available evidence, some best practices for women who use drugs were identified as ways to reduce harms and risks related to the toxic drug supply (Gomes et al., 2021; Public Health Ontario, 2022; Austin et al., 2023; Canadian HIV/Aids Legal Network, 2020; Thumath et al., 2021; Speed et al., 2020). These include:

- dedicating flexible outreach initiatives with enhanced social structures, training and strategic planning of harm reduction and treatment services:
 - including women-only hours of operation with access to sexual/reproductive services, hygiene, trauma-informed services, mental health supports, childcare options (e.g. accessible for women with children), culturally appropriate options of care, drug counselling, and supports that address the impacts of violence and homelessness
 - incorporating mobile outreach options to combat the risks associated with genderbased violence

- focusing on structural and societal elements to address gender inequalities such as promoting supportive spaces, and improving community initiatives, e.g. health promotion public policy
- engaging with women with lived experience to lead harm reduction services to challenge stigma and stereotyping
- recognizing how women who use drugs are more likely to experience an acute drug toxicity death related to a mix of opioids with antidepressants, benzodiazepines, antipsychotics, and antihistamines which can impact the type of harm reduction services required for this subpopulation
- developing research and policy work on the impacts of various systemic barriers faced by women who use drugs:
 - evaluating the impacts related to the increase of acute drug toxicity deaths specific to women who use drugs such as child removal practices, sex work, criminal justice involvement, and women living with HIV
 - exploring ways to address the structural barriers and social determinants of health related to opioid use and non-opioid drug toxicity amongst women including factors such as housing, poverty, stigma, mental health challenges, physical and sexual violence, racism, colonialism, lack of services, and repressive laws and policies
 - studying subpopulations of women who use opioids, such as ethnically diverse women, gender-diverse persons, Indigenous women, and women living in rural areas
 - evaluating pre-existing harm reduction service policies, (e.g. naloxone distribution or supervised consumption site policies) to ensure women are not being excluded from services if they are pregnant or have children with them

Services specific to people with a history of incarceration

Increasing our understanding of the risks associated with various subpopulations is important to target response strategies and upstream interventions (van Draanen et al., 2020). A recent study in B.C. found that people who have a history of incarceration are 4.1 times more likely to experience death from acute drug toxicity compared with people who do not have a history of incarceration (Gan et al., 2020; Gan et al., 2019). Another B.C. study found that most acute drug toxicity deaths occurred *more than two weeks* post release while non-fatal drug toxicity events occurred *within* the first two weeks of community integration (Kinner et al., 2021).

As such, literature sources explain how the rise in acute drug toxicity deaths in this group are particularly due to the reduction of drug use in prison which then impacts tolerance upon release (Butler et al., 2023; Kinner at al., 2021; Groot et al., 2016). Moreover, an Ontario study by

Butler and team (2023) notes that unstable supply, stigma, and the fact that people who use drugs "may have lost access to their trusted drug supplier" (p. 4) are contributing factors to consider.

Furthermore, an interesting finding explains that even though men experience higher rates of incarceration, acute drug toxicity deaths post release are higher amongst women compared to men in Ontario (Groot et al., 2016; Thumath et al., 2021; Butler et al., 2023). Numerous studies demonstrate how women in prison experience diverse barriers due to concurrent mental health and substance use disorders, suicide attempts, self-harm, and experiences with trauma along with a lack of adequate services and supportive environments (Butler et al., 2023, Office of the Provincial Health Officer, 2019; Groot et al., 2016).

The following best practices were identified as ways to mitigate harms related to fatal and nonfatal acute drug toxicity among people with a history of incarceration (Brinkley-Ruinstein et al., 2018; Groot et al., 2016; Butler et al., 2023; Kinner et al., 2020; Murphy et al., 2018). These practices include:

- increasing access to opioid use disorder treatment medications, safer supply prescribing, harm reduction strategies, substance-related educational opportunities, and naloxone distribution in prisons:
 - must be made accessible to this subpopulation during incarceration and community reintegration periods
 - must involve consistent planning and intervention pre-and post-release
- targeting structural factors with enhanced strategies to prevent untimely acute drug toxicity deaths
 - focusing on the highest-risk period of drug toxicity deaths (e.g. two weeks after release) to ensure evidence-based preventative measures and continuity of care are in place with a focus on health inequities, (e.g. housing, medical care, social supports, employment, food insecurity, and access to treatment services to address vulnerabilities upon release)
 - integrating gender-based care tailored to women in prison and post release
 - improving chronic pain management strategies, mental health, and case management opportunities to reduce risks of hospitalization, death, and re-incarceration
- enhancing data surveillance and monitoring mechanisms of this subpopulation to guide preventative and treatment opportunities within prisons and post release

Local services and supports

Locally, many community partners provide unique and coordinated services to help reduce the impacts of drug use or misuse in our community. Echoing the findings found in the literature, the following programs and services offer supports across Greater Sudbury and surrounding areas, including nearby Indigenous communities, to reduce harms from toxic drug use. Please note that while this is a comprehensive list, it is possible that other, lesser-known services exist beyond those listed below and, that individuals may choose to seek services outside of Greater Sudbury.

Treatment services

Opioid agonist therapy (OAT)

Opioid agonist therapy is a common treatment option to reduce the impacts related to opioid use disorders. Various medication assisted treatment clinics are available in the Sudbury area including <u>Ontario Addiction Treatment Centre (OATC) Sudbury, VitaHeal, Northwood</u> <u>Recovery, trueNorth Addiction Medicine Program</u> and <u>Recovery North</u>. Most clinics provide methadone treatment and suboxone treatment (e.g. buprenorphine/naloxone) along with two clinics that offers Sublocade treatment (e.g. injectable form of buprenorphine), benzodiazepine taper, stimulant replacement therapy, and Kadian Treatment (e.g. form of oral morphine). Additionally, some opioid agonist therapy (OAT) clinics have established wraparound services, providing access to services ranging from hepatitis C screening and treatment, addiction counselling, traditional First Nations counsellor support, Ontario Works Contact support, child protection services to the provision of safe use supplies, referrals, and naloxone kits.

Residential treatment programs

Residential treatment programs are limited in Greater Sudbury; however, <u>Monarch Recovery</u> <u>Services</u> provides numerous residential and rehabilitative treatment services, rent subsidy, case management, drop-in programs, and Indigenous aftercare programs specialized for women and men. Monarch Recovery Services include the following programs:

- Men's Aftercare: This five-bed abstinence-based program includes geared to income residential accommodations with staffing five days a week. The program incorporates rehabilitative services to support recovery and abstinence from alcohol and other drugs.
- Men's Day Treatment: This five-week harm reduction-based intensive is for clients aged 16 and older with substance use challenges. The program integrates an addiction counsellor,

group sessions, psychoeducational, and skill building activities related to coping mechanisms.

- Men's Recovery Home: This abstinence-based residential program includes 18 beds, 24/7 staffing, and stays for up to six months for individuals aged 16 and older. Clients must be detoxified from all substances for at least three days. Clients develop their own service plans with the commitment to sobriety throughout their daily life.
- Multifunction Beds Program WMS 2: This program has six beds to accommodate women and men who are aged 16 and older for a short-term withdrawal and stabilization stay. The program supports clients who are on a stable and adequate dose of opioid agonist therapy (OAT). The program does not accept clients who are experiencing acute withdrawal or those who have a pre-existing medical condition or psychiatric needs that exceed current capacity.
- Women's Treatment: This abstinence-based residential program includes a facility with 16 beds and full-time staffing. The five-week treatment program, for clients that are aged 16 and older, supports the goal of abstinence with group therapy, counselling, life skills, psychoeducational activities, and self-help meetings.
- Women's Aftercare: This abstinence-based residential program for clients aged 18 and older includes supportive housing accommodations with staffing five days a week. The program has two apartments, shared living spaces, and rent geared to income along with stays that may last four to eight months. An outpatient abstinence and harm reduction-based program for clients 16 and older is also included so those who live outside of the home can access services.
- Pregnancy/Parenting Outreach program: This harm reduction-based program includes community case management for women who are expecting and for parents that have children under the age of six. This program includes addiction assessment, in-home counselling, educational opportunities, and harm reduction approaches of treatment.
- Addiction Supportive Housing Program: This harm reduction-based program incorporates a rent subsidy for clients that are 18 and older. This program consists of addiction assessment, in-home counselling, educational opportunities, and harm reduction approaches to treatment.

Additionally, Canadian Mental Health Association's Harm Reduction Home Residential Program, called <u>Healing with Hope</u>, works to support individuals who are homeless or at risk of homelessness and who are also impacted by alcohol dependence. The program provides access to a managed alcohol program where individuals are supported with housing and addressing primary care and mental health needs.

Indigenous treatment services

While not located within Greater Sudbury proper, a number of local Indigenous treatment services apply Indigenous-based healing approaches for the treatment of mental health and addictions. According to the First Nations Health Authority, land-based treatment and healing takes place when Indigenous Peoples return or reconnect to the land while utilizing supports to relearn, revitalize, and reclaim their traditional wellness practices (First Nations Health Authority, 2023).

- <u>Gwekwaadziwin Miikan Youth Mental Health Addiction program</u>: This is a residential landbased treatment program aimed at addressing the needs of Indigenous youth and young adults (aged 19 and older) facing addiction and mental health issues. The program is located on Manitoulin Island and is a collaborative effort between six First Nations communities with local and provincial supports. This program connects youth and young adults on their journey towards recovery, wellness, and balance, while supporting their transition back into the community. The service incorporates land-based treatment, live-in treatment, and aftercare services with a focus on the emotional, physical, intellectual, and spiritual growth of healing. The program incorporates traditional teachings and therapeutic factors with educational opportunities, life skills, experiential knowledge, and care from an Indigenous perspective.
- <u>Ngwaagan Gamig Recovery Centre:</u> The Rainbow Lodge is situated in the community of Wikwemikong and offers a range of services rooted in the Seven Grandfather Teachings (wisdom, love, respect, bravery, honesty, humility, and truth).
 - Residential or Day Treatment Program: This addiction treatment program is a fourweek program for males and females aged 18 years and older. The service includes cognitive behavioural therapy (CBT), cultural teachings, and educational sessions while integrating the Seven Grandfather Teachings throughout program initiatives.
 - Out-Patient Treatment Program: This program serves individuals before and after their residential treatment program stay. It provides pre-treatment service, treatment readiness, transportation to detox and follow-up services, referrals to other facilities, aftercare planning, intake, and assessments.
 - Community engagement and awareness: The organization delivers multiple sessions to the community, including Elder group support, family member support groups, drug awareness and education, self-awareness and character strengths, the forgiveness journey, health promotion workshops, and cannabis education.
- <u>Benbowopka Treatment Centre</u>: This culturally based residential treatment centre serves community members across seven First Nation communities that struggle with substance use.

This program, located in Blind River and operated by the North Shore Tribal Council, focuses on abstinence and harm reduction. Cultural components include supports provided by community Elders, land-based activities, and learnings about the creation story, the stages of life, sacred medicines, and the Seven Grandfather Teachings.

Substance use services

Additional substance use and treatment services are provided within Greater Sudbury including the following:

- <u>Health Sciences North Withdrawal Management Services (including mobile option)</u>
- <u>Addiction Medicine Consult Service (AMCS)</u>
- Addictions Medicine Unit
- Outpatient addictions and gambling services
- <u>Rapid Access Addiction Medicine (RAAM) clinic</u>
- Safe Beds Program
- <u>Here2Help: A Community Resource</u> (from Canadian Mental Health Association)
- <u>24-hour Crisis Line:</u> 705.675.4760 or toll-free 1.877.841.1101
- Crisis Intervention Services

As well, Health Canada provides a list of Canada-wide resources and information for people who need help with substance use on their <u>Get help with substance use page</u> (Health Canada, 2023c).

Harm reduction services

Supervised consumption services

Supervised consumption sites (SCS) are places where people who use drugs can go to use their pre-obtained drugs in a safe, empathetic place, free of stigma and discrimination.

People who use drugs work with health care and harm reduction professionals to access education, sterile equipment, supervised consumption services, social services, and a rapid response in the event of an overdose. Since September 28, 2022, Réseau ACCESS Network has operated Sudbury's SCS, The Spot. Supervised consumption sites are proven to help reduce the harms associated with criminalized drug use and help empower people who use drugs to make decisions regarding their own care.

Drug checking

Drug checking increases client autonomy and self-determination by providing people who use drugs with increased knowledge about their supply. Harms related to adulterated drug supply can be mitigated by drug checking using testing strips and more advanced technology like spectrometry.

Recently Sudbury's supervised consumption site acquired a Raman spectrometer to supplement testing by strip. Individuals are counselled about the results of the test, whether to use the drugs if tainted or about the false sense of security a test can provide, given the lack of uniformity in drug distribution in a sample. Drug checking provides an opportunity to educate people who use drugs on the various adulterants and substances found locally as these adulterants are ever changing. Réseau ACCESS Network provides information about drug composition to Public Health Sudbury & Districts that is often used to issue drug alerts.

Supply distribution

Harm reduction programs provide harm reduction supplies and services to people who use drugs to reduce the risks of getting or passing on infectious diseases, like HIV and hepatitis C, and reduce the risks associated with using drugs. Agencies throughout Greater Sudbury distribute and deliver free supplies and services including, but not limited to, sterile needles, injection and inhalation equipment, information about safer drug use, information about safer sex, condoms and lube, community referrals to services, disposal containers for used needles and sharps, and naloxone. Locally, these organizations include, but are not limited to, Public Health Sudbury & Districts' Needle Syringe Program: The Point, Réseau ACCESS Network, the Ontario Aboriginal HIV AIDS Strategy (OAHAS), the Sudbury Action Centre for Youth (SACY), the Go-Give Project, N'Swakamok Native Friendship Centre, and Health Sciences North.

Distribution of naloxone

Naloxone is a medication that can temporality reverse the effects of an opioid overdose. Locally, naloxone is available through participating pharmacies, provincial jails, and the Ontario Naloxone Program (needle syringe programs, hepatitis C programs, consumption and treatment services, and participating community-based organizations).

Under <u>Bill 88</u>, employers must provide naloxone in the workplace if <u>certain</u> <u>circumstances</u> described in the *Occupational Health and Safety Act* apply. For a limited time, those employers can get <u>free naloxone training and nasal spray naloxone kits</u> through Ontario's Workplace Naloxone Program.

Other related services

Counselling and support: <u>Canadian Mental Health Association Sudbury/Manitoulin</u> and the <u>Sudbury Counselling Centre</u> provides supports for people experiencing mental illness.

Indigenous: N'Swakamok Native Friendship Centre, Aboriginal Peoples Alliance of Northern Ontario (APANO), Ontario Aboriginal HIV/AIDS Strategy and Shkagamik-Kwe Health Centre provide a variety of culturally respectful and sensitive programs and strategies for First Nations, Métis and Inuit peoples.

Medical: The <u>Sudbury Nurse Practitioner Centre</u> and the <u>City of Greater Sudbury Community</u> <u>Paramedicine Program</u> offer low-barrier services to a variety of populations. The <u>Sexual Health</u> <u>Clinic</u>, located within Public Health Sudbury & Districts' Elm Place site (the same location as The Point), also offers hepatitis B and C testing, hepatitis B vaccinations, anonymous HIV testing, and other services.

Poverty and homelessness: The <u>Off The Street Emergency Shelter</u> (OTS) program is a low barrier emergency shelter for people experiencing chronic homelessness, substance use disorders, and mental illness. As well, the Samaritan Centre (Elgin Street Mission, Corner Clinic and Blue Door Soup Kitchen) offers a wide range of services targeted at people experiencing poverty and homelessness.

Transitional Care: <u>Sudbury's Centre for Transitional Care, Canadian Mental Health Association</u> <u>Sudbury/Manitoulin Justice Program</u> and <u>Elizabeth Fry Society</u> offer transitional care, services, support and outreach to people leaving carceral settings.

Women: <u>Sudbury Cedar Place Women and Family Shelter, Safe Harbour House</u>, and the <u>YWCA</u> <u>Genevra House Shelter</u> offer services for women and children fleeing domestic violence. Also, the <u>Centre Victoria pour femmes</u> offers services for francophone women experiencing violence as well.

Youth Services: <u>Sudbury Action Centre for Youth</u> (SACY) offers a variety of programs for youth related to harm reduction and housing.

Canada-wide services: Health Canada shares a list of harm reduction and overdose prevention services on their <u>website</u>, including <u>National Overdose Response Service (NORS)</u>, <u>Overdose Intervention App</u>, as well as opioid overdose and naloxone awareness training through St. John's Ambulance – <u>Opioid Response Training</u>, Canadian Red Cross - <u>First Aid for Opioid Poisoning Emergencies</u>, and The Advanced Coronary Treatment (ACT) Foundation - <u>Opioid Overdose Response Training module</u>.

Outreach and wraparound services

Community mobilization

<u>Community Mobilization Sudbury (CMS)</u> is a partnership comprising of over 30 partner organizations with representation from diverse sectors such as health, children's services, policing, education, mental health and addictions, housing, and municipal services. One of the organization's key programs is the <u>Rapid Mobilization Table (RMT)</u>, which utilizes the expertise of representatives from partner agencies to collaboratively identify situations that place Sudbury residents at high risk of harm. All necessary partners then plan and participate in a timely meeting (twice per week), to coordinate responses and connect those at risk with the services and supports that can help.

Community outreach

Outreach services are designed to meet those in need where they are, rather than having people seek them out. Locally, services are provided by various harm reduction and volunteer-based organizations within the community including those provided by agencies within the homelessness network (<u>Réseau ACCESS Network</u>; <u>Sudbury Action Centre for Youth</u>; L'Association des jeunes de la rue's Community Outreach Team) and others such as the Go-Give Project and New Hope Outreach Services (the Samaritan Centre) to name a few.

<u>Réseau ACCESS Network, OAHAS, SACY</u> and <u>The Go-Give Project</u> all offer outreach programs that provide education and harm reduction services. These groups work in the community, on varying schedules, both on foot and by vehicle depending on the agency. Outreach workers provide safe injection/inhalation supplies, referrals to addiction treatment centres, testing services, HCV treatment, referrals for HIV treatment, support and counselling, advocacy, and accompaniment. Outreach also includes education to prevent harms of drug use, naloxone training and distribution, and distribution of safe supplies.

Outreach staff aid clients by ensuring individuals have access to essential services, sterile supplies, community resources, immediate first aid, health support, and transportation including clothing, blankets, and supplies for people who use drugs in need.

Mobile crisis response

Greater Sudbury's <u>Mobile Crisis Rapid Response Team (MCRRT)</u> is a program developed in partnership with Greater Sudbury Police Service, Health Sciences North's Emergency Department (utilizing their crisis support workers), and Greater Sudbury Paramedic Services. The intent of the team is to respond to mental health and addictions emergencies where trained crisis workers, who are able to help de-escalate crisis situations, provide an on-site assessment and connect individuals to community services and supports. This team provides various health services such as health and wellness checks; mental health and addiction supports are provided in social settings (e.g. housing buildings, and shelters) to best meet the needs of individuals.

Prevention services

Prevention programs and services can range from upstream to downstream. Upstream initiatives often follow a primary prevention approach to address underlying and root causes of disease and mortality, intervening before health effects or behaviours occur. Downstream initiatives follow more of a secondary or tertiary prevention approach such as addressing early detection, intervention, and management (Health Promotion Ontario, 2023). Downstream approaches are most often developed for individuals and individual health outcomes. Upstream initiatives that have the potential to impact an entire community (Minnesota Department of Health, 2022). While downstream interventions receive a lot of attention and focus, upstream and primary prevention programs have been shown to prevent substance use and reduce misuse and related harms.

As previously noted, interventions that work across different levels of the socioecological model of health (SEM), including individual, interpersonal, community, and societal levels, are more likely to be successful. Locally, many health promotion and prevention programs involve comprehensive approaches, tailored to different audiences, to educate and develop skills, strengthen policy, create supportive environments, and foster collective action to support the prevention of drug use and its impacts among the populations served. Programs and services that support the development of strengths and protective factors include a healthy communities approach and initiatives that work to create systemic changes, such as policy change or development. The following programs and services provide a snapshot of local prevention efforts available to the Greater Sudbury community.

Healthy communities approach

<u>Public Health Sudbury & Districts</u> (Public Health) implements a healthy communities approach to local health promotion programming. As part of this comprehensive approach, Public Health collaborates with various agencies, partnerships, and committees to address underlying issues and identify solutions across the lifespan.

Public Health's healthy growth and development programming includes initiatives that provide education and awareness to service providers, parents, and caregivers on topics including healthy pregnancies, positive parenting, and preparation for parenting. Education and awareness initiatives, partner engagement, and environmental supports help to prevent adverse childhood experiences (National Scientific Council on the Developing Child, 2020). This work enhances the understanding and importance of creating a nurturing home environment, which acts as a protective factor for children and youth against the use of alcohol and other substances later in life (Howard & Brooks-Gunn, 2009; National Scientific Council on the Developing Child, 2020).

As part of the comprehensive school health approach, which contributes to a healthy community, Public Health aims to help children and youth build on strengths and develop skills that encourage the development of positive and constructive behaviours (such as maintaining healthy relationships with peers and adults, demonstrating pro-social behaviour, and building resiliency).

Public Health staff work with school communities, primarily at the school board and adult influencer level to bolster protective factors and skills to address the social determinants of health and to guard against risk-taking behaviours, including using alcohol, tobacco, cannabis, and illegal drugs. This is done through workshops and training sessions, policy reviews or development, and ongoing partnership engagement.

In the community, Public Health applies a lens of asset-based community development (ABCD) to mobilize local communities and link micro-assets to the macro-environment (Nurture Development, 2018). As such, Public Health staff collaborate with various sectors to create conditions and environments that support healthy living behaviours and that identify and mobilize existing assets. For example, committee and coalition work on the topic of physical activity helps create environments in our community that support access to affordable recreation or active transportation, which in turn can act as protective factors against substance use and prevent or reduce the burden of mental illness.

Additionally, collaborations include work that helps to build healthy built and natural environments such as participation in local processes for developing or updating bylaws, policies, and standards on topics such as housing conditions, property standards, and environmental health hazards. Collective efforts through community committee, coalition, and advisory panels also support citizens to age healthily and safely, while fully participating in their community.

Parenting programs

Parenting programs help families build strong and healthy relationships. Locally, the Parenting Services Advisory Committee, made up of children's health, education, and social service providers, works to offer families in the Sudbury and Manitoulin districts free, high-quality parenting programs and individualized support and advice (PSAC, 2023). The collaborative website <u>parenting4me.com</u> provides a description of the parenting programs available throughout Sudbury including <u>Bounce Back and Thrive!</u>, <u>H.E.L.P. Toolbox</u>, <u>Nobody's Perfect</u>, <u>Positive</u> <u>Discipline in Everyday Parenting</u>, <u>Triple P</u>, <u>S.N.A.P.</u>, and <u>EarlyON Centres</u>.

Healthy Babies Healthy Children

The <u>Healthy Babies Healthy Children (HBHC) program</u>, funded by the Ministry of Children, Community and Social Services, and run locally by Public Health, provides high-risk families with voluntary in-home visits during the prenatal period and up to six years of age.

Using targeted approaches, the HBHC program works to optimize healthy growth and development of children and reduce health inequities for families receiving services. Program components include provision of information and resources on topics such as having a healthy pregnancy and birth, how to help children grow and develop, breastfeeding, food and healthy nutrition, and services available in the community (MCCSS, 2023). The program also offers service and system navigation support, early identification and intervention screening, and referral to and from community services.

Mental health literacy and education

Increasing mental health literacy is about more than providing people with information; it is about developing skills and empowering individuals with information so they can promote mental health and make informed decisions (Canadian Alliance on Mental Health and Mental Illness, 2008).

<u>Public Health Sudbury & Districts</u> incorporates mental health literacy initiatives as part of mental health promotion work. Programming enhances local workforce competency to effectively consider their employees' mental health alongside physical health as an integral component of overall well-being. Employers (and employees) are taught and encouraged to recognize mental health or substance use challenges, learn the risk factors of mental health and substance use issues, encourage people to seek help, and know where to get information about mental health and substance use services. Programming provides agencies with these tools using anti-stigma education and a trauma-informed lens, focusing on the use of language. Public Health also incorporates mental health literacy in healthy growth and development programming to encourage people to learn how to support themselves; foster strength-based resiliency and a growth mindset; build relationships for the development of mental health, empowerment, and personal success; and foster well-being.

<u>Canadian Mental Health Association Sudbury/Manitoulin (CMHA-S/M)</u> offers various mental health skill building and educational opportunities incorporating both upstream and downstream prevention approaches for clients, community members, and partners. Clinical client-centred programs include case management supports that help with living, working, learning, or social needs. Case managers connect with clients at their home, community, virtually, or at the office. Intake services also help clients while providing information such as a brief service, family support, and referrals to community-based services and programs.

CMHA also provides educational opportunities and workshops to partners and community members to promote positive mental health and improve mental health literacy. Local programs include:

- <u>Mental health education</u>: This no-cost service provides learning opportunities to build important mental health skills and is accessible to all community members. It includes community and closed group sessions.
- <u>Certificate trainings</u>: The CMHA-S/M site delivers three valuable certificate training sessions including <u>safeTALK</u>: <u>Suicide Alertness for Everyone</u>, <u>Mental Health First Aid</u>, and <u>ASIST Applied Suicide Intervention Skills Training</u>.
- <u>Psychological First Aid Pocket Guide:</u> This online resource incorporates information about psychological first aid including how to apply it to care for others and how to develop self-care plans.
- <u>Find Help</u>: This resource includes information to inform local service providers about local crisis intervention services, helplines, and other mental health supportive programming options.

National <u>mental health support</u> services from CMHA also exist to provide mental health tips and information specific to mental health challenges. Sample topics in these support services include coping with loneliness, feeling angry, grieving, and stress; facts about mental health and mental illness, getting help, mental health for life, social support, and mindfulness; and opioid use disorder: beyond stigma, overdose prevention, and understanding substance use.

Growing demand and gaps in services

While harm reduction, and local treatment services are available in Greater Sudbury, there remain unmet needs that directly support people who use drugs. Many individuals with lived or living experience, as well as local service providers, have identified gaps or difficulty accessing available services. Based on the review of contributing factors for drug use and toxicity, best practices to reduce harms, and a scan of existing local services, a growing demand for service was identified as an ongoing and emerging local need. While the following list is by no means indicative of all identified needs, trends and gaps are outlined below to further inform discussion.

Harm reduction supplies

While the number of needles distributed decreased in 2022 in comparison to 2019, local use of the needle syringe program and distribution of harm reduction supplies has continued and the demand for foil has increased dramatically in comparison to 2019 and 2020. As shared in the *Drug use proxy data* section of this report, thus far in 2023, over 460 000 syringes and 661 296

foil kits were distributed (Public Health Sudbury & Districts, 2023). Since the pandemic, the landscape of drug use has changed with increased practices of inhalation. With this demonstrated need, additional supports and increased access to local needle syringe programs or alternative harm reduction supplies should be explored.

Supervised consumption sites

On September 28, 2022, the local supervised consumption site, The Spot/La Place/Minoogawbi, opened its doors thanks to funding provided by the City of Greater Sudbury, as well as additional support from Vale and Wheaton Precious Metals. Since opening in the fall of 2022, The Spot, has supported more than 400 local residents safely consume substances (Health Canada, 2023d). In addition to the demand for services, local data also describes a rapidly changing consumption culture, with demand for inhalation supplies outpacing injection supplies thus far.

The Spot is currently designated to allow people who use drugs to consume substances via oral, nasal, or injection routes; inhalation support services are not currently available. Traditional approaches that supported individuals who consume or inject substances do not meet the needs of those who inhale substances. If consumption practices are a proxy indication of the types of preferred substances people who use drugs consume, there is a concern that The Spot will only support a small percentage of the population it was established to help.

While an application for provincial funding was submitted over two years ago to the Ministry of Addictions and Mental Health, The Spot has yet to receive provincial funding and is currently operating with less than the initial amount requested of the province. As well, if The Spot does not receive provincial funding before December 31, 2023, the reality of closure and termination of the much-needed service is imminent. Additional, immediate, and tailored services to reduce negative outcomes associated with non-injection drug routes are needed (Giliauskas, 2022; Ali et al., 2023; PHO, 2023).

Naloxone kits and training

Over the last few years, there has also been an increase in demand for naloxone products as well as for training among community providers. A total of 33 community agencies have received training on the administration of naloxone reflecting the local need for this service. With the growing number of providers and availability of naloxone kits, it important to ensure people are aware of the services and which agencies are trained.

Residential treatment programs

While residential treatment programs are located throughout Ontario—including Sault Ste. Marie, Blind River, Hurst, and Moosonee—there are no accredited residential treatment programs located in Greater Sudbury (DRS, 2023). Within Public Health's service area, there is one residential treatment program located at Ngwaagan Gamig Recovery Centre Inc. (Rainbow Lodge) in Wikwemikong on Manitoulin Island. Based on best practices and growing demand, additional residential treatment programs or complementary treatment programs must be considered.

Housing supports

As identified throughout this report, safe, available, and affordable housing (as an interconnected or interrelated indicator of poverty and socioeconomic status) is a gap in the local community. Previously, shelters such as The Sudbury Cedar Place Women and Family Shelter, would operate at roughly 56% capacity throughout the year (in 2021). Since the start of 2023, however, occupancy has remained consistent at 98% (CBC[1], 2023). Experts indicate that this is directly related to the lack of available and affordable housing for vulnerable populations (CBC[1], 2023). Securing safe and affordable housing for vulnerable populations, such as women and children escaping violent situations, new immigrants, youth and students, those recently incarcerated, and those who are precariously employed, is a key protective factor against illhealth, including mental health and substance use.

Equitable access to health services

Equitable and timely access to high-quality and appropriate health care services is an ongoing local pressure when seeking services and supports. As outlined in the literature, barriers to accessing treatment and health care options include factors such as lengthy wait times for treatment, a lack of post treatment supports, and the influence of Christian-based models within treatment facilities (Lavalley et al., 2020). These challenges are further exacerbated by the self-stigma commonly experienced by people who use drugs and the social and structural stigma and discrimination they face through local programs and services.

Locally, culturally safe and appropriate services are either not easily identifiable or do not exist to the extent reflective of local population needs. Developing approaches to address current gaps in local service provisions is critical. This includes tailored services for youth, women, people with a history of incarceration, construction and trades workers, racialized groups, people who use substances recreationally, people who use stimulants and benzodiazepines, people who inhale substances and people with concurrent disorders (Iacono et al., 2023, Gomes et al., 2021, Leece et al., 2019; BCCDC, 2017; Giliauskas et al., 2022; Thumath et al., 2021; Speed et al., 2020; Lavalley et al., 2018).

Further, data limitations, such as hospital administrative data used to determine admissions and visits, do not provide information on race and occupation. Without a fulsome picture of the population served, it is challenging to appropriately assess and tailor services.

Anti-stigma initiatives

Self stigma (internalizing stigma, fear of being criticized), social stigma (community stereotypes, stigmatizing language,) and structural stigma (policies that increase stigma, restricts the rights and opportunities of people who use drugs) are all factors that contribute to drug use, affect willingness to access services, and perpetuate inequitable outcomes among people who use drugs (Livingston, 2020; Public Health Ontario, 2020; BCCSU, 2022; CAPUD, 2019; Pauly et al., 2017).

While many local programs work to address self stigma or social stigma, societal and systemic stigma remains a barrier in the provision and access of services. Consideration must be given to how providers can work to further address individual, community, and systemic stigma through local programs and services.

Wraparound services

Providing appropriate wraparound services is also a challenge. Individuals living in northern and rural areas experience disproportionate barriers to accessing mental health programs and services compared to those living in Southern Ontario (Leary et al., 2023; Morin et al., 2020; Russell et al., 2019). A shortage of trained professionals (including crisis workers, counsellors, psychologists, and psychiatrists), long wait times (often exceeding a year to access services), a lack of 24-hour crisis services, and fragmented and disconnected mental health and addictions services significantly reduce successful treatment outcomes (Livingston, 2020; Leary et al., 2023; Morin et al., 2020; Russell et al., 2019; HQO, 2018; Taha, 2018). A comprehensive whole-of-society approach is critical to facilitate increased access to appropriate care.

Conclusion

Despite best efforts to address the current crisis, rates of drug toxicity and mortality remain concerning locally, provincially, and nationally. Best practices proven to reduce harms and risks from toxic drug use are multi-pronged and should consider treatment programs such as opioid agonist therapy, harm reduction strategies and models such as supervised consumption sites and naloxone programs, non-clinical wraparound services and supports, and upstream prevention approaches to leverage individual and community strengths. Demographic, societal, and structural factors contributing to illicit drug use and the toxic drug supply must also be examined with a local lens to address systemic root causes that contribute to local drug toxicity.

Moving forward, collaboration and collective action will be critical to enact a successful community response. *The Greater Sudbury Summit on Toxic Drugs* will provide an excellent starting point for local leaders, from diverse sectors, to come together to begin the work of addressing the toxic drug crisis in Greater Sudbury. Open and frequent communication across all sectors will be crucial to identify emerging local pressures, determine the applicability of best practices and strategies, and brainstorm short- and long-term solutions to meet ongoing and future community needs.

Additionally, as this is an evolving issue, it will be important to continue to monitor, review, and share evidence of all types as it becomes available to ensure effective and informed solutions. Only by learning and working together can there be processes, solutions, and structures to mitigate harms and respond to the unique challenges Northern Ontario faces in this escalating toxic drug crisis.

Appendix A

^{1908–2022} Drug Policy Timeline



phsd.ca 🖬 🎔 @PublicHealthSD

										ED Visits	
	1911-1960				1998 UN General Assembly Special Session	2012 Marijuana	2017 Good Samaritan Drug	2019			
	Amendments are made to the Opium and Narcotic Drugs Act, adding 15		1974 Bill 5-19 is	1988	on Drugs released position statement:	for Medical Purposes Regulations — removed	Overdose Act — protection from	iOAT approved	as		
	substances including Cannabis. Further offences were added such as possession of drug use	Canada signs the	introduced to remove cannabis from	Canada signs the UN	"we believe that the global war	need for authorized cannabis possession	conviction under the CDSA when calling	treatment for OUD, diacetyl- morphine			
1908	equipment and selling to a minor. Enforcement authority increased,	on Psychotropic	the Narcotic Control Act to the Food and Drugs Act.	Convention against Illicit Narcotic Drugs and	on drugs is now causing more harm than drug	with health care provider support,	emergency services for a drug overdose.	added for Urgent Pu Health ne	blic		
The Opium Act is signed.	including searches without restrictions or warrants.		The bill did not pass.	Psychotropic Substances.	abuse itself".	allowing patients to grow their own	overdose.				
1910					1970	cannabis.			2000		
	1961			1960			1	990	2020		
1911	Narcotic Control Act enacted, raising the	1973	1987 Canada's	1996		20		C	ovid-19 nd CDSA		
Opium Act amended to the Opium and Narcotic Drugs Act.	maximum sentence from 14 years to 25 years despite recognizing substance use as a public health	Le Dain Commissio — inquiry into the non-medical use of drugs — final report states the		Drugs and Substances Act —	2007 National A Drug Strate harm redu	Drugs nti-Subst	and Cannab egy – cann	bis Act nabis is h	xemptions iven to areas equiring arm eduction	2010	
Drugs Act.	issue during the same time. Canada signs the Single Convention on Narcotic Drugs —	harms caused by criminalization of drugs were greater than the	prevention, treatment, and harm reduction.		removed a a pillar in drug policy and instea	reduc reinst	tion is the CD tated allowin tillar. produce	SA, s ng for M ulation, n tion, p	ervices. Iultiple risk nitigating rescribing		
	requiring possession of controlled substances to be a punishable offence.	harms associated with substances. Recommends cannabis be removed from the		and use. Dru schedules were mergeo to become the Drug and	ig minimum sentencing investmen enforceme	s in nt	distrib and sa adults.	le to n	uidelines eleased.		
		Narcotic Control Act.		Substances Act.	a						•

95

Drug Toxicity Leadership Summit

References

Ali, F., Russell, C., Kaura, A., Pfeil, R., Leslie, P., Hopkins, S., Buckley, L., & Wells, S. (2023). Preliminary Assessment of Sudbury Ontario's First Supervised Consumption Service ('The Spot'): Final Report.

Alsabbagh, M.W., Cooke, M., Elliott, S.J., Chang, F., Shah, N., & Ghobrial, M. (2022). Stepping up to the Canadian opioid crisis: a longitudinal analysis of the correlation between socioeconomic status and population rates of opioid-related mortality, hospitalization and emergency department visits (2000–2017). *Health Promotion and Chronic Disease Prevention in Canada*, *42*(6), 229-237. https://doi.org/10.24095/hpcdp.42.6.01

Atkinson, K. (2023, March). Parkdale Queen West Community Health Centre Safer Opioid Supply Program Evaluation Report. <u>https://pqwchc.org/programs-services/harm-reduction/safer-opioid-supply-sos-program/</u>

Austin, T., Lavalley, J., Parusel, S. et al. (2023). Women who use drugs: engagement in practices of harm reduction care. *Harm Reduction Journal*, 20(49). <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/s12954-023-00775-0</u>

Banerjee, S., & Wright, M.D. (2020). Injectable opioid agonist treatment for patients with opioid dependence: a review of clinical and cost-effectiveness. Ottawa, ON: Canadian Agency for Drugs and Technologies in Health. <u>https://europepmc.org/article/nbk/nbk564232</u>

Bharat, C., Larney, S., Barbieri, S., Dobbins, T., Jones, N.R., Hickman, M., et al. (2021). The effect of person, treatment and prescriber characteristics on retention in opioid agonist treatment: a 15-year retrospective cohort study. *Addiction*, *11*: 3139–3152.

Bolinski, R.S., Walters, S., Salisbury-Afshar, E., Ouellet, L.J., Jenkins, W.D., Almirol, E., Van Ham, B., Fletcher, S., Johnson, C., Schneider, J.A., Ompad, D., & Pho, M.T. (2022). The Impact of the COVID-19 Pandemic on Drug Use Behaviors, Fentanyl Exposure, and Harm Reduction Service Support among People Who Use Drugs in Rural Settings. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health, 19*(4), 2230. doi: 10.3390/ijerph19042230. PMID: 35206421; PMCID: PMC8872091.

Boyd, S., & Norton, A. (2019). Addiction and Heroin-Assisted Treatment: Legal Discourse and Drug Reform. *Contemporary Drug Problems*, *46*(3), 265–281. https://doi.org/10.1177/0091450919856635

Bragazzi, N.L., Beamish, D., Kong, J.D., & Wu, J. (2021). Illicit drug use in Canada and implications for suicidal behaviors, and household food insecurity: Findings from a large, nationally representative survey. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, *18*(12), 6425.

Brinkley-Rubinstein, L., Macmadu, A., Marshall, B.D.L., Heise, A., Ranapurwala S.I., Rich J.D., Green T.C. Risk of fentanyl-involved overdose among those with past year incarceration: findings from a recent outbreak in 2014 and 2015. Drug Alcohol Depend. 2018;185:189–191.

British Columbia Centre on Substance Use (BCCSU). (2022a). Drug Checking Implementation Guide: Lessons learned from a British Columbia drug checking project. Vancouver, BC: BCCSU.<u>https://drugcheckingbc.ca/wpcontent/uploads/sites/2/2022/06/BCCSU_Drug_Checking_</u> Implementation_Guide.pdf

British Columbia Centre on Substance Use and B.C. Ministry of Health. (2017, June 5). A Guideline for the Clinical Management of Opioid Use Disorder. <u>http://www.bccsu.ca/care-guidance-publications/</u>

British Columbia Centre on Substance Use. (2022). Opioid use disorder: practice update. https://www.bccsu.ca/wp-content/uploads/2022/02/Opioid-Use-Disorder-Practice-Update-February-2022.pdf

British Columbia Centre on Substance Use. (2019). Heroin compassion clubs. Vancouver, BC: British Columbia Centre on Substance Use. <u>https://www.bccsu.ca/wp-</u> content/uploads/2019/02/Report-Heroin-Compassion-Clubs.pdf

British Columbia Ministry of Mental Health and Addictions. (2020). BC Government News Release. New public health order to help slow B.C.'s overdose crisis. https://archive.news.gov.bc.ca/releases/news_releases_2017-2021/2020MMHA0051-001754.htm.

British Columbia Ministry of Mental Health and Addictions. Construction Industry Roundtable on the Opioid Overdose Crisis –August 27, 2018.

https://www2.gov.bc.ca/assets/gov/health/managing-your-health/mental-health-substanceuse/report-construction-industry-roundtable.pdf

British Columbia Overdose Action Exchange II. (August 2017). BC Centre for Disease Control. <u>http://www.bccdc.ca/resource-gallery/Documents/bccdc-overdose-action-screen.pdf</u>

British Columbia Overdose Action Exchange. (October 2018). <u>http://www.bccdc.ca/resource-gallery/Documents/Educational%20Materials/Epid/Other/ODAX_meetingreport_2018.pdf</u>

Broadhead, R.S., Heckathorn, D.D., Weakliem, D.L., Anthony, D.L., Madray, H., Mills, R.J., Hughes, J. (1998). Harnessing peer networks as an instrument for AIDS prevention: results from a peer-driven intervention. Public Health Rep. (Suppl 1):42-57. PMID: 9722809; PMCID: PMC1307726.

Bromley, L., Kahan, M., Regenstreif, L., Srivastava, A., Wyman, J. (2021). Methadone treatment for people who use fentanyl: Recommendations. Toronto, ON.

Bruneau, J., Ahamad, K., Goyer, M-È., et al. (2018). Management of opioid use disorders: a national clinical practice guideline. *Canadian Medical Association Journal, 190*, 247–57. Management of opioid use disorders: a national clinical practice guideline | CMAJ

Butler, A., Croxford, R., Bodkin, C., Akbari, H., Bayoumi, A.M., Bondy, S.J., Guenter, D., McLeod, K.E., Gomes, T., Kanagalingam, T., Kiefer, L.A., Orkin, A.M., Owusu-Bempah, A., Regenstreif, L., & Kouyoumdjian, F. (2023). Burden of opioid toxicity death in the fentanyl-dominant era for people who experience incarceration in Ontario, Canada, 2015-2020: a whole population retrospective cohort study. *British Medical Journal Open, 13*(5), e071867. doi: 10.1136/bmjopen-2023-071867. PMID: 37164452; PMCID: PMC10186413.

Canada, Parliament. Debates of the Senate. 22nd Parl, 2nd Sess, Vol 1 (1955 Jun 23). pp. 690-700; http://parl.canadiana.ca/view/oop.debates SOC2202 01/715?r=0&s=2.

Canadian Alliance on Mental Health and Mental Illness. (2008). National Integrated Framework for Enhancing Mental Health Literacy in Canada.

https://mdsc.ca/documents/Publications/CAMIMH%20National%20Integrated%20Framework% 20for%20Mental%20Health%20Literacy.pdf

Canadian Association for Drugs and Technologies in Health. (2016). Buprenorphine/Naloxone Versus Methadone for the Treatment of Opioid Dependence: A Review of Comparative Clinical Effectiveness Ottawa (ON): Cost-Effectiveness and Guidelines. Ottawa, Canada: Canadian Agency for Drugs and Technologies in Health.

Canadian Association of People who Use Drugs. (2019).Safe supply concept document. https://vancouver.ca/files/cov/capud-safe-supply-concept-document.pdf

Canadian Centre on Substance Use and Addiction & Canadian Community Epidemiology Network on Drug Use. (2022). Xylazine [CCENDU Bulletin]. Ottawa, Ont.: Canadian Centre on Substance Use and Addiction.

Canadian Centre on Substance Use and Addiction & Canadian Community Epidemiology Network on Drug Use (2022). An Update on Xylazine in the Unregulated Drug Supply: Harms and Public Health Responses in Canada and the United States [CCENDU Bulletin] Ottawa, Ont.: Canadian Centre on Substance Use and Addiction. <u>https://www.ccsa.ca/sites/default/files/2023-</u>07/CCENDU-bulletin-update-on-Xylazine-in-the-unregulated-drug-supply-en.pdf

Canadian Centre on Substance Use and Addiction. (2018). Decriminalization: Options and Evidence [Policy Brief]. <u>https://www.ccsa.ca/decriminalization-options-and-evidence-policy-brief</u>

Canadian Centre on Substance Use and Addiction. (2022). Substance Use and the Workplace: Supporting Employers and Employees in the Trades Toolkit. Ottawa, Ont.: Canadian Centre on Substance Use and Addiction. <u>https://www.ccsa.ca/sites/default/files/2022-09/CCSA-Substance-Use-Workplace-Employees-Trades-Toolkit-2022-en.pdf</u>

Canadian Centre on Substance Use and Addiction. (2020). Submission to Health Canada's Consultation to Inform Proposed New Regulations for Supervised Consumption Sites and Services. <u>https://www.ccsa.ca/sites/default/files/2020-11/CCSA-Submission-Proposed-Regulations-Supervised-Consumption-Sites-Services-Brief-2020-en.pdf</u>

Canadian Federation of Medical Students. (2022, April). The Overdose Crisis CFMS Position Paper. https://www.cfms.org/what-we-do/advocacy/position-papers. https://www.cfms.org/files/position-papers/SGM 2022 Overdose%20Crisis.pdf

Canadian HIV/AIDS Legal Network. (2020). Gendering the scene: women, gender-diverse people, and harm reduction in Canada - full report [Internet]. Toronto, ON: Canadian HIV/AIDS Legal Network. <u>http://www.aidslaw.ca/site/gendering-the-scene-women-gender-diverse-people-and-harm-reduction-in-canada-full-report/?lang=en</u>

Carriere, G. (2019 revised). Social and economic characteristics of those experiencing hospitalizations due to opioid poisonings. <u>https://www150.statcan.gc.ca/n1/pub/82-003-x/2018010/article/00002-eng.htm</u>

Casey House. (2022). Casey House opens first indoor supervised inhalation space for substance use. Toronto, ON: Casey House. <u>https://caseyhouse.ca/commentary/casey-house-opens-first-indoor-supervised-inhalation-space-for-substance-use/</u>

Center for Disease Control. (2020, September). Division of Adolescent and School Health, National Center for HIV/AIDS, Viral Hepatitis, STD, and TB Prevention. Youth Risk Behavior Survey Data Summary & Trends Report, 2009–2019 [PDF – 31 MB]. Atlanta, GA: U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, Office of Infectious Diseases, NCHHSTP.

Center for Disease Control. (2022a, February). Polysubstance Use Facts. <u>https://www.cdc.gov/stopoverdose/polysubstance-use/index.html</u>

Center for Disease Control. (2022b, September). High-Risk Substance Use Among Youth. Adolescent and School Health. <u>https://www.cdc.gov/healthyyouth/substance-use/index.htm#:~:text=Risk%20Factors%20for%20High%2DRisk%20Substance%20Use&text=Poor%20parental%20monitoring,delinquent%20or%20substance%20using%20peers</u>

Centre for Addiction and Mental Health. (2020). COVID-19 Opioid Agonist Treatment Guidance. <u>https://www.camh.ca//-/media/files/covid-19-modifications-to-opioid-agonist-</u> <u>treatment-delivery-pdf.pdf?la=en&hash=261C3637119447097629A014996C3C422AD5DB05</u>

Centre for Addiction and Mental Health. (2021a, May). Opioid Agonist Therapy: A Synthesis of Canadian Guidelines for Treating Opioid Use Disorder. <u>www.camh.ca</u>

Centre for Addiction and Mental Health. (2021b, September). Statement on the decriminalization of substance use. <u>https://www.camh.ca/-/media/files/pdfs---public-policy-submissions/camh-statement-on-decriminalization-sep2021-pdf.pdf</u>

Chiefs of Ontario and Ontario Drug Policy Research Network. (2021). Opioid Use, Related Harms, and Access to Treatment among First Nations in Ontario, 2013-2019. Toronto, ON: Chiefs of Ontario. <u>https://odprn.ca/wp-content/uploads/2021/11/First-Nations-Opioid-Use-Harms-and-Treatment-Report.pdf</u>

Cicci, K., Mongeon, A., Bennett, J., & Bradshaw, A., (2023). White Paper on the Value of Local Health Promotion in Ontario. Health Promotion Ontario.

https://www.healthpromotioncanada.ca/wp-content/uploads/2023/10/2HPO-Value-of-Local-Health-Promotion-White-Paper.pdf

City of Greater Sudbury. (June 13, 2023). City Council Motion CC2023-117 (August 10, 2023). https://pub-greatersudbury.escribemeetings.com/FileStream.ashx?DocumentId=50453

City of Greater Sudbury Emergency Medical Services. (October 25, 2023). *Community Drug Strategy Opioid Reporting Tool* [unpublished]. City of Greater Sudbury.

Collins, A. B., Bluthenthal, R. N., Boyd, J., & McNeil, R. (2018). Harnessing the language of overdose prevention to advance evidence-based responses to the opioid crisis. *The International Journal on Drug Policy*, *55*, 77–79. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.drugpo.2018.02.013</u>

Coroners Services of British Columbia. (2018). Illicit Drug Overdose Deaths in BC: Findings of Coroners' Investigations. <u>https://www2.gov.bc.ca/assets/gov/birth-adoption-death-marriage-and-divorce/deaths/coroners-service/statistical/illicitdrugoverdosedeathsinbc-findingsofcoronersinvestigations-final.pdf</u>

Council Presentation and Report: City of Greater Sudbury Encampment and Action Plan, October 12, 2021. <u>https://pub-</u>

greatersudbury.escribemeetings.com/filestream.ashx?DocumentId=42286

Crummy, E. A., O'Neal, T. J., Baskin, B. M., Ferguson, S. M. (2020). One Is Not Enough: Understanding and Modeling Polysubstance Use. *Frontiers in Neuroscience*, *14*. <u>https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fnins.2020.00569</u>

Eibl, J., Morin, K., Leinonen, E., & Marsh, D. (2017). The state of opioid agonist therapy in Canada 20 years after federal oversight. *The Canadian Journal of Psychiatry*, *62*(7), 444–450

Environmental Scan: Naloxone Access and Distribution in Canada. (2019). Vancouver: Canadian Research Initiative on Substance Misuse (CRISM). <u>https://open.library.ubc.ca/soa/cIRcle/collections/facultyresearchandpublications/52383/items/1.</u> 0379400

Farnan, P., McPherson, C., Moniruzzaman, A., Rezansoff, S.N., Sobey, P., Somers, J.M. (2023). Construction Safety and Substance Use: Blueprint for Action in BC. Simon Fraser University, Vancouver, BC.

https://www.bccsa.ca/_customelements/uploadedResources/DraftFinalProjectReportMar62023.p df

Ferguson, M., Parmar, A., Papamihali, K., Weng, A., Lock, K., Buxton, J.A. (2022). Investigating opioid preference to inform safe supply services: A cross sectional study. *International Journal on Drug Policy*, *101*, 103574.

Filia, K., Menssink, J., Gao, C.X., Rickwood, D., Hamilton, M., Hetrick, S.E., Parker, A.G., Herrman, H., Hickie, I., Sharmin, S., McGorry, P.D., & Cotton, S.M. (2022). Social inclusion,

intersectionality, and profiles of vulnerable groups of young people seeking mental health support. *Social Psychiatry and Psychiatric Epidemiology*, *57*(2), 245-254. doi: 10.1007/s00127-021-02123-8.

First Nations Health Authority. (2023). What is Land-Based Treatment and Healing?. https://www.fnha.ca/Documents/FNHA-What-is-Land-Based-Treatment-and-Healing.pdf

Fischer, B., & Keates, A. (2012). 'Opioid Drought', Canadian-style? Potential implications of the "natural experiment" of delisting Oxycontin in Canada. *The International Journal of Drug Policy*, *23*(6), 495–497. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.drugpo.2012.07.008</u>

Fischer, B., Russell, C., Murphy, Y., & Kurdyak, P. (2015). Prescription opioids, abuse and public health in Canada: is fentanyl the new centre of the opioid crisis? *Pharmacoepidemiology and Drug Safety*, *24*(12), 1334–1336. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/pds.3901</u>

Foreman-Mackey, A., Pauly, B., Ivsins, A. et al. (2022). Moving towards a continuum of safer supply options for people who use drugs: A qualitative study exploring national perspectives on safer supply among professional stakeholders in Canada. *Substance Abuse Treatment, Prevention, and Policy, 17*, 66. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/s13011-022-00494-y</u>

Franklyn, M.A.E., Lightfoot, J.K., Marsh, N.E., Geography, D.C. (2016). Treatment Modality, and Substance Use: Evaluating Factors That Impact Opioid Agonist Therapy in Northern Ontario, Canada. *Journal of Addiction Medicine and Therapy*.

Friesen, E.L., Kurdyak, P.A., Gomes, T., et al., (2021). The impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on opioid-related harm in Ontario. Science Briefs of the Ontario COVID-19 Science Advisory Table. 2021;2(42). <u>https://doi.org/10.47326/ocsat.2021.02.42.1.0</u>

Gaetz, S., Barr, C., Friesen, A., Harris, B., Hill, C., Kovacs-Burns, K., Pauly, B., Pearce, B., Turner, A., & Marsolais, A. (2012) *Canadian Definition of Homelessness*. Toronto: Canadian Observatory on Homelessness Press.

Gan, W., Slaunwhite, A., Kinner, S., et al. (2019). Demographic factors, incarceration history and risk of overdose-related death (knowledge update). Vancouver, BC: BC Centre for Disease Control.<u>http://www.bccdc.ca/resourcegallery/Documents/Statistics%20and%20Research/Statistics%20and%20Research/Statistics%20and%20Reports/Overdose/20191104_BCCDC%20Knowledge%20Update_Incarceration %20History%20and%20Demographics%20among%20people%20who%20overdose.pdf.</u>

Gan, W.Q., Kinner, S.A., Nicholls, T.L., Xavier, C.G., Urbanoski, K., Greiner, L., Buxton, J.A., Martin, R.E., McLeod, K.E., Samji, H., Nolan, S., Meilleur, L., Desai, R., Sabeti, S., Slaunwhite, A.K. (2021). Risk of overdose-related death for people with a history of incarceration. *Addiction*, *116*(6), 1460-1471. doi: 10.1111/add.15293. Epub 2020 Nov 27. PMID: 33047844.

Gehring, N.D., Speed, K.A., Launier, K., O'Brien, D., Campbell, S., Hyshka, E. (2022). The state of science on including inhalation within supervised consumption services: A scoping review of academic and grey literature. *International Journal of Drug Policy*, *102*,103589
Giliauskas, D., & Gogolishvili, D. (2022). A review of supervised inhalation services in Canada. Toronto, ON: Ontario HIV Treatment Network. <u>https://www.ohtn.on.ca/wp-</u> content/uploads/2022/07/RR171_supervised-inhalation_July212022.pdf

Gomes, T., Iacono, A., Kolla, G., Nunez, E., Leece, P., Wang, T., Campbell, T., Auger, C., Boyce, N., Doolittle, M., Eswaran, A., Kitchen, S., Murray, R., Shearer, D., Singh, S., & Watford, J. on behalf of the Ontario Drug Policy Research Network, Office of the Chief Coroner for Ontario and Ontario Agency for Health Protection and Promotion (Public Health Ontario). (2022). Lives lost to opioid toxicity among Ontarians who worked in construction. Toronto, ON: Ontario Drug Policy Research Network.

Gomes, T., Kolla, G., McCormack, D., Sereda, A., Kitchen, S., & Antoniou, T. (2022a). Clinical outcomes and health care costs among people entering a safer opioid supply program in Ontario. *Canadian Medical Association Journal, 194*(36), E1233-E1242. doi: 10.1503/cmaj.220892. PMID: 36122919; PMCID: PMC9484622.

Gomes, T., Leece, P., Iacono, A., Yang, J., Kolla, G., Cheng, C., Ledlie, S., Bouck, Z., Boyd, R., Bozinoff, N., Campbell, T., Doucette, T., Franklyn, M., Newcombe, P., Pinkerton, S., Schneider, E., Shearer, D., Singh, S., Smoke, A., & Wu, F. on behalf of the Ontario Drug Policy Research Network and Ontario Agency for Health Protection and Promotion (Public Health Ontario). (2023). Characteristics of substance-related toxicity deaths in Ontario: Stimulant, opioid, benzodiazepine, and alcohol-related deaths. Toronto, ON: Ontario Drug Policy Research Network.

Gomes, T., Murray, R., Kolla, G., Leece, P., Bansal, S., Besharah, J., Cahill, T., Campbell, T., Fritz, A., Munro, C., Toner, L., & Watford, J. on behalf of the Ontario Drug Policy Research Network, Office of the Chief Coroner for Ontario and Ontario Agency for Health Protection and Promotion (Public Health Ontario). (2021). Changing circumstances surrounding opioid-related deaths in Ontario during the COVID-19 pandemic. Toronto, ON: Ontario Drug Policy Research Network.

Gomes, T., Murray, R., Kolla, G., Leece, P., Kitchen, S., Campbell, T., Besharah, J., Cahill, T., Garg, R., Iacono, A., Munro, C., Nunez, E., Robertson, L., Shearer, D., Singh, S., Toner, L., & Watford, J. on behalf of the Ontario Drug Policy Research Network, Office of the Chief Coroner for Ontario and Ontario Agency for Health Protection and Promotion (Public Health Ontario). (2022). Patterns of medication and healthcare use among people who died of an opioid-related toxicity during the COVID-19 pandemic in Ontario. Toronto, ON: Ontario Drug Policy Research Network.

Gomes, T., McCormack, D., Bozinoff, N., Tadrous, M., Antoniou, T., Munro, C., Campbell, T., Paterson, M., Mamdani, M., & Sproule, B. (2022b). Duration of use and outcomes among people with opioid use disorder initiating methadone and buprenorphine in Ontario: A population-based propensity-score matched cohort study. *Addiction*.

Government of Ontario. (October 31, 2023). *Healthy Babies Health Children Program*. Ministry of Children, Community and Social Services. <u>https://www.ontario.ca/page/healthy-babies-healthy-children-program</u>

Greater Sudbury Police Services (June 21, 2023). Greater Sudbury Police Services Board Motion (August 10, 2023). https://www.gsps.ca/en/about-gsps/resources/GSPSB-Agenda-Public-June-21-2023.pdf

Greer, A., Bonn, M., Shane, C., Stevens, A., Tousenard, N., & Ritter A. (2022). The details of decriminalization: Designing a non-criminal response to the possession of drugs for personal use. *International Journal of Drug Policy*, *102*, 103605. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.drugpo.2022.103605

Greer, A.M., Luchenski, S.A., Amlani, A.A. (2016). Peer engagement in harm reduction strategies and services: a critical case study and evaluation framework from British Columbia, Canada. *BMC Public Health 16, 452*. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12889-016-3136-4

Groot, E., Kouyoumdjian, F.G., Kiefer, L., Madadi, P., Gross, J., Prevost, B., et al. (2016). Drug toxicity deaths after release from incarceration in Ontario, 2006-2013: review of coroner's cases. *PLoS One*, *11*(7), e0157512. <u>https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0157512</u>

Grund J., Blanken P., Adriaans N., Kaplan C., Barendregt C., Mart M. (1992). Reaching the Unreached: Targeting Hidden IDU Populations with Clean Needles via Known User Groups. *Journal of Psychoactive Drugs*, 24:1, 41-47, DOI:

Haines, Tefoglou, & O'Byrne. (2022). Safer Supply Ottawa evaluation: Fall 2022 report. https://safersupplyottawa.com/research/

Health Canada. (2020, September 30). Government of Canada. *Exemptions for practitioners and pharmacists prescribing and providing controlled substances, and for patients, during the coronavirus pandemic*. Aem. <u>https://www.canada.ca/en/health-canada/services/health-concerns/controlled-substances-precursor-chemicals/policy-regulations/policy-documents/section-56-1-class-exemption-patients-pharmacists-practitioners-controlled-substances-covid-19-pandemic.html</u>

Health Canada. (March 2, 2021a). Government of Canada supports expansion of innovative safer supply project to operate in four cities across Canada. <u>Government of Canada supports expansion</u> of innovative safer supply project to operate in four cities across Canada - Canada.ca

Health Canada. (November 23, 2021b). Government of Canada. About the Good Samaritan Drug Overdose Act. <u>https://www.canada.ca/en/health-canada/services/substance-use/problematic-prescription-drug-use/opioids/about-good-samaritan-drug-overdose-act.html</u>.

Health Canada. (March 25, 2023a). Government of Canada. Prescribed medications as a safer alternative to toxic illegal drugs - Canada.ca. <u>https://www.canada.ca/en/health-</u>canada/services/opioids/responding-canada-opioid-crisis/safer-supply.html#a1

Health Canada. (July 28, 2023b). Government of Canada. Naloxone. https://www.canada.ca/en/health-canada/services/opioids/naloxone.html

Health Canada. (September 05, 2023c). Government of Canada. Get help with substance use – Canada.ca. Get help with substance use - Canada.ca

Health Canada. (February 08, 2023d). Government of Canada. Supervised consumption explained: types of sites and services – Canada.ca. <u>Supervised consumption explained: types of sites and services - Canada.ca</u>

Health Canada. (October 10, 2023e). Government of Canada. Canadian Drugs and Substances Strategy: Prevention and education. <u>https://www.canada.ca/en/health-canada/services/substance-use/canadian-drugs-substances-strategy/prevention-education.html</u>

Health Canada. (September 20, 2023f). Government of Canada. Men in trades and substance use. https://www.canada.ca/en/services/health/campaigns/men-construction-trades-overdose-crisis-canada/men-trades-substance-use.html

Health Canada. (2018). Application form: Section 56.1 Exemption for Medical Purposes under the *Controlled Drugs and Substances Act* for activities at a supervised consumption site. <u>https://www.canada.ca/content/damn/hc-sc/documents/services/substance-abuse/supervised-consumption-sites/apply/how-to-apply.pdf</u>.

Health Promotion Ontario. (September 22, 2023). White Paper on the Value of Local Health Promotion in Ontario.

https://cdn.ymaws.com/www.alphaweb.org/resource/collection/822EC60D-0D03-413E-B590-AFE1AA8620A9/HPO-Value-of-Local-Health-Promotion-White-Paper.pdf

Health Quality Ontario. (2018). Northern Ontario health equity strategy: a plan for achieving health equity in the North, by the North, for the North. Toronto, ON: Health Quality Ontario.

Henry, B. (2019). Special Report: Stopping the Harm Decriminalization of People who Use Drugs in BC. Office of the Provincial Health Officer. <u>Stopping the Harm: Decriminalization of People who use Drugs in BC | SURE (substanceuse.ca)</u>

Howard, K.S., & Brooks-Gunn, J. (2009). Relationship supportiveness during the transition to parenting among married and unmarried parents. *Parenting: Science and Practice*, *9*(1-2), 123–142. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/15295190802656828</u>

Iacono, A., Kolla, G., Yang, J., Leece, P., Moumita, T., Wu, F., Cheng, C., Campbell, T.,
Antoniou, T., Juurlink, D., Sheikh, H., Emblem, J., Kurdyak, P., Bertrand, J., Shearer, D., Singh,
S., Gomes, T., on behalf of the Ontario Drug Policy Research Network, Office of the Chief
Coroner for Ontario and Ontario Agency for Health Protection and Promotion (Public Health
Ontario). (2023). Opioid toxicity and access to treatment among adolescents and young adults in
Ontario. Toronto, ON: Ontario Drug Policy Research Network.

Jalali, M. S., Botticelli, M., Hwang, R. C., Koh, H. K., & McHugh, R. K. (2020). The opioid crisis: A contextual, social-ecological framework. Health Research Policy and Systems, 18(1). https://doi.org/10.1186/s12961-020-00596-8

Kauppi, C., Pallard, H., Faries, E., Montgomery, P., Hankard, M. (2018). Homelessness in the City of Greater Sudbury: 2018 Enumeration. June 2018. Report prepared for the City of Greater Sudbury. Centre for Research in Social Justice and Policy, Laurentian University, Sudbury, Ontario.

Karamouzian, M., Rafat, B., Kolla, G., Urbanoski, K., Atkinson, K., Bardwell, G., Bonn, M., Touesnard, N., Henderson, N., Bowles, J., Boyd, J., Brunelle, C., Eeuwes, J., Fikowski, J., Gomes, T., Guta, A., Hyshka, E., Ivsins, A., Kennedy, M.C., Laurence, G., Martignetti, L., Nafeh F., Salters, K., Tu, D., Strike, C., Pauly, B., Werb, D. (2023). Challenges of implementing safer supply programs in Canada during the COVID-19 pandemic: A qualitative analysis. *International Journal of Drug Policy*. Oct;120:104157. doi: 10.1016/j.drugpo.2023.104157. Epub 2023 Aug 11. PMID: 37574645.

Karamouzian, M., Buxton, J. A., Hategeka, C., Nosova, E., Hayashi, K., Milloy, M.-J., & Kerr, T. (2022). Shifts in substance use patterns among a cohort of people who use opioids after delisting of OxyContin in BC, Canada: An interrupted time series study. *International Journal of Drug Policy*, *109*, 103852.

Khorasheh, T., AbuAyyash, C.B., Mallakin, M. et al. (2022). Supporting community overdose response planning in Ontario, Canada: Findings from a situational assessment. *BMC Public Health, 22*, 1390. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12889-022-13762-0

Kinner, S.A., Gan, W., Slaunwhite, A. (2021). Fatal overdoses after release from prison in British Columbia: a retrospective data linkage study. *Canadian Medical Association Journal*, 9(3), E907-E914. doi: 10.9778/cmajo.20200243. PMID: 34584005; PMCID: PMC8486467.

Kolla, G., Touesnard, N., Gomes, T. (2022). Addressing the overdose crisis in North America with boldaction. *Addiction*, *117*,1194–1196. https://doi.org/10.1111/add.158441196

Konefal, S., Sherk, A., Maloney-Hall, B., Young, M., Kent, P., & Biggar, E. (2022). Polysubstance use poisoning deaths in Canada: an analysis of trends from 2014 to 2017 using mortality data. *BMC Public Health*, *22*(1), 269.

Lavalley, J., Kastor, S., Tourangeau, M. et al. (2020). You just have to have other models, our DNA is different: the experiences of indigenous people who use illicit drugs and/or alcohol accessing substance use treatment. *Harm Reduction Journal*, *17*, 19. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12954-020-00366-3

Lavalley, J., Kastor, S., Valleriani, J., & McNeil, R. (2018). Reconciliation and Canada's overdose crisis: Responding to the needs of Indigenous Peoples. *Canadian Medical Association Journal*, *190*(50). <u>https://doi.org/10.1503/cmaj.181093</u>

Leary, T., Aubin, N., Marsh, D.C. (2023). Building an inpatient addiction medicine consult service in Sudbury, Canada: preliminary data and lessons learned in the era of COVID-19. *Substance Abuse Treat Prevention Policy 18, 29.* https://doi.org/10.1186/s13011-023-00537-y

Leece, P., Khorasheh, T., Paul, N., et al. (2019). 'Communities are attempting to tackle the crisis': a scoping review on community plans to prevent and reduce opioid-related harms. *BMJ Open, 9*, e028583. doi: 10.1136/bmjopen-2018-028583

Livingston, J. D. (2020). Structural stigma in health-care contexts for people with mental health and substance use issues: A literature review. Ottawa: Mental Health Commission of Canada.

Maar, M., Ominika, T., & Manitowabi, D. (2022). Community-led recovery from the opioid crisis through culturally-based programs and community-based data governance. *The International Indigenous Policy Journal*, *13*(2). <u>https://doi.org/10.18584/iipj.2022.13.2.13792</u>

MacKay, R. (2018, Winter). The Beginning of Drug Prohibition in Canada: What's Past Is Prologue. *Queen's Quarterly*, *125*, 530-539.

https://login.librweb.laurentian.ca/login?url=https://www-proquestcom.librweb.laurentian.ca/magazines/beginning-drug-prohibition-canada-whats-pastis/docview/2154032662/se-2

Macleod, E.R., Tajbakhsh, I., Hamilton-Wright, S. et al. (2021). "They're not doing enough.": women's experiences with opioids and naloxone in Toronto. *Substance Abuse Treatment, Prevention and Policy, 16*, 26. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/s13011-021-00360-3</u>

Maghsoudi, N., Tanguay, J., Scarfone, K., Rammohan, I., Ziegler, C., Werb, D., Scheim, A.I. (2022). Drug checking services for people who use drugs: a systematic review. *Addiction*, *117*(3), 532-544. doi: 10.1111/add.15734. Epub 2021 Dec 12. PMID: 34729849; PMCID:

Magwood, O., Salvalaggio, G., Beder, M., Kendall, C., Kpade, V., Daghmach, W., et al. (2020). The effectiveness of substance use interventions for homeless and vulnerably housed persons: a systematic review of systematic reviews on supervised consumption facilities, managed alcohol programs, and pharmacological agents for opioid use disorder. *PLoS ONE*, *15*(1): e0227298. https://dx.doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0227298

Marsh, T.N., Eshakakogan, C., Eibl, J.K., Spence, M., Morin, K.A., Goertzen, A., Gauthier, G.J., Gauthier-Frolick, D., Tahsin, F., Sayers, C.D., Ozawanimke, C.A., Bissaillion, C.B., Nootchtai, C.C., & Marsh, D.C. (2022). Implementation and evaluation of a two-eyed seeing approach using traditional healing and seeking safety in an indigenous residential treatment program in Northern Ontario. *International Journal of Circumpolar Health*, *81*(1), 2125172. doi: 10.1080/22423982.2022.2125172. PMID: 36149060; PMCID: PMC9518291.

Marsh, T.N., Marsh, D.C., Ozawagosh, J., & Ozawagosh, F. (2018). The sweat lodge ceremony: a healing intervention for intergenerational trauma and substance use. *International Indigenous Policy Journal*, *9*(2).

Mashford-Pringle, A. & Shawanda, A. (2023). Using the Medicine Wheel as theory, conceptual framework, analysis, and evaluation tool in health research. *Elsevier. SSM. Qualitative Research in Health, 3*, 100251. 10.1016/j.ssmqr.2023.100251

McNeil, R., Fleming, T., Collins, A.B., Czechaczek, S., Mayer, S., Boyd, J. (2021). Navigating post-eviction drug use amidst a changing drug supply: a spatially-oriented qualitative study of overlapping housing and overdose crises in Vancouver, Canada. *Drug and Alcohol Dependence*, *222*, 108666. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.drugalcdep.2021.108666

McNeil R., Small W., Lampkin H., Shannon K., Kerr T. (2014). People knew they could come here to get help: an ethnographic study of assisted injection practices at a peer-run 'unsanctioned' supervised drug consumption room in a Canadian setting. AIDS Behavioral. Mar; 18(3):473-85. doi: 10.1007/s10461-013-0540-y. PMID: 23797831; PMCID: PMC3815969.

Mental Health Commission of Canada. (2021). The impact of COVID-19 on rural and remote mental health and substance use. Ottawa, Canada.

Milaney, K., Passi, J., Zaretsky, L., Liu, T., O'Gorman, C.M., Hill, L., & Dutton, D. (2021). Drug use, homelessness and health: responding to the opioid overdose crisis with housing and harm reduction services. *Harm Reduction Journal, 18*(1), 92. doi: 10.1186/s12954-021-00539-8. PMID: 34446034; PMCID: PMC8394031.

Minnesota Department of Health. (2023). *Social Determinants of Substance Use & Overdose Prevention*. For a Healthy Minnesota.

https://www.health.state.mn.us/communities/opioids/prevention/socialdeterminants.html

Ministry of Mental Health and Addictions. (2021). Access to prescribed safer supply in British Columbia: Policy direction. <u>https://www2.gov.bc.ca/assets/gov/overdose-awareness/prescribed_safer_supply_in_bc.pdf</u>

Montigny, E.A. (Ed.). (2011). The Real Dope: Social, Legal, and Historical Perspectives on the Regulation of Drugs in Canada. University of Toronto Press. https://doi.org/10.3138/9781442661851

Moore, K. M., & Huyer, D. (2023, Feb. 28). [Letter about increase in xylazine and benzodiazepine in the unregulated drug supply.] Toronto, ON: Office of Chief Medical Officer of Health and Office of Chief Coroner. <u>https://www.ottawapublichealth.ca/en/resources/CMOH-and-Chief-Coroner-Memo-Drug-Supply_February-28-2023-002.pdf</u>

Morin, K.A., Eibl, J.K., Gauthier, G. et al. (2020). A cohort study evaluating the association between concurrent mental disorders, mortality, morbidity, and continuous treatment retention for patients in opioid agonist treatment (OAT) across Ontario, Canada, using administrative health data. *Harm Reduction Journal, 17*, 51. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/s12954-020-00396-x</u>

Morin K.A., Acharya S., Eibl JK., Marsh DC. (2021). Evidence of increased Fentanyl use during the COVID-19 pandemic among opioid agonist treatment patients in Ontario, Canada.

International Journal Drug Policy. 2021 Apr; 90:103088. doi: 10.1016/j.drugpo. 2020.103088. Epub 2020 Dec 23. PMID: 33385974; PMCID: PMC7834895.

Moustaqim-Barrette, A., Dhillon, D., Ng, J., Sundvick, K., Ali, F., Elton-Marshall, T., Leece, P., Rittenbach, K., Ferguson, M., & Buxton, J.A. (2021). Take-home naloxone programs for suspected opioid overdose in community settings: a scoping umbrella review. *BMC Public Health*, *21*(1), 597. doi: 10.1186/s12889-021-10497-2. PMID: 33771150; PMCID: PMC8004425.

Murphy, Y., Ali, F., Fischer, B. (2018). Health and service access challenges for correctional offenders with mental health and substance use problems in transition from incarceration to community: A literature review. (Research Report R-398). Ottawa, Ontario: Correctional Service of Canada.

Nairn, S.A., Audet, M., Stewart, S.H., Hawke, L.D., Isaacs, J.Y., Henderson, J., Saah, R., Knight, R., Fast, D., Khan, F., Lam, A., & Conrod P. (2022). Interventions to Reduce Opioid Use in Youth At-Risk and in Treatment for Substance Use Disorders: A Scoping Review. *Canadian Journal of Psychiatry*,67(12), 881-898. doi: 10.1177/07067437221089810. Epub 2022 May 9. PMID: 35535396; PMCID: PMC9659799.

National Scientific Council on the Developing Child. (2020). Connecting the Brain to the Rest of the Body: Early Childhood Development and Lifelong Health Are Deeply Intertwined Working *Paper No. 15*. Retrieved from <u>www.developingchild.harvard.edu</u>.

Nolin, P., & Kenny, C. (2002). Cannabis: our position for a Canadian public policy. Report of the Senate Special Committee on Illegal Drugs. Ottawa, ON: Senate Special Committee on Illegal Drugs. <u>https://sencanada.ca/content/sen/committee/371/ille/rep/repfinalvol2-</u>e.htm#Chapter%2012.

Northern Policy Institute. (2022). More than Just a number: Addressing the Homelessness, Addiction and Mental Health Crisis in the North. <u>https://www.northernpolicy.ca/more-than-just-a-number</u>

Nurture Development. (2018). Asset Based Community Development (ABCD). Nurture Development. <u>https://www.nurturedevelopment.org/asset-based-community-development/</u>

O'Connor, A.M., Cousins, G., Durand, L., Barry, J., & Boland F. (2020). Retention of patients in opioid substitution treatment: a systematic review. *PLOS ONE*, *15*, e0232086.

Office of the Chief Coroner of Ontario. (October 13, 2023). *Monthly Update, Suspected drug-related & opioid-related deaths by PHU* [unpublished].

Ontario Agency for Health Protection and Promotion (Public Health Ontario). (October 20, 2023a). *Interactive Opioid Tool*. <u>https://www.publichealthontario.ca/en/data-and-analysis/substance-use/interactive-opioid-tool</u>

Ontario Agency for Health Protection and Promotion (Public Health Ontario). (August 25, 2023b). Quarterly Public Health Unit Opioid-related Death Reports [unpublished].

Ontario Agency for Health Protection and Promotion (Public Health Ontario). (2020). Rapid review: substance use-related harms and risk factors during periods of disruption. Toronto, ON: Queen's Printer for Ontario.

Ontario Agency for Health Protection and Promotion (Public Health Ontario). (2022). Scan of evidence and jurisdictional approaches to safer supply. Toronto, ON: King's Printer for Ontario. <u>https://www.publichealthontario.ca/-/media/Documents/S/2022/safer-supply-environmental-scan.pdf?rev=7c5662c193514367bd43ca2057a224df&sc_lang=en</u>

Ontario Agency for Health Protection and Promotion (Public Health Ontario), & Leece, P., Tenenbaum, M. (2017). Evidence brief: effectiveness of supervised injectable opioid agonist treatment (siOAT) for opioid use disorder. Toronto, ON: Queen's Printer for Ontario. <u>https://www.publichealthontario.ca/-/media/documents/E/2017/eb-effectiveness-sioat.pdf</u>

Ontario Agency for Health Protection and Promotion (Public Health Ontario); Community Opioid/ Overdose Capacity Building (COM-CAP). Harm reduction services for anyone who smokes or inhales drugs. Toronto, ON: King's Printer for Ontario; 2023.

Ontario Agency for Health Protection and Promotion (Public Health Ontario), Leece P. Evidence Brief: Evidence on drug checking services as a harm reduction intervention. Toronto, ON: Queen's Printer for Ontario; 2017. <u>https://www.publichealthontario.ca/-</u> /media/documents/E/2017/eb-drug-checking.pdf

Ontario Agency for Health Protection and Promotion (Public Health Ontario). (2022). Rapid review: harm reduction and treatment models for women and gender-diverse persons who use opioids. Toronto, ON: King's Printer for Ontario.

Ontario Agency for Health Protection and Promotion (Public Health Ontario). (2023a). At a glance: outreach programs for people who use drugs. Toronto, ON: King's Printer for Ontario.

Opioid Management Guidelines for the Construction Trades – Healthier Workforce Center of the Midwest. (2022). <u>https://hwc.public-health.uiowa.edu/opioid-management-guidelines-for-the-construction-trades/</u>

Ontario Ministry of Health. (October 30, 2023). *Ontario Mortality Data 2021, IntelliHEALTH Ontario* [unpublished]. Overdose Action Exchange Meeting Report (2018).

Owusu-Bempah, A., & Luscombe, A. (2021). Race, cannabis and the Canadian war on drugs: An examination of cannabis arrest data by race in five cities. *International Journal of Drug Policy*, *91*, 102937. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.drugpo.2020.102937</u>

Pappin, J., Bavli, I., & Herder, M. (2022). On what basis did Health Canada approve OxyContin in 1996? A retrospective analysis of regulatory data. Clinical Trials, 19(5), 584–590. https://doi.org/10.1177/17407745221108436

Parent, S., Papamihali, K., Graham, B., & Buxton, J.A. (2021). Examining prevalence and correlates of smoking opioids in British Columbia: opioids are more often smoked than injected.

Substance Abuse Treatment, Prevention and Policy, 16(1), 79. doi: 10.1186/s13011-021-00414-6. PMID: 34663374; PMCID: PMC8522853.

Parenting4me. (n.d.). *Helping families build strong and healthy relationships*. Parenting4me. <u>https://parenting4me.com/welcome-2/</u>

Pauly, B., Hasselback, P., & Reist, D. (2017). Public health guide to developing a community overdose response plan [Internet]. British Columbia Centre for Addictions Research of British Columbia.

Pauly, B., Wallace, B., Pagan, F., Phillips, J., Wilson, M., Hobbs, H., & Connolly J. (202).
Impact of overdose prevention sites during a public health emergency in Victoria, Canada. *PLoS One*, *15*(5), e0229208. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0229208. PMID: 32438390; PMCID: PMC7242015.

Pauly, B., Mamdani, Z., Mesley, L., McKenzie, S., Cameron, F., Edwards, D., Howell, A., Knott, M., Scott, T., Seguin, R., Greer, A.M., & Buxton, J.A. (2021). "It's an emotional roller coaster... But sometimes it's fucking awesome": Meaning and motivation of work for peers in overdose response environments in British Columbia. *International Journal on Drug Policy*,88, 103015. doi: 10.1016/j.drugpo.2020.103015. Epub 2020 Nov 9. PMID: 33176249.

Payer, D.E., Young, M.M., Maloney-Hall, B., Mill, C., Leclerc, P., Buxton, J., the Canadian Community Epidemiology Network on Drug Use, & the National Drug Checking Working Group. (2020). Adulterants, contaminants and co-occurring substances in drugs on the illegal market in Canada: An analysis of data from drug seizures, drug checking and urine toxicology. Ottawa, Ont.: Canadian Centre on Substance Use and Addiction.

Pijl, E.M., Alraja, A., Duff, E. et al. (2022). Barriers and facilitators to opioid agonist therapy in rural and remote communities in Canada: an integrative review. *Substance Abuse Treatment*, *Prevention, and Policy, 17*, 62. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/s13011-022-00463-5</u>

Public Health Agency of Canada. (2023, June). Federal, provincial, and territorial Special Advisory Committee on the Epidemic of Opioid Overdoses. Opioid- and Stimulant-related Harms in Canada. Ottawa: Public Health Agency of Canada. <u>https://health-</u> infobase.canada.ca/substance-related-harms/opioids-stimulants/

Public Health Ontario. (2023, November). Interactive Opioid Tool (October 5, 2023). <u>Interactive</u> <u>Opioid Tool | Public Health Ontario</u>

Public Health Sudbury & Districts. (2023). Board of Health for Public Health Sudbury & Districts Motion #39-23 (August 10, 2023a). <u>Public Health Sudbury & Districts - Drug/Opioid</u> Crisis Leadership Summit (Motion #39-23) (phsd.ca)

Réseau ACCESS Network. Harm Reduction Position Statement. <u>https://reseauaccessnetwork.com/wp-content/uploads/2022/09/HR-Position-Statement_Digital-1.pdf</u> Russell, C., Imtiaz, S., Ali, F., Elton-Marshall, T., & Rehm, J. (2020). 'Small communities, large oversight': The impact of recent legislative changes concerning supervised consumption services on small communities in Ontario, Canada. *International Journal of Drug Policy*, *82*, 102822. doi: 10.1016/j.drugpo.2020.102822

Russell, C., Law, J., Bonn, M., Rehm, J., & Ali, F. (2023). The increase in benzodiazepine-laced drugs and related risks in Canada: The urgent need for effective and sustainable solutions. *International Journal on Drug Policy*, *111*, 103933. doi: 10.1016/j.drugpo.2022.103933. Epub 2022 Dec 16. PMID: 36529033.

Russell, C., Neufeld, M., Sabioni, P., Varatharajan, T., Ali, F., Miles, S., Henderson, J., Fischer, B., & Rehm J. (2019). Assessing service and treatment needs and barriers of youth who use illicit and non-medical prescription drugs in Northern Ontario, Canada. *PLoS One, 14*(12), e0225548. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0225548. PMID: 31805082; PMCID: PMC6894813.

Sansone, G., Fallon, B., Vandermorris, A., Swardh, K., & Blackstock, C. (2022). Effectiveness of Interventions for the Prevention and Treatment of Substance Use Disorders among First Nations, Métis and Inuit Populations. Toronto, Ontario: Policy Bench, Fraser Mustard Institute of Human Development, University of Toronto.

Sapoznikow, A. J. (2022). "There's no one-size-fits-all solution for opioid use:" a situational analysis exploring opioid use and the Opioid Crisis (Master's thesis, University of Calgary, Calgary, Canada). Retrieved from https://prism.ucalgary.ca. http://hdl.handle.net/1880/115265

Scher, B. D., Neufeld, S. D., Butler, A., Bonn, M., Zakimi, N., Farrell, J., & Greer, A. (2023). "Criminalization Causes the Stigma": Perspectives From People Who Use Drugs. Contemporary Drug Problems, 50(3), 402-425. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/00914509231179226</u>

Selfridge M., Greer A., Card K. G., Macdonald S., Pauly B. (2020). It's like super structural" – overdose experiences of youth who use drugs and police in three non-metropolitan cities across British Columbia. International Journal of Drug Policy, 76, 102623. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.drugpo.2019.102623

Speed, K.A., Gehring, N.D., Launier, K., O'Brien, D., Campbell, S., & Hyshka, E. (2020). To what extent do supervised drug consumption services incorporate non-injection routes of administration? A systematic scoping review documenting existing facilities. *Harm Reduction Journal*, *17*(1), 1–17.

Statistics Canada. (2023). (table). Census Profile. 2021 Census of Population. Statistics Canada Catalogue no. 98-316-X2021001. Ottawa. Released November 15, 2023. https://www12.statcan.gc.ca/census-recensement/2021/dp-pd/prof/index.cfm?Lang=E (accessed November 20, 2023).

Statistics Canada. (2022). Table 13-10-0113-01 Health characteristics, two-year period estimates. https://doi.org/10.25318/1310011301-eng

Statistics Canada. Table 3: employment and social assistance characteristics of people who overdosed in British Columbia, Canada, January 1, 2014, through to December 31, 2016 [Internet]. Ottawa, ON: Government of Canada; 2021 [modified 2021 Feb 17]. https://www150.statcan.gc.ca/n1/pub/82-003-x/2021002/article/00003/tbl/tbl03-eng.htm

Taha, S. (2018). Best Practices across the Continuum of Care for Treatment of Opioid Use Disorder. Ottawa, ON: Canadian Centre on Substance Use and Addiction. <u>https://www.ccsa.ca/sites/default/files/2019-04/CCSA-Best-Practices-Treatment-Opioid-Use-Disorder-2018-en.pdf</u>

The Ontario Drug Policy Research Network. (2023). Safer opioid supply: A rapid review of the evidence. Toronto, ON: Ontario Drug Policy Research Network. <u>https://odprn.ca/wp-content/uploads/2023/07/Safer-Opioid-Supply-Rapid-Review.pdf</u>

The Ontario Drug Policy Research Network. (2023). The Ontario Opioid Indicator Tool. Toronto, ON; Updated August 2023. DOI: 10.31027/ODPRN.2022.01. <u>https://odprn.ca/ontario-opioid-indicator-tool/</u>

Thumath, M., Humphreys, D., Barlow, J., Duff, P., Braschel, M., Bingham, B., Pierre, S., & Shannon, K. (2021). Overdose among mothers: The association between child removal and unintentional drug overdose in a longitudinal cohort of marginalised women in Canada. *International Journal on Drug Policy*, *91*, 102977. doi: 10.1016/j.drugpo.2020.102977. Epub 2020 Oct 29. PMID: 33129662; PMCID: PMC8081759.

van Draanen, J., Tsang, C., Mitra, S., Karamouzian, M., & Richardson, L. (2020). Socioeconomic marginalization and opioid-related overdose: A systematic review. *Drug and Alcohol Dependence, 214*, 108127.

Van Zee, A. (2009). The Promotion and Marketing of OxyContin: Commercial Triumph, Public Health Tragedy. *American Journal of Public Health*, *99*(2), 221–227. https://doi.org/10.2105/AJPH.2007.131714

Vancouver Island Construction, A. (2023). "The Tailgate Toolkit." The Tailgate Toolkit. <u>https://thetailgatetoolkit.ca/</u>

Velagapudi, V., & Sethi, R. (2023). Illicit Non-Pharmaceutical Fentanyl and Its Analogs: A Short Review of Literature. *Kansas Journal of Medicine*, *16*, 25-27. doi: 10.17161/kjm.vol16.18555. PMID: 36703950; PMCID: PMC9872502.

Wendt, D. C., Marsan, S., Parker, D., Lizzy, K. E., Roper, J., Mushquash, C., Venner, K. L., Lam, A., Swansburg, J., Worth, N., Sorlagas, N., Quach, T., Manoukian, K., Bernett, P., & Radin, S. M. (2021). Commentary on the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on opioid use disorder treatment among Indigenous communities in the United States and Canada. *Journal of Substance Abuse Treatment*, *121*, 108165.

Wenger, L.D., Doe-Simkins, M., Wheeler, E. et al. (2022). Best practices for community-based overdose education and naloxone distribution programs: results from using the Delphi approach. *Harm Reduction Journal, 19*, 55. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/s12954-022-00639-z</u>

Wood, E., Kerr, T., Spittal, P.M. (2003). An external evaluation of a peer-run "Unsanctioned" syringe exchange program. *J Urban Health 80, 455–464.* <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/jurban/jtg052</u>